
 

 
 

 
 

     SOUL GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 
Sanctuary Recreation Room 

2336 Calaveras Street 
 Fresno, CA 93721 

Tuesday, February 6, 2024 
    8:30 a.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 

  Presenter   Motion Page 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
Dr. Terry Allen   

2. COMMUNITY ACTION PROMISE Susan Lopez  1 

3. ROLL CALL Commissioner Rodgers   

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
December 5, 2023 Meeting Minutes 

Dr. Terry Allen Approve 2 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
(This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons wishing to address the Council on items within 
jurisdiction but not on the agenda. Comments are limited to three minutes). 
 

6. 2024-2025 SAFE SCHOOL PLAN 
 

Courtney Griffin Approval 4 

7. SCHOOL ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT CARD 
(SARC) 
 

Susan Lopez Approval 29 

8. SOUL – MATERIAL REVISION 
                                                                                      

Rena Failla 
Sandy Lomelino 

Approval 56 
 

9. LOCAL CONTROL ACCOUNTABLILITY PLAN 
(LCAP) BUDGET OVERVIEW UPDATE 
 

Susan Lopez Information 192 

10. ARTS & MUSIC GRANT BUDGET UPDATE 
 

Susan Lopez Information 198 

11. SOUL UPDATE: PRINCIPAL REPORT 
 

Susan Lopez Information 200 

12. OTHER BUSINESS                                                    Dr. Terry Allen    
The next Governing Council meeting is scheduled for March 12, 2024.    

13. ADJOURNMENT 



Community Action Promise

Community Action changes people’s lives, embodies the spirit of hope, improves 
communities, and makes America a better place to live. 

We care about the entire community, and we are dedicated to helping people 
help themselves and each other.

1



2 
 

FRESNO EOC SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING 
GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Sanctuary Recreation Room 
Tuesday, December 5, 2023 

                 MINUTES 
 
1.   Meeting called to order by Dr. Terry Allen 8:35 a.m.  
 
2.   Community Action Promise 
      Terry Allen guided the Governing Council in reading the Community Action Promise. 
        
3.   Roll call facilitated by Commissioner Rodgers. 

 
4.   Approval of Minutes  
      October 17, 2023 Governing Council Meeting Minutes.  
     

Public Comments: None heard. 
      
      Motion by: Metzler   Second by: Starks 

Ayes: Allen, Washington, Rodgers, Griffin, Overton, Lomelino, Lopez, Luttrell, Saavedra, Turner 
      Nays: None 
 
5.  Public Comments 

 (This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons wishing to address the Council on items within jurisdiction but not on the 
agenda.  Comments are limited to three minutes). 

 
6.  Proposed New Members 
     Susan Lopez introduced our proposed Governing Council Representatives to Council Members:  1) Student Representatives, 

Halle Overton and Kassandra Saavedra, 2) Parent Representative, Lucy Luttrell and 3) Fresno EOC Training and Employment 
representative, Patrick Turner. A motion was made to approve the proposed representatives. 

 
     Public Comments: None heard. 
      
      Motion by:  Starks Second by: Lopez 

Ayes:  Allen, Washington, Rodgers, Griffin, Overton, Lomelino, Luttrell, Saavedra, Metzler, Turner 
      Nays: None 
 
 
 

Voting Members 

Pr
es

en
t 

Ex
cu

se
d 

Ab
se

nt
 Staff 

Pr
es

en
t 

Ex
cu

se
d 

Ab
se

nt
 Non-Voting  

Member Pr
es

en
t 

Ex
cu

se
d 

Ab
se

nt
 Guests 

 
Terry Allen, Ed.D., Chair, Retired Teacher Representative X   Jack Lazzarini X   Felicia Olais X    

Benita Washington, Vice Chair,  
FSU Social Worker Representative  

X   Cha Vang  X       

Jimi Rodgers, Secretary, Fresno EOC Commissioner X   Michelle Tutunjian 
 

X        

Larry Metzler, Cultural Arts Rotary Interact Club Advisor X   Emilia Reyes  X       

Jeanne Starks, Retired Law Enforcement Juvenile 
Probation  

X            

Julio Romero, EOC Health Services   X          

Steven Taylor, Fresno EOC Commissioner  X           

Patrick Turner, Fresno EOC Training and Employment X            

Parent Rep  Lucy Luttrell   X            

Student Rep’s    (2) Halle Overton, Kassandra Saavedra 
Alternate Student Rep   

X 
X 

           

Susan Lopez, Staff Representative, Principal  X            

Rena Failla, Staff Representative, Guidance Coordinator   X           

Courtney Griffin, Staff Representative, Guidance Dean X             

Sandy Lomelino, Staff Representative,  
Coordinator of Curriculum & Instruction 

X            



3 
 

 
 
7.  SOUL Dashboard 
     Lopez reported on Fresno EOC’s Interactive Dashboard developed for SOUL from CAP60 data.  The Dashboard report is a 

detailed visualization of SOUL’s live data and the multi-services provided to our students by Fresno EOC. The Dashboard will 
be available to the public in the near future.  Council members discussed the information presented. 

 
8.  SOUL Update: Principal Report 
      Lopez reported on the Classroom Based and Independent Study demographics as presented on the Principals report. 

 Current enrollment is 211. 
 The Special Ed and English Language (EL) population has grown in the Independent Study program. 
 Teachers are working to provide a speaking and writing component for our EL student’s and improve their literacy skills. 
 Senior Luncheon will be held at Nielsen Center on Monday December 11, 2023 at 11:30 am. 
 SOUL’s Winter Graduation Ceremony will be held Thursday, December 14, 2023.   
 Ed Tech continues to work on SOUL’s Material Revision to be presented to FUSD Board in the spring of 2024. 

 
9.   Other Business 
      Lopez reported that SOUL will present the Material Revision, to the Governing Council Members at a Special Meeting, 

tentatively scheduled for Wednesday, January 17, 2024.  Upon approval by the Council, it will be presented to Fresno EOC’s 
Board of Commissioners at their next scheduled meeting. 

 
      Terry Allen announced that the next Governing Council meeting will be held, Tuesday, February 6, 2024. 
 
 
10.  Adjournment of Meeting 
       Meeting adjourned at 9:21 am 
 
 
 
 
 

    Submitted by Commissioner Jimi Rodgers, SOUL Governing Council Secretary 
 



 

4 
 

 
 

SOUL Governing Council   

  
Date:  February 6, 2024 Program: School of Unlimited Learning  

Agenda Item #:  6 Director:  Susan Lopez, Principal   

Subject: 2024/2025 Safe School Plan  Officer:    Jack Lazzarini, Chief Programs Officer  

  
Recommended Action  
  
Staff recommends approval of the proposed School of Unlimited Learning’s 2024/2025 
Safe School Plan. 

  
Background  

By March 1 of each school year, California schools are required by their chartering 
agency to submit a Safe School Plan for the following school year.  Attached is the 
2024/2025 SOUL Safe School Plan.  SOUL’s Safe School Plan is developed each year 
using the Fresno Unified School District template for all schools within Fresno Unified 
School District. 
  
Fiscal Impact  
None 

 

Conclusion  

The 2024/2025 SOUL Safe School Plan must be approved and submitted to Fresno Unified 
School District prior to March 1, 2024. 

 
 
 
 



 

5 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Preparing Career Ready Graduates 

      
 

Fresno Unified School 
Comprehensive Safe School Plan 

(Education Code Section 32280-32288) 
At School of Unlimited Learning 

CDS Code 
10-62166-1030642 

From:  2024 TO 2025 
 
FUSD Core Belief: A safe learning and working environment is crucial to student learning.  
 
 
Contact Person: Courtney Griffin   
 
Position: Safe School Plan Coordinator 
 
 



 

6 
 

Telephone Number: 559-500-0954    E-Mail address: courtney.griffin@fresnoeoc.org 
 
 

 
Preparing Career Ready Graduates 
 

Fresno Unified School District 
CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee  SSaaffee  SScchhooooll  PPllaann  

  
Board of Education 

Susan Wittrup, Board President 
Valerie Davis, Clerk 

Keisha Thomas 
Elizabeth Jonasson Rosas 

Veva Islas 
Andy Levine 

Claudia Cazares 
 

Superintendent of Schools 
Robert G. Nelson, Ed. D 

 
Executive Officer, Health Services, Safety and Emergency Response 

Amy Idsvoog 
 

Executive Director, Risk Management 
Stacey Sandoval 



 

7 
 

     
District Manager II 

Charlene Cardoza 
 

 
Purpose and Scope 
The Fresno Unified School District (FUSD) Comprehensive Safe School Plan (CSSP) provides guidance and direction to principals, faculty and staff who have 
emergency management responsibilities. The ERP along with the School Comprehensive Safe School Plan shall be used during an emergency incident involving a 
FUSD School facility. 
 
Key Emergency Contact 
After contacting 911, it is imperative during an emergency to contact Vanessa Ramirez, Emergency Response Manager, 559-443-9644, as quickly as possible. 
Vanessa will respond immediately and alert the appropriate members of the District Safety Team.  
 
Safe School Leadership Team (SSLT) 
Each FUSD facility and administrative site will have a Safe School Leadership Team (SSLT) to take charge of the emergency, respond effectively, protect the 
occupants of the facility and reduce the risk of physical injury, property damage and business interruption. The team consist of the Principal and/or designee, office 
manager, school nurse, SRO / Probation Officer (if applicable), certificated and classified employee. Each person has an alternate should they not be on campus. 
 
Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is the system required by Government Code 8607(a) for managing response to multi-agency and multi-
jurisdiction emergencies in California. SEMS consists of five organizational levels, which are activated as necessary: Field Response, Local Government, 
Operational Area, Regional and State. 
 
The school site Safe School Leadership Team (SSLT) carries out the Field Response level of crisis and emergency management, the District School Safety Team 
functions at the Local Government level in this system. By organizing our crisis response plans according to SEMS, both school sites and the District are positioned 
to integrate services when an incident occurs on an area, regional or state level. 
By standardizing key elements of the emergency management system, SEMS is intended to: 
  Facilitate the flow of information within and between levels of the system, 
  Facilitate coordination among all responding agencies. 

Use of SEMS will improve the mobilization, deployment, utilization, tracking, and demobilization of needed mutual aid resources. Use of SEMS will reduce the 
incident of poor coordination and communications, and reduce resource ordering duplication on multi-agency and multi-jurisdiction responses. SEMS is designed to 
be flexible and adaptable to varied disasters that occur in California and to the needs of all emergency responders. 
 



 

8 
 

Essential Management Functions: SEMS has five essential functions adapted from Incident Command System (ICS). The Field Response uses the five primary ICS 
functions: Command, Operations, Planning/Intelligence, Logistics, and Finance/Administration.  The term management is used instead of command at all 
levels except Field Response. The titles of the other functions remain the same at all levels. 
Under the SEMS, tasks are delegated to members of the SSLT to successfully handle critical incidents. The SSLT member is then responsible for the task assigned 
and serves as the manager of the task. This type of delegation allows each manager to focus on just one or two aspects of the incident. These managers then 
provide information to the incident commander (principal) and assist them in making informed decisions. Using this organizational system during a critical incident 
creates clear communication channels that will reduce the amount of confusion and chaos.  
 
Permanently assigning specific areas of responsibility to members of the Safe School Team provides each member with the opportunity to specialize in the 
management of his/her area.  
 
The SEMS can also address the uncertainty of exactly who will be in the building during an emergency. When assigning the management of critical roles in the 
SEMS, always assign an alternate for each role to assure coverage. This may require some individuals to be responsible for more than one task if the primary 
manager were out of the building. While the SEMS identifies roles for the members of the SSLT, all school faculty members should know their specific functions 
during an emergency. Teachers with students in class will have specific functions, as will teachers not in charge of a class when an emergency occurs. It is 
imperative to emergency operations that SEMS roles and responsibilities are assigned and understood by the Safe School Leadership Team members. The Roles & 
Responsibilities outlined above in this document will also assist the Incident Commander if one or more team members/alternates are not available. City emergency 
responders use the SEMS to manage emergency events.  Because of this, a school with assigned roles for administrators and teachers will be able to work more 
efficiently with city agencies.  
 
 

1)     Child Abuse – See Board Policy 5141.4 
 

2)     Disciplinary Steps (Ed. Code 48975©, Ed. Code 35291, Ed. Code 35291.5) – See Board Policy 5131, 5131.4, 5137, 5142, 5144, 5144.1 
 

3)     Teacher Notification of Dangerous Pupils – See Board Policy 4158, 4258, 4358 
 

4)     Discrimination / Sexual Harassment – See Board Policy 4119.11, 4219.11, 4319.11, 5145.7 
 

5)     Dress Code – See Board Policy 5131, 5132, 5136 
 

6)     Hate Crime Reporting – See Board Policy 5131, 5145.9 
 
 
 
 



 

9 
 

 
 
         Directions 

1.  Establish: 
 

 Safe School Leadership Team 
 Safety Walk 
 Threat Assessment Team/Student Wellness Team 
 First Aid Responders 
 Pandemic Influenza Management Plan with reunification team and on campus location established for student/parent reunification. 

 
2. Complete School Safety Walk 

 
3. Stage 1 Site Evacuation maps are developed by Maintenance.  If you need to adjust your evacuation map, please notify Gregory Cortez at 

Gregory.Cortez@fresnounified.org  
  
4.    Stage 2 Off campus evacuation (map of site and plan). 
 
5. Establish: 

 2024-2025 Fire Drill Schedule – Once per month at the elementary and middle school level and three times per year at the high school. 
(before/after school, lunch, instructional time) 

 2024-2025 Lockdown drill – Four times per school year, One per quarter. – (before school, after school, lunch time and instructional time). 
 2024-2025 Earthquake Drill (Duck and Cover once a quarter at the elementary and middle school level and two times at the high school) 
 2024-2025 Reunification Drill – Two times during the school year 
 School Phone Tree 
 Visibility of staff deployment plan 

 
6. Update the templates of the plan to reflect current areas of responsibility at your site. 

 
7. Work closely with the school site council.  Remember the school site council has the responsibility of approving the final plan and must be 

involved in its development.  (SSC meeting for approval must be prior to March 1.)  Please calendar a meeting in January or February to discuss 
and approve plan. 

 
8. Submit electronically your Comprehensive Safe School Plan to Carla.Sewell@fresnounified.org ,Secretary of Safety Office and Armand Chavez, 

Armand.Chavez@fresnounified.org . Completed plans must be submitted no later than March 1 of the school year. 
 

mailto:Gregory.Cortez@fresnounified.org
mailto:Carla.Sewell@fresnounified.org
mailto:Armand.Chavez@fresnounified.org


 

10 
 

 
Safe School Leadership Team 
 
Please note that the Safe School Leadership Team functions have been organized to align with the District Standardized Emergency Management System 
(SEMS) and the National Incident Management System (NIMS).  Depending on staff available, team members may serve multiple roles.  For example, the 
Principal may serve as both incident commander and Operations officers etc. 
 
In the event of an emergency, the Safe School Leadership Team should report to a designated location to oversee and provide directions during the 
emergency.  The principal and/or designee in charge are to facilitate the following: (1) secure the area, (2) check for damage, (3) assess injury situations, 
and (4) report findings to the instructional Superintendent.  Safe School Leadership Team is listed below. 
 

Safe School Leadership Team 
  Name Phone  
Incident Command Principal Susan Lopez 559-500-5076 
 1. Alternate Courtney Griffin 559-500-0954 
 2. Alternate Rena Failla 559-500-0961 
Planning/Intelligence Office Manager Marilyn Wheeler 559-500-0947 
 1. Alternate Nidia Vargas 559-777-7966 
 2. Alternate Meghan Ballard 559-500-5057 
Operations Principal Susan Lopez 559-500-5076 
 1. Alternate Courtney Griffin 559-500-0954 
 2.  Alternate Carlos Custodio 559-500-1352 
Logistics Plant Coordinator Susan Lopez 559-500-5076 
 1. Alternate Marilyn Wheeler 559-500-0947 
 2. Alternate Sandy Lomelino 559-500-0980 
Administration/Finance Financial Officer Leticia Rodriguez 559-263-1058 
 1. Alternate Jay Zapata 559-263-1050 
 2. Alternate Susan Lopez 559-500-5076 
Other Curriculum Coordinator Sandy Lomelino 559-500-0980 
 1. Alternate Luis Baca 559-500-5046 
    

 
 



 

11 
 

SCHOOL SAFETY WALK 
        
After establishing your Safe School Leadership Team, the “Safety Walk” of your site must be done to 
assess safety conditions, emergency access, evacuation routes, PA system etc… This information is vital in 
the development of your Safety Plan. The “Safety Walk” should be done twice a year. Once at the start of 
the school year and once during the second semester.       
        

Exterior of School Building Checked & in 
order 

Needs 
Attention 

J-Order in 
process 

Gates - lockable x   
Fences - stable and no broken areas X   
Appropriate school zone signs in position X   
Free of graffiti X   
External utilities secured and locked X   
Roof hatches secured and locked  X   
Shrubs trimmed    X   
Doors and windows in working order and lockable from inside  X   
Outdoor lighting illuminates all areas of use during night hours X   
Exterior security cameras have clear view, no blocking from landscape, trees, etc. X   
Exterior security cameras in good working order where applicable X   
PA system in good working order and has the ability to be used outdoors ( i.e. field area) X   
Playground equipment safe and fall-protection material placed on the ground below equipment N/A   
Athletic facilities & external building are secured & illuminated at night N/A   
Dumpsters and garbage cans are secured X   
Parking lots are well-lit  X   
No parking zone within 5ft. of the building  X   
Sidewalks free from cracks and tripping hazards X   
Fields are free from potholes N/A   
Bike racks secured and placed in a locked cage N/A   
Gym bleachers are safe and in working condition N/A   
    



 

12 
 

Interior of School Checked & in 
order 

Needs 
Attention 

J-Order in 
process 

Doors and windows are in working order and lockable from inside X   
Exit lights in working order X   
Universal evacuation signage is posted in every room near the door and in hallways X   
The Central Monitoring Station’s number is posted in every room X   
Computer/server rooms secured and appropriately ventilated  X   
Hallways are free from obstructions (furniture, music instruments, large art displays etc.) X   
Visitor pass protocol is in effect X   
Staff wear ID badges X   
Students are issued ID badges (grades 7-12) X   

Classroom Checked & in 
order 

Needs 
Attention 

J-Order in 
process 

Classroom emergency guide is posted X   
Emergency folder is easily accessible X   
Evacuation map is posted X   
Classroom phone has the emergency phone # sticker X   
Doors and windows are lockable from the inside X   
Peepholes are installed X   

Equipment Needs Have enough Need How many? 

Vests  X     
Radios  X     
Crossing guard signs  X     
Cones for parking  X     
Caution signs  X     
Golf carts  N/A     
First aid kits  X     
Other       
 BP 2250 Principal’s Designee 

  
  

 NOTES: N/A 
  

  



 

13 
 

Stage One (On Campus) / Stage Two (Off Campus) Evacuation Plans 
 
Each site must have an evacuation plan that consists of two stages: 
 
Stage One Evacuation: All students and staff are evacuated from buildings and stationed at a safe location on campus. 
 
Stage Two Relocation: At the direction of the District Incident Commander, all students and staff are relocated to a determined location off campus at time of event.  
Coordinate with Transportation Department, Police and Fire Department. (Examples: gas leak, fallen aircraft.) 
 
Stage One Evacuation Plans shall be based on the current “Key Plan” maps obtained from the Department of Maintenance and Operations SharePoint page, under 
Site Key Plans. Stage Two Evacuation Plans shall be created by the Safe School Leadership and can be created on Google Earth.   
Include a map of the Stage One and Stage Two Evacuation Routes. 
 
Evacuation Plan Checklist: 

 Detailed campus diagrams that show: 
o Evacuation routes  
o Designated areas for each teacher and class 
o Areas of supervision 
o Transportation points (for both busses and autos) 
o Student Release area  
o Press area 

 Teams 
o Crisis Response Team 
o Student Release Team  
 

 Emergency cards (Always ready to be taken to student release area) 
  
 Parent/Guardian sign out log or forms 

 
 Impaired mobility list (Location of these students throughout the school day) 
 
 Classroom evacuation materials (laminated guides, “go bags”, binders or boxes that teachers will carry along with their roll books must be in a standard site 

in all classrooms.  Recommended placement to be next to the classroom exit or teachers’ desk). 
 

 Communication Plan (How teachers will communicate to the Safe School Leadership team and visa versa) 
 



 

14 
 

Stage 2 Evacuation (Off Campus) 
 

In the case of a Stage 2 Evacuation, Off-Campus Evacuation, all students/staff will travel to the following site and wait for instructions. 
 
SITE – Dickey Playground 
1515 E. Divisadero St. 
Fresno, Ca. 93721 
Contact Person: Susan Lopez     Phone: 559-500-5076 
 
Secondary Alternate Site 
 
All Staff and Students 9th-12th 
Fresno EOC Early Head Start Child Development Center 
1441 E Divisadero St,  
Fresno, Ca. 93721 
                       
Ed Code 7 Delegate of Powers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fresno Unified School District 



 

15 
 

THREAT ASSESSMENT MANAGEMENT TEAM (TAMT) 
(Student Wellness Team) 

 
 
When a school identifies an individual or group that may pose potential harm to themselves or others, the school will convene their Threat Assessment Management 
Team (TAMT). 
 
The task of the TAMT is to assess the level of threat posed; determine what level of response the school site will initiate; what district resources may be required and 
what response may be needed.  
 
This team should work with outside agencies when making referrals under Welfare and Intuitions Code 5150. 
 
The team will oversee and document the school site’s response to threats, 5150 referrals and plan for monitoring or services that may need to occur after the crisis 
has passed.  
 
When engaged in the FUSD 5150 referral process, this team becomes a Student Wellness Team. The team may expand at that point to include other staff, parents 
or whoever else may be required to monitor the student’s well being when and if returned to school.     
 

STAFF MEMBER TITLE ALTERNATE ALTERNATE 

Susan Lopez Administrator 
 

Principal, Assistant Principal or 
Designee Sandy Lomelino 

Rena Failla Mental Health Professional 
 

School Psychologist or Student 
Assistants, (SAP) Counselor, Counselor 
Trained in Threat Assessment 

Ly Ngin 

Courtney Griffin Law Enforcement 
 Security Staff Michael Potts 

Marilyn Wheeler Principal Secretary 
 

School Social Worker or other staff 
determined by the principal 
 

Nidia Vargas 

 
 
 
 
BP 2250 Principal’s Designee 
Ed Code 7 Delegate of Powers 
 



 

16 
 

FIRST AID RESPONDERS 
Each district site must have designated First Aid responders who are first to provide assistance when needed.  Annually, identify those staff members who have current training in CPR-First Aid-AED.  In an emergency, any staff member may 
provide assistance.  Ensure that there are an adequate number of people trained in first aid in addition to the crisis response team. 
 
The following staff members are designated emergency first aid responders for the 2024-2025 school year at  School of Unlimited Learning Charter High School. 
 

CP
R/

AE
D 

FI
RS

TA
ID

 
    

Ex
pi

ra
tio

n 

NAME TITLE Room/Phone 

X X 08/
25 

Susan Lopez Principal 559) 500-5076:  Principal’s Office  

X X 08/
25 

Rena Failla Guidance Counselor Coordinator (559) 500-0961:  Guidance Counselor Coordinator’s Office  

X X 08/
25 

Courtney Griffin Guidance Dean (559) 500-0954:  Guidance Dean Office  

X X 08/
25 

Marilyn Wheeler Senior Administrative Assistant (559) 500-0947:  Administrative Assistant Office  

X X 08/
25 

Nicolas Rodriguez Teacher (559) 500-5049:  Room 1 

X X 08/
25 

Ly Ngin College and Career Counselor (559) 549-9011:  Career Center Office  

X X 08/
25 

Michael Potts Case Manager (559)777-5593:   Case Manager Office    

X X 08/
25 

Andrew Williams Teacher (559) 500-0981:  Room 2  

X X 08/
25 

Shannon Sani Teacher (559) 500-5085:  Room 4  

X X 08/
25 

Luis Baca Teacher (559) 500-5046:  Room 3  

X X 08/
25 

Michael Cantu Teacher (559) 500-5047:  Room 1  

X X 08/
25 

Sandy Lomelino Curriculum & Instruction Coordinator (559) 500-0980:  Independent Study Office 

X X 08/
25 

Mong Vang Case Manager (559) 777-5719:  Case Manager Office  2nd floor 

X X 08/
25 

Meghan Ballard Teacher (559) 500-5057 Room 3 

X X 08/
25 

Gladys Banda Teacher (559) 777-5129:  Theater  

X X 08/
25 

Zachary Reinhold Teacher (559) 500-5001:  Room 2  

X X 08/
25 

Patricia Billeadeau Data Resource Specialist  (559) 777-7956:  Data Resource Specialist Office    

X X 08/
25 

Gloria Rodriguez Attendance Secretary/Home School Liaison (559) 570-0576:  Front Reception  

 X X 08/
25 

Carlos Custodio Building Maintenance  (559) 570-0457: On-Site 

 x X 08
25 

Nidia Vargas Student and Parent Outreach Coordinator (559) 777-7943 Student/Parent Outreach Coordinator Office 



 

17 
 

X X 08/
25 

Susan Hernandez Registrar (559) 777-7966:  Registrar Office   

X X 08/
25 

Sean Sayles Teacher  (559) (559) 500-0914:  Room 4 

   SOUL Main Number SOUL Main Office (559) 500-1352 
 
AED (Automated External Defibrillator) Maintenance Checks  
 
Please list the person(s) who will be responsible for the monthly AED maintenance check.   
 

NAME  Marilyn Wheeler TITLE Senior Administrative Assistant 
 
First Aid Responders Coverage (for those responsible for students) 
  In the case the First Aid Responders are activated, the following staff will be responsible to cover classes for those responding. 
 

Name Title Room/Phone 
Michael Potts Case Manager (559) 777-5593  Theater and Rec Room  
Mong Vang Case Manager (559) 777-5719  Rooms 1 and 2   
Ly Ngin College and Career Counselor (559) 549-9011  Rooms 3 and 4 

 
 
 

Emergency First Aid Guidelines for California Schools is the guide for providing first aid. 
 
The guidelines and first aid supplies are located in the health office.  Additional supplies (red 1st aid bags) at the high schools are located in the boy’s gym, girl’s gym, and may also 
be in shop classes.   
 
The guidelines chart contains Universal Precautions for blood borne pathogens. Any time an employee is involved in a possible blood exposure incident, it shall be reported as a 
Worker’s Compensation incident.  
 

CPR PRECAUTIONS 
 
To minimize the risk of infectious disease transmission during emergency mouth-to-mouth resuscitation, mouthpieces, shields, pocket masks, or other ventilation devices shall be 
used.  Such equipment shall be stored with first aid equipment in the health office. 
 
Unless the scope of the crisis/first aid response is prohibitive, the appropriate student and/or the emergency employee accident reports are to be completed as per usual District 
policy.  



 

18 
 

IMMEDIATE CARE RESPONDERS 
 
Identify all persons who are trained in monitoring and providing medical care for students with significant health conditions (severe allergies, severe asthma, diabetes, 
seizures, and specialized healthcare procedures, such as catheterizations, GT feeding etc.). Staff will need to provide for the medical needs of these students if they 
remain at school for a significant amount of time. Nurse to be responsible for training designated personnel every year to monitor and provide medical care for 
students with significant health conditions. 
 
The following staff members are designated Immediate Care Responders for the 2024-2025 school year at the School of Unlimited Learning.. 
 

NAME TITLE ROOM/PHONE 

Meghan Ballard Teacher (Health) (559) 500-5057 

Marilyn Wheeler Senior Administrative Assistant (559) 500-0947 

Sandy Lomelino Curriculum & Instruction Coordinator (559) 500-0980 

 
*a confidential list of all students in the category must be kept in nurse’s office as well as with the school safety coordinator. 
 
 
Each school has an Emergency First Aid Bag (for disaster only) stocked with first aid supplies. High schools have two bags. The “Emergency First Aid Guidelines for 
California Schools” and the Emergency Bags are located in the health office (high schools should store the second bag in the gym or shop areas or in the Safety 
Coordinators office. 
 
Communication 
 
List the modes of communicating with your staff in the case of a crisis. 
 
Primary: In Person 
 
Alternate: By Phone 
 
Alternate: By Email 
 
 



 

19 
 

Fresno Unified School District 
Pandemic Influenza Management Plan 

 
 
The Fresno Unified School District Pandemic Influenza Management Plan consists of several components including the Fresno Unified School 
District Comprehensive Safe School Plan, Appendixes, Emergency Support Functions, Support Annexes, and Incident Annexes.  The Pandemic 
Influenza Management Plan is one of several Incident Annexes and therefore serves to augment the FUSD Comprehensive Safe School Plan and 
other components.  To ensure efficient and effective emergency management, the FUSD Pandemic Influenza Management Plan document must be 
implemented in its entirety.     

PHASES OF A PANDEMIC 
 
The World Health Organization (WHO), the medical arm of the United Nations, has developed a global influenza preparedness plan that includes a 
classification system for guiding planning and response activities for an influenza pandemic.  This classification system is comprised of six phases of 
increasing public health risk associated with the emergence and spread of a new influenza virus subtype that may lead to a pandemic.  The Director 
General of WHO formally declares the current global pandemic phase and adjusts the phase level to correspond with pandemic conditions around the 
world.  For each phase, the global influenza preparedness plan identifies response measures WHO will take and recommends actions that countries 
around the world should implement.   
 

Pandemic Phases 
 

Public Health Goals Fresno Unified School District Goals 

IInntteerrppaannddeemmiicc  PPeerriioodd  
 
Phase 1 – No new influenza virus subtypes detected in 
humans.  An influenza virus subtype that has caused 
human infection may be present in animals.  If present 
in animals, the risk of human infection or disease is 
considered low. 
 
Phase 2 – No new influenza virus subtypes detected in 
humans.  However, a circulating animal influenza virus 
subtype poses substantial risk of human disease. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Strengthen influenza pandemic 
preparedness at all levels.  Closely monitor 
human and animal surveillance data. 
 
 
 
Minimize the risk of transmission to 
humans; detect and report such 
transmission rapidly if it occurs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Ensure that staff members and students are trained in 
preventative measures such as respiratory etiquette and 
universal precautions. 
 
 
Minimize the risk of transmission to humans; ensure that staff 
members understand detection and reporting guidelines and report 
rapidly as required. 



 

20 
 

 
 
 

 

Pandemic Phases 
 

Public Health Goals Fresno Unified School District Goals 

PPaannddeemmiicc  AAlleerrtt  PPeerriioodd  
 
Phase 3 – Human infection(s) are occurring with a new 
subtype, but no human-to-human spread, or at most 
rare instances of spread to a close contact. 
 
Phase 4 – Small cluster(s) of human infection with 
limited human-to-human transmission but spread is 
highly localized suggesting that the virus is not well 
adapted to humans. 
 
 
Phase 5 – Larger cluster(s) of human infection but 
human-to-human spread is localized, suggesting that 
the virus is becoming increasingly better adapted to 
humans, but may not yet be fully transmissible 
(substantial pandemic risk). 
 

 
 
Ensure rapid characterization of the new 
virus subtype and early detection, 
notification, and response to additional 
cases. 
 
Contain the new virus within limited foci 
or delay spread to gain time to implement 
preparedness measures, including vaccine 
development. 
 
 
Maximize efforts to contain or delay 
spread to possibly avert a pandemic, and to 
gain time to implement response measures. 

 
 
Ensure all personnel are knowledgeable about the latest 
epidemiological information.   
 
 
Review and update business continuity plans per Base Plan. 
 
Ensure that best practices for infection detection and control 
measures are followed.                 
 
Ensure adequate resources for staff/student protection. 
 
Ensure that FUSD is implementing best practice for social distancing 
techniques per LHO guidelines, including reducing the school 
activity calendar. 
 
Maximize communications with parents related to health and safety. 
 

PPaannddeemmiicc  PPeerriioodd  
 
Phase 6 – Pandemic is declared.  Increased and 
sustained transmission in the general population. 
 

 
 
Implement response measures including 
social distancing to minimize pandemic 
impacts. 

 
 
Increase surveillance of staff/student health and attendance and 
implement administrative procedures to ensure adequate staffing for 
essential business and school functions.  
 
Follow LHO and FCOEDHS, social distancing, isolation, and 
quarantine measures.  
 
Ensure maximum support and education for ill and affected students.   

 
Public Employees as Emergency Disaster Workers 

 
During an emergency/crisis, the welfare of all district employees is as important as student wellbeing.  However, employees become emergency 
service workers under the Emergencies and Disasters Preparedness Plan (Government Code 3100, AR 4212) which states, ”A public employee 
becomes emergency service workers in the event of a declared emergency.  This means that all school district employees will be required to work in 
this capacity in case a disaster occurs, and a state of emergency is declared”. 



 

21 
 

 
If a state of emergency is declared, our employees must have a plan in place to address their personal and family needs while they are at work 
(during regular or extra duty).  Please remind your staff of their district obligations and for them to develop their person/family needs plan in the 
case they are called upon for after hour duty. 

 
1. Fresno Unified School District assumes the following responsibilities: 
 

a. Develop capabilities to implement non-medical measures to decrease the spread of disease throughout the school community as 
guided by the epidemiology of the pandemic and the Local Health Officer.  

 
b. Develop and implement pandemic preparedness activities and a business continuity plan aimed at maintaining the provision of 

educational services and limiting the spread of disease throughout the duration of a pandemic.  
 

c. Communicate with and educate the school community about approved public health practices and what each person can do to prepare 
or respond to minimize health risks. 

 
d. Develop and implement educational support plans for students who are isolated or quarantined and coordinate these plans with the 

social support plans developed by the Fresno County Department of Public Health and the Fresno County Office of Education 
Director of Health Services.   

 
e. Develop and implement support plans for Health Clinics designated to be used as “immunization clinics” or “flu clinics” to 

triage/evaluate and/or treat influenza patients not requiring hospital care. 
 
2. Each Fresno Unified School assumes the following responsibilities: 

 
a. The Principal/Designee will develop a response plan that will: 

 
 Identify chain of command in case of illness with a minimum of 2 back ups.   

 
 Review and best practices for respiratory hygiene and universal precautions.  Train all school staff, volunteers and students.  

Identify and procure needed resources.   
 

 Review procedures for sending ill individuals’ home and make adjustments if necessary. 
 

 Report the number of staff and students daily absent with pandemic flu to Vanessa Ramirez, 559-443-9644. 
 



 

22 
 

 Designate office staff who will document actions taken. 
 

 Working with Vanessa Ramirez, provide information to all stakeholders on the extent of infection at school site and potential 
changes that might take place at school. 

 
b. Develop a recovery plan that provides for education support and emotional support for staff and students.  If there is loss of life, 

implement procedures located in the Comprehensive Safe School Plan.   
 

 
 

PARENT REUNIFICATION TEAM 
 
Location (must be able to accommodate all parents) School Theater 
 Select an appropriate location (per safety plan or other location that may be more appropriate given size of school).  Consider entry, exit and ability to hold 

a significant number of people (e.g., multiple stations) 
 Ensure that you have all the appropriate documentation such as sign out sheets, emergency cards, reunification form, as well as office supplies such as 

pens available. 
 Post signs on tables to facilitate communications. 
 Set up a photocopier (with power), telephone (or cell phones), a laptop and printer. 
 Set up tables with appropriate signs: 

a) 2 for reunification, Team #1 (matches form to emergency card, checks schedule, calls classroom and or sends escort to the classroom) 
b) 2 for reunification of student to parent, Team #2 (Parents will sign out the release form for their child) 
c) 1 table for health services/nurse at student-parent meeting location 

 Have interpreters speaking Spanish and Hmong (hearing impaired on as-needed basis on site available to assist) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

23 
 

 
Please fill in your re-unification team members in the chart below assigning an emergency task from the letters (a-c) above.  Please ensure the team 
lead is a strong member of your management team. 
STAFF MEMBER ALTERNATE TITLE EMERGENCY TASK 

(list corresponding letter from 
above) 

Patricia Billeadeau Susan Hernandez Support Staff a  
Nidia Vargas Mike Potts  Support Staff b 
Ly Ngin Mong Vang Support Staff c 

SCHOOL SITE PERSONNEL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

In the event of a major disaster, there is no guarantee that emergency medical or fire personnel will be able to immediately respond to school sites.  Therefore, the 
school staff must be prepared to ensure the care and safety of students during the first several hours after a major disaster without outside assistance.  It 
is critical to determine who does what, where, and how—before such a disaster occurs. 
 
Principal/Safe School Leadership Team 
1. Acts as the liaison between the school site and central office and maintains communication with appropriate central office staff and/or local law enforcement 

agencies, fire department, and medical assistance agencies as appropriate. 
 
2. Posts and regularly updates Safe School Leadership Team information and the emergency phone numbers, emergency first aid responders, and chemical 

inventory lists. 
 
3. Ensures Safe School Leadership Team members are knowledgeable of location of shut-off valves and how to turn them off.  Do not attempt to turn utilities 

back on yourself. 
 
4. Ensures that all staff are trained to carry out responsibilities during disaster and drill procedures; encourages teachers to work in teams through a buddy system. 
 
5. Establishes a communications system consisting of the following elements: 
 

a. System of specific disaster warning signals that are well known to staff and students and includes both bell and voice signals. 
b. Alternate system for written communication with staff in the event voice-to-voice communication is not available. 
c. Designate and enforce exclusive use of a telephone line and number to be used only by the Principal (or authorized person) and the Superintendent (or 

designee). 
d. A communication Center in a location accessible to parents, interested community members, and media to handle inquiries, rumor control, and information in 

an orderly fashion.   
 



 

24 
 

The following guidelines should be adhered to: 
 Include a sign-in sheet for all media to complete.  (PC 627.2) 
 Notify the Central Monitoring Station at 73831 (or 457-3831 from an outside line) of the emergency and media response. Notify Vanessa Ramirez, at 

443-9644 who will notify the Instructional Superintendent(s) and the Emergency Planning Manager. 
 Follow the directions of the Instructional Superintendent. Only the Superintendent or designee and Vanessa Ramirez, Emergency Response Manager, or 

designee is authorized to release information.  All other personnel should cordially refer the media to the Communications Office (457-3733). 
 Designate a person to record incidents for documentation purposes including debriefing.  
 

6. Ensure that the emergency phones are in working order and that precautions are taken to keep that number private. 
 
7. Ensures that each classroom or homeroom maintains a current emergency card system for every student (i.e., copies of emergency card or other effective 

system, which summarizes the information on the emergency card). (See Student Release Team page) 
 
8. Establishes a student release system that will facilitate an organized method to release individual students to authorized adults only. 
 
9. Assigns the following duties to school staff: 

a. Patrol entrances to direct emergency personnel, parents, district staff, and media to appropriate areas, and prohibit unauthorized persons from entering 
campus. 

b. Monitor/supervise halls and corridors to maintain a safe and secure environment. 
c. Conduct search-and-rescue operations to systematically search every room to locate trapped/injured persons and to recover critical supplies and equipment. 
d. Establish/coordinate Communication Center. 
e. Administer first aid. 
f. Work with emergency medical triage teams to identify injured students and staff and to record ambulance destinations. 
g. Supervise Student Release Procedures. 
h. Check building utility systems and appliances for damage. 
 

10. Schedules regular emergency drills and reviews the emergency plan with staff, students, and parents and to schedule regular site inspections for safety hazards. 
 
11. Plans alternate classroom evacuation routes if standard routes are obstructed. 
 
12. Ensures that other personnel who provide services to students and staff are aware of emergency procedures. 
 
13. Reviews and updates the site-level plan annually, with particular attention to the unique characteristics of the site. 
 
14. Inform any satellite programs (on or adjacent to your site) of the emergency immediately. (Example: Parenting Center, Pre-school, Special Needs Program). 
 



 

25 
 

 
PC 627.2 Registration by Outsider 
Ed Code 32211 Threatened disruption/interference with students 
BP 1112(a) CF Visits to Schools 

 
 

Per Board Policy 6114.1 The principal shall also hold fire drills at least once a month at the elementary and intermediate level, and not less than three 
times every school year at the secondary level. (At least one drill during the time of: before/after school, lunch, instructional time). 

2024-2025 Fire Drill Schedule 
Month Date Time    
July      
August      
September      
October October 16, 2024 11:00 a.m. (Instructional Time)    
November      
December      
January January 29, 2025 12:30 p.m. (Lunch)    
February       
March        
April April 23,2025 3:15 p.m. After School    
May      
June   June   
 

2024-2025 Lockdown Drill Schedule / 4 Drills for the School Year 
 
Semester Date Time    
Before School September 18, 2024 7:15 a.m.    
Lunch November 27, 2024 12:15 p.m.    
Instructional Time February 26, 2025 11:55 a.m.    
After School April  23 2025 2:30 p.m.    
 

2024-2025 Earthquake Drill Schedule 
Per AR 3516.3 Drop, Cover and Hold procedures shall be practiced at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once each 
semester in secondary schools. (Education Code 32282) 
Date  Time   
October 2024 – Great California Shake Out  October 17, 2024   10:17 a.m..   



 

26 
 

 
2024–2025 Reunification Drill 

 
First Semester Date Time    
 November 6, 2024 12:15 p.m.    
Second Semester Date Time    
 February 5, 2025 2:40 p.m.    
 

As soon as the drill is completed fill out the Drill Reporting Template that has been sent out to the Safety Coordinator for your site. 
 

Imminent Danger / Lockdown Procedure / RUN-HIDE-FIGHT 
 

An extreme emergency exists when one or more of the following situations occur on campus: (1) drive-by shooting/show-by, (2) armed intruder/assailant on campus, 
(3) mass protest, or (4) helicopter searches or SWAT team operations.  

1. Imminent Danger Signal – A verbal Lockdown call will be made over the PA system and over the two-way radios to signal staff to lock down. Remember, 
RUN-HIDE-FIGHT in the event of an Active Assailant. RUN: If a safe path is available. HIDE: If you cannot get out safely. FIGHT: If your life is in danger. 
An announcement over the PA System will be made to indicate when the lockdown is lifted.  

2. The school nurse will be in charge of emergency first aid:  the library or other designated area will be utilized as a gathering place (if other than library, 
indicate gathering place: School Recreation Room   
In the nurse’s absence Marilyn Wheeler will be in charge. 

3. The Office Manager will maintain phone communication with the district office and Central Monitoring Station for internal communications. 
4. Rena Faila will serve as emergency locator to notify parents, guardians, and/or doctors of injured persons. 
5. The Principal or designee will identify a person to serve as public information contact under the direction of the District Communications Office 
6. The Plant Coordinator will be responsible for locking all lavatory doors, cafeteria doors, office doors, and gates as directed. 
7. Teachers who are unassigned should assemble in the staff lunchroom or other designated meeting room for instructions. 
8. When the imminent danger signal is given, teachers should take the following actions: 

• Proceed immediately to homerooms 
• Direct as many students as possible into rooms 
• Supervise the area outside room until students are in rooms 
• Lock doors and follow classroom emergency guide instructions 
• Students in rooms are to be seated on the floor with sign-up sheets provided so that each student accounts for his/her presence in the room 
• Notify the front office of any additional outbreaks 
• Students are to remain in the classroom until the all-clear signal is given 

9. If gunfire is heard, everyone should be instructed to get under desks and away from windows. 
10. School staff should stay until the crisis is declared over 



 

27 
 

 
 

State of California Government Code, 
Chapter 8, Division IV, Title I 

The State of California Government Code States: that all public employees become emergency service workers in the event of a declared emergency.  
This means that all school district employees will be required to work in this capacity in case a disaster occurs, and a state of emergency is declared. 

 
PHONE TREE 

 
Once it is verified that a crisis exists, the building administrator or designee sets the phone tree in motion.  When a crisis occurs during weekends, vacation periods, 
or when a large number of staff is away from the school, it will be necessary to transmit information via a phone tree.  At other times, when crises occur when school 
is in session, only the people outside the school building need to be contacted via telephone. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

           
 

  
 

 
 

 

Susan Lopez 
Principal/Chief Academic 

Officer 
 

Rena Failla 
Guidance Counselor 

Coordinator 

Courtney Griffin 
Guidance Dean 

Sandy Lomelino 
Coordinator of Curriculum 

& Instruction 

Marilyn Wheeler 
Senior Administrative 

Assistant 

Mong Vang 

Mike Potts 

Carlos Custodio 

Gladys Banda 

Luis Baca Mike Cantu 

Nidia Vargas 

Meghan Ballard 

Zachary Reinhold 

Shannon Sani 

Sean Sayles 

Nick Rodriguez 

Andrew Williams Gloria Rodriguez 

Susan Hernandez 

Ly Ngin 

Patricia Billeadeau 

Esperanza Trevino 



 

28 
 

Campus Visibility Deployment of Staff 
 

High School Campus Name Before/After School Location Lunch Location Passing Location 
Principal Susan Lopez Upstairs Near classrooms Rec Room Upstairs Classroom Area 
Guidance Dean Courtney Griffin Outside Entrance of School Recreation Room Upstairs Classroom Area 
Case Manager Michael Potts Recreation Room/Downstairs Recreation Room Downstairs Theater/Rec Room 
Data and Resource Specialist  Patricia Billeadeau Downstairs Theater Area  Outside/Back of School Downstairs Theater/Rec Room 
Guidance Counselor Coordinator Rena Failla  Recreation Room/Downstairs Recreation Room Upstairs Classroom Area 
Case Manager Mong Vang Upstairs Recreation Room Upstairs Classroom Area 
College and Career Counselor Ly Ngin Outside Entrance of School Recreation Room Downstairs Theater/Rec Room 
Senior Administrative Assistant Marilyn Wheeler Upstairs near classrooms Upstairs near classrooms  Upstairs Classroom Area 
     

 
Recommendations and Assurances 

 
The School Site Council (SSC) recommends this Comprehensive School Safety plan to the district governing board for approval, and assures the board of the following: 
 
1. The School Site Council is correctly constituted and was formed in accordance with district governing board policy and state law. 
 
2. Under California Education Code 32281, the School Site Council or its delegates formed a school safety planning committee with the minimum of the following members:  
 

• The principal or the principal’s designee 
• One teacher who is a representative of the recognized certificated employee organization 
• One parent whose child attends the school 
• One classified employee who is a representative of the recognized classified employee organization 
• Other members, if desired 

 
3. The School Site Council reviewed the content of the Comprehensive Safe School Plan and believes all requirements as outlined in the Fresno Unified School District Comprehensive Safe 

School Plan template have been met. 
 
4. This school plan was adopted by the school site council on: ______________________________________________. 
 
 
Attested: 
 

Susan Lopez      ______________________________________  _______________ 
School Principal    Signature          Date 
 
 
Terry Allen, Ed.D    ______________________________________     
 Governing Council Chair    Signature                           Date 

  



 

29 
 

 
SOUL Governing Council   

  
Date:  February 6, 2024 Program: School of Unlimited Learning  

Agenda Item #:  7 Director:  Susan Lopez, Principal   

Subject: 2022/2023 School Accountability 
Report Card  

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini  

  
Recommended Action  
  
Staff recommends approval of the School of Unlimited Learning’s 2021/2022 School 
Accountability Report Card (SARC) 

  
Background  

By March 1 of each school year, California schools are required by the State of 
California Department of Education to submit a SARC for the previous school year. 
Attached is the 2022/2023 SOUL SARC.  SOUL’s School Accountability Report Card is 
developed each year using the CA Department of Education template for all school in 
California. 
  
Fiscal Impact  

None 

Conclusion  

The 2022/2023 SOUL School Accountability Report Card must be approved and submitted to 
the State of California Department of Education prior to March 1, 2024 

 



Page 30 of 26 

30 
 

2022–23 
School Accountability Report Card Template 

(Word Version) 

(To be used to meet the state reporting requirement 
by February 1, 2024) 

Prepared by: 
California Department of Education 

Analysis, Measurement, and Accountability Reporting Division 

Posted to the CDE Website: 
October 2023 

Contact: 
SARC Team 

sarc@cde.ca.gov 

Important! 

Please delete this page 
before using the SARC template 

mailto:sarc@cde.ca.gov
mailto:sarc@cde.ca.gov


Page 31 of 25 

School Accountability Report Card 
Reported Using Data from the  

2022–23 School Year 
California Department of Education 

For:  School of Unlimited Learning 
Address: 2336 Calaveras Street Phone: 559-500-1352  
Principal: Susan Lopez Grade Span: 9-12 

By February 1 of each year, every school in California is required by state law to publish a 
School Accountability Report Card (SARC). The SARC contains information about the 
condition and performance of each California public school. Under the Local Control 
Funding Formula (LCFF) all local educational agencies (LEAs) are required to prepare a 
Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP), which describes how they intend to meet 
annual school-specific goals for all pupils, with specific activities to address state and 
local priorities. Additionally, data reported in an LCAP is to be consistent with data 
reported in the SARC. 

➢ For more information about SARC requirements and access to prior year reports, 
see the California Department of Education (CDE) SARC web page at 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/. 

➢ For more information about the LCFF or the LCAP, see the CDE LCFF web page 
at https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/. 

➢ For additional information about the school, parents/guardians and community 
members should contact the school principal or the district office. 

DataQuest 
DataQuest is an online data tool located on the CDE DataQuest web page at 
https://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/ that contains additional information about this school and 
comparisons of the school to the district and the county. Specifically, DataQuest is a 
dynamic system that provides reports for accountability (e.g., test data, enrollment, high 
school graduates, dropouts, course enrollments, staffing, and data regarding English 
learners). 

California School Dashboard 
The California School Dashboard (Dashboard) https://www.caschooldashboard.org/ 
reflects California’s new accountability and continuous improvement system and provides 
information about how LEAs and schools are meeting the needs of California’s diverse 
student population. The Dashboard contains reports that display the performance of 
LEAs, schools, and student groups on a set of state and local measures to assist in 
identifying strengths, challenges, and areas in need of improvement. 

 

 

31  

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/
https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/
https://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/
https://www.caschooldashboard.org/


Page 32 of 26 

32 
 

Internet Access 
Internet access is available at public libraries and other locations that are publicly 
accessible (e.g., the California State Library). Access to the Internet at libraries and 
public locations is generally provided on a first-come, first-served basis. Other use 
restrictions may include the hours of operation, the length of time that a workstation may 
be used (depending on availability), the types of software programs available on a 
workstation, and the ability to print documents. 

Throughout this document the letters DPL refer to data provided by the LEA,  
and the letters DPC refer to data provided by the CDE. 
  



Page 33 of 26 

33 
 

About This School 

Table 1: District Contact Information (School Year 2023–24) 
Entity Contact Information 

District Name [DPC] 
Phone Number [DPC] 
Superintendent  [DPC] 
Email Address [DPC] 
Website [DPC] 

Table 2: School Contact Information (School Year 2023–24) 
Entity Contact Information 

School Name [DPC] 
Street [DPC] 
City, State, Zip [DPC] 
Phone Number [DPC] 
Principal [DPC] 
Email Address [DPC] 
Website [DPC] 
County-District-School (CDS) 
Code [DPC] 

Table 3: School Description and Mission Statement (School Year 2023–24) 
The School of Unlimited Learning’s (SOUL) mission is to provide an engaging and 
comprehensive education to high school students resulting in successful college and 
career preparation through partnerships and collaborations with other Fresno EOC 
departments and the community. 

Table 4: Student Enrollment by Grade Level (School Year 2022–23) 
Grade Level Number of Students 

Kindergarten [DPC] 
Grade 1 [DPC] 
Grade 2 [DPC] 
Grade 3 [DPC] 
Grade 4 [DPC] 
Grade 5 [DPC] 
Grade 6 [DPC] 
Grade 7 [DPC] 
Grade 8 [DPC] 
Grade 9 [DPC] 
Grade 10  [DPC] 
Grade 11 [DPC] 
Grade 12 [DPC] 
Total Enrollment [DPC] 

 



Page 35 of 26 

35 
 

Table 5: Student Enrollment by Student Group (School Year 2022–23) 
Student Group Percent of 

Total Enrollment 
Female [DPC] 
Male [DPC] 
Non-Binary [DPC] 
American Indian or Alaska Native  [DPC] 
Asian  [DPC] 
Black or African American  [DPC] 
Filipino  [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  [DPC] 
Two or More Races  [DPC] 
White  [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] 
Migrant [DPC] 
Socioeconomically Disadvantaged [DPC] 
Students with Disabilities [DPC] 

A. Conditions of Learning 

State Priority: Basic 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Basic 
(Priority 1): 

• Degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed in the 
subject area and for the pupils they are teaching; 

• Pupils have access to standards-aligned instructional materials; and 

• School facilities are maintained in good repair.  



Page 36 of 26 

36 
 

Table 6: Teacher Preparation and Placement (School Year 2020–21) 
Authorization/ 
Assignment 

School 
Number 

School 
Percent 

District 
Number 

District 
Percent 

State 
Number 

State 
Percent 

Fully (Preliminary or Clear) 
Credentialed for Subject 
and Student Placement 
(properly assigned) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Intern Credential Holders 
Properly Assigned [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Teachers Without 
Credentials and 
Misassignments 
(“ineffective” under ESSA) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Credentialed Teachers 
Assigned Out-of-Field  
(“out-of-field” under ESSA) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Unknown/Incomplete/NA [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Total Teaching Positions [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: The data in this table is based on full-time equivalent (FTE) status. One FTE equals one 
staff member working full-time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each 
work 50 percent of full-time. Additionally, an assignment is defined as a position that an 
educator is assigned based on setting, subject, and grade level. An authorization is defined as 
the services that an educator is authorized to provide to students. 

Table 7: Teacher Preparation and Placement (School Year 2021–22) 
Authorization/ 
Assignment 

School 
Number 

School 
Percent 

District 
Number 

District 
Percent 

State 
Number 

State 
Percent 

Fully (Preliminary or Clear) 
Credentialed for Subject 
and Student Placement 
(properly assigned) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Intern Credential Holders 
Properly Assigned [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Teachers Without 
Credentials and 
Misassignments 
(“ineffective” under ESSA) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Credentialed Teachers 
Assigned Out-of-Field  
(“out-of-field” under ESSA) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Unknown/Incomplete/NA [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Total Teaching Positions [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: The data in this table is based on FTE status. One FTE equals one staff member working 
full-time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full-
time. Additionally, an assignment is defined as a position that an educator is assigned based on 



Page 37 of 26 

37 
 

setting, subject, and grade level. An authorization is defined as the services that an educator is 
authorized to provide to students. 

Table 8: Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments 
(considered “ineffective” under ESSA) 

Authorization/Assignment  2020–21 
Number 

2021–22 
Number 

Permits and Waivers  [DPC] [DPC] 
Misassignments  [DPC] [DPC] 
Vacant Positions [DPC] [DPC] 
Total Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments [DPC] [DPC] 

Table 9: Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field 
(considered “out-of-field” under ESSA) 

Indicator 2020–21 
Number 

2021–22 
Number 

Credentialed Teachers Authorized on a Permit or Waiver [DPC] [DPC] 
Local Assignment Options [DPC] [DPC] 
Total Out-of-Field Teachers [DPC] [DPC] 

Table 10: Class Assignments 
Indicator 2020–21 

Percent 
2021–22 
Percent 

Misassignments for English Learners (a percentage of all 
the classes with English learners taught by teachers that 
are misassigned) 

[DPC] [DPC] 

No credential, permit or authorization to teach (a 
percentage of all the classes taught by teachers with no 
record of an authorization to teach) 

[DPC] [DPC] 

Note: For more information refer to the Updated Teacher Equity Definitions web page at 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/pd/ee/teacherequitydefinitions.asp.  

https://www.cde.ca.gov/pd/ee/teacherequitydefinitions.asp


Page 38 of 26 

38 
 

Table 11: Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional 
Materials (School Year 2023–24) 
Year and month in which the data were collected: [DPL]  

Subject Textbooks and 
Other 

Instructional 
Materials/year of 

Adoption 

From Most 
Recent 

Adoption? 

Percent 
Students 

Lacking Own 
Assigned Copy 

Reading/Language Arts 2/2023 Yes 0 
 

Mathematics 2/2023 Yes 0 
Science 2/2023 Yes 0 
History-Social Science 2/2023 Yes 0 
Foreign Language 2/2023 Yes 0 
Health 2/2023  Yes 0 
Visual and Performing 
Arts 2/2023 Yes 0 

Science Laboratory 
Equipment (grades 9-12) N/A N/A 0 

Note: Cells with N/A values do not require data. 

Table 12: School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements 
The 23-24 school year Safety Inspection shows all items on the exterior of the school building 
were checked and are in order.  The interior of the school also was checked and all items are in 
order. Classrooms have emergency documents posted and easily accessible if needed. 
Equipment needs such as radios, signage, etc are also in good order. 
  



Page 39 of 26 

39 
 

Table 13: School Facility Good Repair Status 

Using the most recently collected FIT data (or equivalent), provide the following: 
• Determination of repair status for systems listed 
• Description of any needed maintenance to ensure good repair 
• The year and month in which the data were collected 
• The rate for each system inspected 
• The overall rating 

Year and month of the most recent FIT report: [DPL]  

System Inspected Rate 
Good 

Rate 
Fair 

Rate 
Poor 

Repair Needed and Action 
Taken or Planned 

Systems: Gas Leaks, 
Mechanical/HVAC, 
Sewer  

X   [DPL] 

Interior: Interior 
Surfaces X   [DPL] 

Cleanliness: Overall 
Cleanliness, Pest/ 
Vermin Infestation 

X   [DPL] 

Electrical: Electrical X   [DPL] 
Restrooms/Fountains: 
Restrooms, Sinks/ 
Fountains 

X   [DPL] 

Safety: Fire Safety, 
Hazardous Materials X   [DPL] 

Structural: Structural 
Damage, Roofs  X  Roof leaks. Repairs are 

planned for March 2024. 
External: 
Playground/School 
Grounds, Windows/ 
Doors/Gates/Fences 

X   [DPL] 

Overall Facility Rate 
Year and month of the most recent FIT report: [DPL]  

Table 14: Overall Rating 
Exemplary Good Fair Poor 

[DPL] 9/2022 [DPL] [DPL] 
  



Page 40 of 26 

40 
 

B. Pupil Outcomes 
State Priority: Pupil Achievement 

The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil 
Achievement (Priority 4): 

• Statewide assessments (i.e., California Assessment of Student Performance and 
Progress [CAASPP] System includes the Smarter Balanced Summative 
Assessments for students in the general education population and the California 
Alternate Assessment [CAA] for English language arts/literacy [ELA] and 
mathematics given in grades three through eight and grade eleven. Only eligible 
students may participate in the administration of the CAA. CAA items are aligned 
with alternate achievement standards, which are linked with the Common Core State 
Standards [CCSS] for students with the most significant cognitive disabilities). 

The CAASPP System encompasses the following assessments and student 
participation requirements: 

1. Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments and CAA for ELA in grades 
three through eight and grade eleven. 

2. Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments and CAA for mathematics in 
grades three through eight and grade eleven. 

3. California Science Test (CAST) and CAA for Science in grades five, eight, 
and once in high school (i.e., grade ten, eleven, or twelve). 

• College and Career Ready: The percentage of students who have successfully 
completed courses that satisfy the requirements for entrance to the University of 
California and the California State University, or career technical education 
sequences or programs of study. 

Table 15: CAASPP Test Results in ELA and Mathematics for All Students 
Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven taking and completing state-
administered assessments 
Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard 

Subject School 
2021–22 

School 
2022–23 

District 
2021–22 

District 
2022–23 

State 
2021–22 

State 
2022–23 

English Language  
Arts/Literacy  
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Mathematics  
(grades 3-8 and 11) [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 
Note: ELA and mathematics test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative 
Assessments and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the 
total number of students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced 
Summative Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., 



Page 41 of 26 

41 
 

achieved Level 3–Alternate) on the CAA divided by the total number of students who 
participated in both assessments. 

Table 16: CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 
for students taking and completing a state-administered assessment 
Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven (School Year 2022–23) 

Student Group Total  
Enrollment 

Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent  
Not  

Tested 

Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 
All Students [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Female [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Male [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
American Indian or 
Alaska Native [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Asian [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Black or African 
American  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Filipino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or 
Pacific Islander [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Two or More Races [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
White [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Military [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Socioeconomically 
Disadvantaged [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students 
Receiving Migrant 
Education 
Services 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students with 
Disabilities  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: ELA test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the 
CAA.  The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of students 
who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment 
plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved Level 3–Alternate) 
on the CAA divided by the total number of students who participated in both 
assessments. 
Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 
Note: The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test 
whether they received a score or not; however, the number of students tested is not the 



Page 42 of 26 

42 
 

number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement 
level percentages are calculated using only students who received scores.  



Page 43 of 26 

43 
 

Table 17: CAASPP Test Results in Mathematics by Student Group 
for students taking and completing a state-administered assessment 
Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven (School Year 2022–23) 

Student Group Total  
Enrollment 

Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent  
Not  

Tested 

Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 
All Students [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Female [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Male [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
American Indian or 
Alaska Native [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Asian [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Black or African 
American  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Filipino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or 
Pacific Islander [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Two or More Races [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
White [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Military [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Socioeconomically 
Disadvantaged [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students 
Receiving Migrant 
Education 
Services 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students with 
Disabilities  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: Mathematics test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment 
and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of 
students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative 
Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved Level 
3–Alternate) on the CAA divided by the total number of students who participated in both 
assessments. 
Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 
Note: The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test 
whether they received a score or not; however, the number of students tested is not the 
number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement 
level percentages are calculated using only students who received scores.  



Page 44 of 26 

44 
 

Table 18: CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students 
Grades Five, Eight, and High School 
Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard 

Subject School 
2021–22 

School 
2022–23 

District 
2021–22 

District 
2022–23 

State 
2021–22 

State 
2022–23 

Science  
(grades 5, 8 and 
high school) 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: Science test results include the CAST and the CAA for Science. The “Percent Met 
or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of students who met or exceeded 
the standard on the CAST plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., 
achieved Level 3–Alternate) on the CAA for Science divided by the total number of 
students who participated in a science assessment. 
Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 
Note: The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test 
whether they received a score or not; however, the number of students tested is not the 
number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The 
achievement level percentages are calculated using only students who received scores.  



Page 45 of 26 

45 
 

Table 19: CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group 
Grades Five, Eight, and High School (School Year 2022–23) 

Student Group Total  
Enrollment 

Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent  
Not  

Tested 

Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 
All Students [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Female [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Male [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
American Indian or 
Alaska Native [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Asian [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Black or African 
American  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Filipino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or 
Pacific Islander [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Two or More Races [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
White [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Military [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Socioeconomically 
Disadvantaged [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students 
Receiving Migrant 
Education 
Services 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students with 
Disabilities  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer.  



Page 46 of 26 

46 
 

Table 20: Career Technical Education (CTE) Programs (School Year 2022–23) 
 [Use this space to provide information about Career Technical Education (CTE) 
programs as follows: 
• A list of programs offered by the school district in which pupils at the school may 

participate and that are aligned to the model curriculum standards adopted pursuant 
to Education Code Section 51226; and 

• A list of program sequences offered by the school district. The list should identify 
courses conducted by a regional occupational center or program, and those 
conducted directly by the school district; and 

• A listing of the primary representative of the district’s CTE advisory committee and the 
industries represented on the committee.] 

Table 21: Career Technical Education (CTE) Participation 
(School Year 2022–23) 

Measure CTE Program 
Participation 

Number of Pupils Participating in CTE [DPC] 
Percent of Pupils that Complete a CTE Program and Earn a 
High School Diploma [DPC] 

Percent of CTE Courses that are Sequenced or Articulated 
Between the School and Institutions of Postsecondary 
Education 

[DPC] 

Table 22: Course Enrollment/Completion of University of California (UC) and/or 
California State University (CSU) Admission Requirements 

UC/CSU Course Measure Percent 
2022–23 Pupils Enrolled in Courses Required for UC/CSU 
Admission [DPC] 

2021–22 Graduates Who Completed All Courses Required 
for UC/CSU Admission [DPC] 

State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes 

The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Other Pupil 
Outcomes (Priority 8): 

• Pupil outcomes in the subject area of physical education  



Page 47 of 26 

47 
 

Table 23: California Physical Fitness Test Results (School Year 2022–23) 
Percentage of Students Participating in each of the five Fitness Components 

Grade  Component 1: 
Aerobic  
Capacity 

Component 2: 
Abdominal 

Strength and 
Endurance 

Component 3: 
Trunk 

Extensor and 
Strength and 

Flexibility 

Component 4: 
Upper Body 
Strength and 
Endurance 

Component 5: 
Flexibility 

5   [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] 
7   [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] 
9   100 100 100 100 100 

Note: The administration of the PFT during 2021–22 and 2022-23 school years, only 
participation results are required for these five fitness areas. 
Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 

C. Engagement 

State Priority: Parental Involvement 

The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Parental 
Involvement (Priority 3): 

• Efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making decisions 
regarding the school district and at each school site. 

Table 24: Opportunities for Parental Involvement (School Year 2023–24) 
The School of Unlimited Learning provides ample opportunities for parents to be 
involved in their child’s education. Each family goes through an extensive appointment 
with a case manager upon enrolling at SOUL.  Case managers and teachers report 
student progress on a weekly basis  Parent meetings are held a minimum of 6 times a 
year. 

State Priority: Pupil Engagement 

The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil 
Engagement (Priority 5): 

• High school dropout rates; 

• High school graduation rates; and 

• Chronic Absenteeism 



Page 48 of 26 

48 
 

Table 25: Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 
Indicator School 

2020–
21 

School 
2021–

22 

School 
2022–

23 

District 
2020–

21 

District 
2021–

22 

District 
2022–

23 

State 
2020–

21 

State 
2021–

22 

State 
2022–

23 
Dropout 
Rate [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Graduation 
Rate [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 

Table 26: Graduation Rate by Student Group (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 
(School Year 2022–23) 

Student Group Number of 
Students in 

Cohort 

Number of 
Cohort 

Graduates 

Cohort 
Graduation 

Rate 
All Students [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Female [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Male [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Non-Binary [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
American Indian or Alaska Native [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Asian [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Black or African American  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Filipino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Two or More Races [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
White [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Socioeconomically Disadvantaged [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Students Receiving Migrant Education 
Services [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students with Disabilities  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
For information on the Four-Year Adjusted Cohort Graduation Rate (ACGR), visit the 
CDE Adjusted Cohort Graduation Rate web page at 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/ad/acgrinfo.asp. 
Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer.  

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/ad/acgrinfo.asp


Page 49 of 26 

49 
 

Table 27: Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group 
(School Year 2022–23) 

Student Group Cumulative 
Enrollment 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Eligible 
Enrollment 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Count 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Rate 

All Students [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Female [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Male [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Non-Binary [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
American Indian or 
Alaska Native [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Asian [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Black or African 
American  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Filipino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or 
Pacific Islander [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Two or More Races [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
White [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Socioeconomically 
Disadvantaged [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students Receiving 
Migrant Education 
Services 

[DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Students with 
Disabilities  [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 

State Priority: School Climate 

The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: School 
Climate (Priority 6): 

• Pupil suspension rates; 

• Pupil expulsion rates; and 

• Other local measures on the sense of safety  



Page 50 of 26 

50 
 

Table 28: Suspensions and Expulsions 
Rate School 

2020–
21 

School 
2021–

22 

School 
2022–

23 

District 
2020–

21 

District 
2021–

22 

District 
2022–

23 

State 
2020–

21 

State 
2021–

22 

State 
2022–

23 
Suspensions [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Expulsions [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 

Table 29: Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group 
(School Year 2022–23) 

Student Group Suspensions 
Rate 

Expulsions 
Rate 

All Students [DPC] [DPC] 
Female [DPC] [DPC] 
Male [DPC] [DPC] 
Non-Binary [DPC] [DPC] 
American Indian or Alaska Native  [DPC] [DPC] 
Asian  [DPC] [DPC] 
Black or African American  [DPC] [DPC] 
Filipino  [DPC] [DPC] 
Hispanic or Latino [DPC] [DPC] 
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  [DPC] [DPC] 
Two or More Races  [DPC] [DPC] 
White  [DPC] [DPC] 
English Learners [DPC] [DPC] 
Foster Youth [DPC] [DPC] 
Homeless [DPC] [DPC] 
Socioeconomically Disadvantaged [DPC] [DPC] 
Students Receiving Migrant Education 
Services [DPC] [DPC] 

Students with Disabilities [DPC] [DPC] 
Note: To protect student privacy, double dashes (--) are used in the table when the cell 
size within a selected student population is ten or fewer. 

Table 30: School Safety Plan (School Year 2023–24) 
The School Safety Plan is developed by the SOUL Leadership team with input from the 
staff.  It follows the Fresno Unified guidelines and is approved by the SOUL Governing 
Council on a yearly basis.  
  



Page 51 of 26 

51 
 

D. Other SARC Information 
The information in this section is required to be in the SARC but is not included in the 
state priorities for LCFF. 

Table 31: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary) 
(School Year 2020–21) 

Grade 
Level 

Average Class  
Size 

Number  
of Classes*  

1-20 

Number  
of Classes*  

21-32 

Number  
of Classes*  

33+ 
K [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
1 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
2 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
3 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
4 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
5 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
6 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Other** [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
*Number of classes indicates how many classes fall into each size category (a range of 
total students per class). 
** “Other” category is for multi-grade level classes. 

Table 32: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary) 
(School Year 2021–22) 

Grade 
Level 

Average Class  
Size 

Number  
of Classes*  

1-20 

Number  
of Classes*  

21-32 

Number  
of Classes*  

33+ 
K [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
1 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
2 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
3 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
4 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
5 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
6 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Other** [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
*Number of classes indicates how many classes fall into each size category (a range of 
total students per class). 
** “Other” category is for multi-grade level classes.  



Page 52 of 26 

52 
 

Table 33: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary) 
(School Year 2022–23) 

Grade 
Level 

Average Class  
Size 

Number of 
Classes*  

1-20 

Number of 
Classes*  

21-32 

Number of 
Classes*  

33+ 
K [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
1 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
2 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
3 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
4 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
5 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
6 [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

Other** [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
*Number of classes indicates how many classes fall into each size category (a range of 
total students per class). 
** “Other” category is for multi-grade level classes. 

Table 34: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary) 
(School Year 2020–21) 

Subject Average 
Class 
Size 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
1-22 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
23-32 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
33+ 

English Language Arts [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Mathematics [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Science [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Social Science [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

*Number of classes indicates how many classrooms fall into each size category (a 
range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this information 
is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 

Table 35: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary) 
(School Year 2021–22) 

Subject 
  

Average 
Class 
Size 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
1-22 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
23-32 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
33+ 

English Language Arts [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Mathematics [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Science [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Social Science [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

*Number of classes indicates how many classrooms fall into each size category (a 
range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this information 
is reported by subject area rather than grade level.  



Page 53 of 26 

53 
 

Table 36: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary) 
(School Year 2022–23) 

Subject Average 
Class 
Size 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
1-22 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
23-32 

Number 
of 

Classes* 
33+ 

English Language Arts [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Mathematics [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Science [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 
Social Science [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] [DPC] 

*Number of classes indicates how many classrooms fall into each size category (a 
range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this information 
is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 

Table 37: Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor (School Year 2022–23) 
Title Ratio 

Pupils to Academic Counselor* [DPC] 

*One full-time equivalent (FTE) equals one staff member working full-time; one FTE 
could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full-time. 

Table 38: Student Support Services Staff (School Year 2022–23) 
Title Number of 

FTE* 
Assigned to 

School 
Counselor (Academic, Social/Behavioral or Career 
Development) [DPC] 

Library Media Teacher (Librarian) [DPC] 
Library Media Services Staff (Paraprofessional) [DPC] 
Psychologist [DPC] 
Social Worker [DPC] 
Nurse [DPC] 
Speech/Language/Hearing Specialist [DPC] 
Resource Specialist (non-teaching) [DPC] 
Other [DPC] 

*One full-time equivalent (FTE) equals one staff member working full-time; one FTE 
could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full-time.  



Page 54 of 26 

54 
 

Table 39: Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries 
(Fiscal Year 2021–22) 

Level Total 
Expenditures 

Per Pupil 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Restricted) 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Unrestricted) 

Average 
Teacher 
Salary 

School Site [DPL] [DPL] [DPL] 70,000 
District N/A N/A [DPL] [DPC] 
Percent Difference – 
School Site and District N/A N/A [DPL] [DPL] 

State N/A N/A [DPC] [DPC] 
Percent Difference – 
School Site and State N/A N/A [DPL] [DPL] 

Note: Cells with N/A values do not require data. 

Table 40: Types of Services Funded (Fiscal Year 2022–23 
• Case Management – Students meet with their assigned case manager once a 

week to discuss outside issues which may be affecting their educational 
progress. 

• Tutoring – A tutor is assigned to students when needed.  The areas of 
concentration are Math and Language Arts. 

• EL Coordinator – The EL Coordinator works with students on a weekly basis to 
focus on language development skills. 

Table 41: Teacher and Administrative Salaries (Fiscal Year 2021–22) 
Category District 

Amount 
State Average 
For Districts 

In Same 
Category 

Beginning Teacher Salary [DPC] [DPC] 
Mid-Range Teacher Salary [DPC] [DPC] 
Highest Teacher Salary [DPC] [DPC] 
Average Principal Salary (Elementary) [DPC] [DPC] 
Average Principal Salary (Middle) [DPC] [DPC] 
Average Principal Salary (High) [DPC] [DPC] 
Superintendent Salary [DPC] [DPC] 
Percent of Budget for Teacher Salaries [DPC] [DPC] 
Percent of Budget for Administrative 
Salaries [DPC] [DPC] 

For detailed information on salaries, see the CDE Certificated Salaries & Benefits web 
page at https://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/.  

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/


Page 55 of 26 

55 
 

Table 42: Advanced Placement (AP) Courses (School Year 2022–23) 
Percent of Students in AP Courses: [DPC]  

Subject Number of 
AP Courses Offered* 

Computer Science [DPC] 
English [DPC] 
Fine and Performing Arts [DPC] 
Foreign Language  [DPC] 
Mathematics [DPC] 
Science [DPC] 
Social Science [DPC] 
Total AP Courses Offered* [DPC] 

*Where there are student course enrollments of at least one student. 

Table 43: Professional Development 
Measure 2021–22 2022–23 2023–24 

Number of school days dedicated to Staff 
Development and Continuous Improvement 4 5 5 

 



56 
 

Executive Summary 

 

By focusing on Independent Study as the school model, SOUL is better able to meet student’s 

individual educational needs by providing a flexible schedule, personalized learning plans and 

one-on-one attention.  In addition, it allows for a greater focus on specific student interests 

and individualized learning styles. Independent study is not an alternative curriculum.  

Independent study pupils are expected to meet the same educational standards and 

outcomes as students in traditional classroom settings.  By law, an independent study 

program must be designed to be equivalent to classroom instruction (CA Dept of Ed).  There 

are many benefits of SOUL’s Independent Study program, but most importantly, students have 

shown academic growth as demonstrated by pre-and post-test results.  There has also been 

an increase in the motivation and confidence of SOUL’s students measured by the 

engagement in their own learning with a higher rate of participation in hybrid classes and 

extracurricular activities.  Students in Independent Study programs gain a greater awareness 

of their own strengths, as well an increase in their ability to manage personal and family 

challenges through the help of Support Staff and community referrals.   Through one-on-one 

relationships, teachers have the ability to differentiate tasks based on student’s individual 

needs.   Independent Study also benefits students at SOUL by fostering an increase in social 

inclusion through its many opportunities for student involvement, assigned tutoring hours and 

an open-door policy for students to be on campus as often as they need.   

 



School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
Material Revision 

 
Pro 

• Academic data shows considerable 
improvement  

• 94% of students currently enrolled 
in Independent Study track 

•  More individual time with support 
staff 

• Opportunities to choose their 
elective classes to their own liking 

• Flexibility in scheduling for special 
populations 

• Flexibility in scheduling allows 
students to be employed 

• One on one instruction provides 
targeted strategies by teachers 

• Reflects community demand 
• Increased parent participation in 

student’s education 
• Creates a sense of teamwork 

between student, teacher, support 
staff, and parents 

• Small group interaction in elective 
classes and Interact Club  

• Students can attend a session with 
teacher more than once a week if 
needed. 

• Less peer pressure and classroom 
disruptions to interfere with 
instruction 

• One subject at a time allows for 
better concentration 

• Fewer discipline issues 
• More opportunity for individual 

counseling 

 

 

 

 

 

Cons 

• Decreased interaction with peers 
• No daily direct instruction  
• No daily contact with school staff 

 



 

 
 

 
 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

  
Recommended Action  
  
Staff recommends Governing Council approval to submit the School of Unlimited 
Learning’s (SOUL) Material Revision petition to Fresno Unified School District. 
       
Background  
  
SOUL was originally chartered in July of 1998. From its inception, SOUL has offered a 
combination of a classroom-based program and an Independent Study program. 
Throughout it’s 24 years, the majority of students have been enrolled in the Independent 
Study program. Currently, 94% of our students are enrolled in the Independent Study 
program due to outside factors that prevent them from attending school on a daily basis. 
In addition, data gathered from parent and student surveys show the over 86% of our 
clients would prefer an Independent Study program over a traditional education model. 
 
Fiscal Impact  

None 

 

Conclusion  

It is SOUL’s mission to provide the best education to our students.  Our Independent 
Study program has proven to be successful in meeting the wants and needs of our 
community.  The program allows for individualized instruction on a one-on-one basis as 
well as flexible scheduling for those who are unable to attend school every day due to a 
variety of extenuating circumstances.  Recent test scores show improved growth rates 
in the areas of Math and Language Arts.  In addition, for those students who desire 
opportunities for more socializing, SOUL offers small classroom elective classes which 
are available to all students.   

 

Date:  February 6, 2024 Program: School of Unlimited Learning  

Agenda Item #:  8 Director:  Susan Lopez    
Subject: Material Revision petition Officer:    Jack Lazzarini  



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

1. Request for Material Revision  

2. Supporting Documents 

3. Budget 

4. Affirmations and Assurances 

5. Revised Charter Petition (Redlined) 

6. Material Revision Governing Board Approval  

7. Signed Certification  



 

 
 

Via: Email 
bob.nelson@fresnounified.org 

 
 

January 31, 2024 
 
 

President Veva Islas 
Board of Education 
Fresno Unified School District 
2309 Tulare Street 
Fresno, CA 93721 

Bob Nelson, Ed.D 
Superintendent  
Fresno Unified School District 
2309 Tulare Street 
Fresno, CA 93721 

 
Re: Request for Material Revision 
  
Dear President Islas, Members of the Board of Education, and Dr. Nelson: 
 

The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission, as operator of the School of Unlimited 
Learning (the “Charter School” or “SOUL”), submits this request for a material revision (the 
“Material Revision”) to the Fresno Unified School District (“FUSD” or the “District”) Board of 
Education to revise SOUL’s charter (the “Charter”).  The purpose of the Material Revision is to 
eliminate SOUL’s classroom-based program component, and as a consequence, to maintain 
SOUL’s existing independent study program as the sole instructional program at the Charter 
School. 
 
 Although a material revision to a charter is required under the law in two limited 
circumstances for charter modifications not applicable here, (i) adding a new location, or (ii) an 
expansion to additional grade levels (Education Code Section1 47605(a)(5)), SOUL submits this 
Material Revision in response to the District’s indication that this change to SOUL’s program 
should be subject to the material revision process.   
 

Section 47607(b) provides, in relevant part, that “material revisions of charters are 
governed by the standards and criteria described in Section 47605, and shall include, but not be 
limited to, a reasonably comprehensive description of any new requirement of charter schools 
enacted into law after the charter was originally granted or last renewed.”  This Material Revision 
meets these requirements. For the reasons explained below, this Material Revision is appropriate 
because there is limited demand for SOUL’s classroom-based program and increased demand for 
the independent study program SOUL has operated for nearly a quarter of a century. Focusing on 
SOUL’s in-demand independent study program alone going forward is in the best interests of its 
students and for the Charter School as an organization.  SOUL has also updated its Charter to 
include reasonably comprehensive descriptions of new requirement of charter schools enacted into 
law after SOUL’s charter was last renewed. 
 
                                                           
1 All statutory references herein are to the California Education Code unless stated otherwise.  



 

Description of and Reason for the Revision: 
  

SOUL was authorized in 1998, before the law recognized a specific distinction between 
classroom-based and nonclassroom-based charter schools. From the beginning, SOUL’s Charter 
has reflected an academic model designed to meet the needs of at-promise students (formerly 
classified as at-risk students) through alternative non-traditional educational programs, 
specifically, independent study, classroom-based, and hybrid learning programs.  As a Dashboard 
Alternative Status School (“DASS”), SOUL’s model has been an asset to the Fresno community, 
serving a population largely consisting of students who are habitually truant, severely credit 
deficient, pregnant or parenting, part of the juvenile justice system, and/or and at risk of dropping 
out of school.  The existing Charter reflects a robust independent study program at the core of 
SOUL’s alternative education offering to at-promise youth.  (See pp. 5-7, 14-16, 18-20, 25, 30-31, 
33-35, 38, 47-48, 51-52, 55, 57-59, 66-67, 70, 77.)  Prior to the pandemic, 70% of SOUL students 
participated in SOUL’s independent study programming, and were not in attendance in classrooms 
as part of a regularly scheduled school day. 
 

During the COVID-19 pandemic when public health orders required the closure of SOUL’s 
campus, SOUL’s students and families previously participating in SOUL’s classroom-based 
offerings found that they preferred engaging in learning on a remote, independent study basis.  
Even as conditions allowed for campus reopening, these students and families have almost 
universally requested to continue learning through independent study.  This Material Revision is 
thus submitted in response to the needs and preferences of our community, and the importance that 
SOUL focus its resources and efforts on a single academic program offering rather than two.   
 

Specifically, as reflected in SOUL’s 2021-22 Local Control and Accountability Plan 
(“LCAP”) stakeholder feedback on SOUL’s independent study and distance learning offerings 
were highly positive. Students and parents were extremely satisfied with the academic program 
SOUL offered during the pandemic, including by providing individualized instruction, 
maintaining ongoing communication with students and parents, and providing critical resources 
such as academic, personal, and mental health counseling. Feedback and suggestions from 
students, parents, and staff focused on the importance of program flexibility and independent 
study, e.g., in lieu of a traditional fixed school-day in a classroom-based setting.  Over 86% of 
parents and students have expressed their preference for individualized instruction over whole 
classroom instruction, particularly in English language arts and math.  Over 95% of SOUL’s 208 
parents surveyed feel their students are receiving adequate instruction and motivation from 
teachers to support assigned schoolwork.  In addition, over 97% of parents feel their child is safe 
at SOUL. 
 

Beginning in the Spring semester of 2024, there are 217 students enrolled and only 14 
students have chosen to enroll in the daily classroom program.  Accordingly, the content in the 
current Charter related to a classroom-based program offering is not necessary nor applicable to 
the program the Charter School is operating, and in which students are participating. 
 

Notwithstanding the Material Revision to eliminate SOUL’s classroom-based program 
component, SOUL will maintain its campus facilities as a resource center to support student 
learning and in-person engagement among teachers and students, but SOUL will not offer a 



 

regularly-scheduled classroom-based school day. All learning will occur on an independent study 
basis, scheduled flexibly for each student, consistent with the independent study program SOUL 
has offered since its inception.  In addition, small group elective courses are offered with a focus 
on personal development and career exploration. 
 

To be clear, this Material Revision does not seek to change SOUL from a classroom-based 
charter school to a nonclassroom-based charter school, as SOUL is already a nonclassroom-based 
charter school.  At all relevant times, the State has recognized SOUL as a nonclassroom-based 
charter school under the law. (https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/pa/documents/ncbcs20.xlsx.)  SOUL 
has at all times offered nonclassroom-based instruction as defined in Section 47612.5(e)(2), SOUL 
has claimed its average daily attendance (“ADA”) as nonclassroom-based ADA consistent with 5 
California Code of Regulations (“CCR”) Section 11963, and SOUL has continuously earned a 
100% nonclassroom-based charter school funding determination from the State Board of 
Education.  (https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/ch/documents/fdcompilation071822.xlsx.)   
 
 The California Department of Education (“CDE”) defines a nonclassroom-based charter 
school as a charter school in which less than 80% of ADA qualifies as classroom-based ADA 
(https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/ch/ncbfdltrfy2022.asp). SOUL has at all times operated a program in 
which less than 80% of ADA qualifies as classroom-based ADA, and has never attested in its 
charter that it would meet the funding standards applicable to a classroom-based charter school.  
Although SOUL has historically offered some classroom-based instruction as one aspect of its 
overall program, it has done so as a nonclassroom-based charter school offering classroom-based 
instruction on a limited basis.  Again, this Material Revision does not convert SOUL from a 
classroom-based charter school to a nonclassroom-based charter school because SOUL is already 
a nonclassroom-based charter school. This Material Revision only reflects a modification of 
SOUL’s academic program offerings, in the interests of serving students through their preferred 
method of learning and to operate SOUL as efficiently and effectively as possible. 
 
Impact of the Changes to the Educational Program 
 
 As described above, the Material Revision is intended to conform the content of SOUL’s 
Charter Petition to reflect SOUL’s operation as a 100% nonclassroom-based/independent study 
program, and does not constitute a substantive change to SOUL’s educational program.  SOUL’s 
core educational program will be unchanged, and students will continue to have access to in-person 
learning opportunities and programming at SOUL’s resource center, however, SOUL will not offer 
a fully in-person traditional classroom-based program.  Again, the elimination of the fully 
classroom-based program is in response to community preferences and needs. 
 
Fiscal Impact of the Change 
 
 The Material Revision will not have any material fiscal impact on the Charter School 
because the Material Revision is not expected to result in a decrease or increase in enrollment, 
revenues, or expenses.  The Material Revision is intended to conform SOUL’s Charter to reflect 
SOUL’s existing operations as a nonclassroom-based charter school operating a program in which 
100% of students participate in independent study.  
 

https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/pa/documents/ncbcs20.xlsx
https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/ch/documents/fdcompilation071822.xlsx
https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/ch/ncbfdltrfy2022.asp


 

Charter Elements Impacted by the Change 
 

As demonstrated in the attached Material Revision, provided in redline, SOUL has revised 
the content in Elements A, B, and C to eliminate its classroom-based program offering, and to 
clarify SOUL’s independent study program as the sole academic program going forward.  To be 
clear, as this is a material revision, SOUL has modified only those programmatic elements 
particular to the classroom-based program, and the Material Revision does not reflect full updates 
to Elements A, B, and C that would appropriately be made at the time of renewal.  

 
Description of Any New Requirements of Law Since the Charter Was Last Renewed 
 

The attached Material Revision incorporates legal content updates to each element in 
redline as necessary to achieve a reasonably comprehensive description of any new requirement 
of charter schools enacted into law after the charter was originally granted or last renewed. The 
redline in each element includes the description of new requirements and are fully incorporated 
herein; those updates include the following: 

 
• Updating affirmations to reflect current statutory language and revised citations 

(pp. see 3-5) 
• Updating governing law in each element to reflect current statutory language and 

revised citations (see pp. 12, 40, 68, 74, 78, 80, 85, 89, 90, 100, 102, 105, 109-111 
• Element D (Governance): Updates to reflect conflict of interest code requirements 

and applicability of the Political Reform Act and Government Code Section 1090; 
updates to reflect the right of students to petition for a student representative on 
SOUL’s governing board. 

• Element E (Employee Qualifications): Updates to reflect availability of local 
assignment options to charter schools and transition period for credentialing of any 
noncore teachers. 

• Element F (Health and Safety): Updates and additions to describe various health 
and safety requirements applicable to charter schools, including with respect to 
background check procedures, medications in school, school safety plan, workplace 
violence prevention plan, comprehensive anti-discrimination and harassment 
policies and procedures, bullying prevention, etc. (See pp. 80-85.) 

• Element G (Student Population Balance): Updates to reflect legal requirement for 
population balance plan to include special education students and English learner 
students. 

• Element H (Admission Policies and Procedures): Updates to reflect terms per 
Education Code Sections 49011, 47605(e)(2)(B)(iv), 47605(e)(4)(B), 
47605(e)(4)(A), and 47605(e)(4)(D); updates to reflect lottery procedures. 

• Element I (Audit): Updates to conform with Sections 47605(c)(5)(I), 47605(m), 
and 47607(f)-(h). 

• Element J (Suspension and Expulsion): Updates to policies and procedures to 
conform with legal requirements. 

• Element O (School Closure): Update to procedures to conform with edits to 
Education Code Section 47605(c)(5)(O). 

 



 

Timeline 
 
 Material revisions are governed by the same standards and criteria that apply to new charter 
petitions as set forth in Education Code 47605, (Section 47607(b), including the timing 
requirements for charter petitions to be heard.  Under Section 47605(b), “[n]o later than 60 days 
after receiving a petition, … the governing board of the school district shall hold a public hearing 
on the provisions of the charter, at which time the governing board of the school district shall 
consider the level of support for the petition by teachers employed by the school district, other 
employees of the school district, and parents.”  (Emphasis added.)  Thereafter, “[f]ollowing review 
of the petition and the public hearing, the governing board of the school district shall either grant 
or deny the charter within 90 days of receipt of the petition, provided, however, that the date may 
be extended by an additional 30 days if both parties agree to the extension.” (Emphasis added.)  
These timelines are commenced “for purposes of commencing the timelines described … on the 
day the petitioner submits a petition to the district office, along with a signed certification that the 
petitioner deems the petition to be complete.”   
 

There is no requirement in Sections 47605 or 47607 that a material revision must be sought 
prior to the school year in which it will be effective. A material revision is effective as soon as it 
is approved by the District’s Board of Education.  
  

* * * 
  

SOUL sincerely appreciates the District’s support and partnership in service to our families 
and students and looks forward to working with the District on this Material Revision.  Please feel 
free to contact me if any questions arise.  

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Emilia Reyes 
Chief Executive Officer 
Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission 
 

Enclosures  



The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has been accredited through Western 
Association of Schools and Colleges (WASC) since 2014.  In the Spring of 2023, SOUL 
received the highest accreditation awarded of 6 years.  SOUL has had all of its core 
curriculum courses A-G approved through the University of California system, along 
with numerous electives, totaling 26 courses that have received the A-G distinction.  
SOUL received the Dashboard Alternative School Status (DASS) in 2018 in recognition 
of the unique student population it serves. More than 70% of students arrived at SOUL 
severely credit deficient. It’s not unusual for a student to enroll in their fourth year of 
high school with credits only through ninth grade. Additionally, SOUL’s student 
population tends to be highly transient, with 37% of students in the 2022-23 school 
year having changed schools three or more times since 9th grade. This trend has 
increased in recent years, in part because of student disengagement in learning during 
the pandemic school closures.  

The school’s enrollment includes 90% of students residing in economically depressed 
areas. Most of the students, 85%, have a history of low academic achievement due 
primarily to low attendance in their previous schools. The school’s population, fluctuates 
throughout the year between 180-220 students, and is largely defined as students who 
are habitually truant, severely credit deficient, pregnant or parenting, or part of the 
juvenile justice system, and at risk of dropping out of school. Nearly 80% of all students 
who enroll are severely skill deficient in math and/or reading. In addition, 37% of our 
student body has a high mobility rate and has attended three or more schools. Studies 
have shown that students who change high schools three or more times are 50% less 
likely to graduate from high school. Furthermore, every time a student switches schools 
they experience a learning loss of six to nine months. Over the past three years the 
average entry reading level for students has been 6.5 grade level, whereas the math 
level averages a 5.5 grade level. 

English Language Arts (ELA): Trend & Data Analysis. SOUL’s Dashboard performance 
in ELA improved from 2018 to 2019 but declined in 2022, the first-year students were 
tested post-pandemic.  The improvement from 2018 to 2019 was primarily due to a 
substantial reduction in the percentage of students scoring in the lowest achievement 
level, from 49% to 34% of students. SOUL’s overall performance in 2022 was better 
than two of the four comparison high schools in the district, but it is still below the state 
average, which represents all students tested in grades 3-8 and 11. 



Dashboard Distance from Standard in ELA 

Source: CA School Dashboard 

Math: Trend & Data Analysis. Like the state, district, and its comparison schools, 
SOUL’s student performance on the Math state test is weaker than in English language  

arts. Dashboard scores climbed from 2018 to 2019 but declined in 2022. In 2022, SOUL 
outperformed two of its four comparison high schools. Over the last three years, SOUL 
has not had any 11th grade students meet the standard in Math. SOUL has 

experienced a reduced percentage of students scoring in the lowest achievement level 
over the last three years, from 95% in 2017 to 80% in 2022. The 2022 decline on the 
Dashboard is not reflected in the overall Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments 

(SBAC) performance by achievement level reported on DataQuest; this is because the 
Dashboard represents a smaller group of students who were continuously enrolled 

since census day, and DataQuest shows all students with  valid scores from the test 
administration. 



Dashboard Distance from Standard in Math 

Learning Loss from Pandemic: While this is a statewide issue, some of our students 

who lacked adequate access to computers/internet/support at home did not “attend” 
school during the 2020-2021 academic year. When they returned to school in  
2021-2022 they were unprepared and unsupported trying to re-acclimate to a school 

setting. As noted, SOUL has experienced an increase in students who have missed 
entire school years and are now tasked with making up lost time to graduate. Despite 

these challenges, SOUL has been administering NWEA Measures of Academic 
Progress (MAP) assessments consistently since 2021-2022, and while there are still a 
lot of growth opportunities, we are better informed on how to target support. 

Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) is a summative and formative set of 
assessments designed to complement each other and provide the appropriate data for 

decision-making at every level of an education agency.  MAP Growth is an assessment 
that provides information about student achievement during a particular academic year 

and tracks changes in student achievement (i.e., growth) over multiple terms and 
multiple administrations of the tests during an academic year allows the school, teacher 
and student the ability to compare students’ achievement. 

Trends in the Data. SOUL administers NWEA’s Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) 

growth assessments three times a year – fall, winter, and spring – in math and language 
usage to all students in grades nine through twelve. MAP testing has occurred 
consistently each year from 2018-19 through 2022-23, although spring 2020 testing was 

canceled due to the pandemic. 



MAP is a nationally normed assessment that provides benchmarks for student 

performance based on a student’s grade level and starting performance level. SOUL 
evaluates student performance compared to grade level norms and tracks growth each  

year from the first to the last test taken. Due to the transient population, the growth  
measured can be from fall to winter, winter to spring, or fall to spring. Since the MAP 
language arts assessment only provides growth norms through eleventh grade, it’s not 

possible to analyze language arts performance by students in their fourth year or later. 

Trend & Data Analysis. Students entering SOUL are typically performing more than  
three grade levels below expectations. Through NWEA MAP, SOUL focuses on meeting 
students where they are at and achieving growth over time. In both math and language 

arts, the percentage of students in the lowest quintile (1st-20th percentile) has 
decreased over the last five years, from 64% to 57% in math and 42% to 36% in  

language usage. 

Similar to the SBAC assessments, SOUL’s performance in language usage is 

consistently stronger than math each year, and a greater percentage of students are 
average or above in language usage. The average or above percentage grew five 

points in language usage from winter 2021-22 to winter 2022-23. Performance stayed 
flat for math for the same period. 

Students are assigned unique growth targets based on the subject tested, starting level, 
and instructional period. Most years, approximately half of SOUL students meet their 

growth targets for the year. From fall to winter 2022-23, growth is strongest for English 

learners and students with disabilities in math and English learners in language usage. 







School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
Verified Data: MAP Growth        Page 1 
 
Participation Rate Methodology 

Using CALPADS End of Year (EOY) reports, we determined the number of students enrolled 
most of the school year (Census Day through mid-May). Using NWEA MAP data extracts, we 
determined the number of students who pre- and post-tested for each school year (terms vary 
depending on school year) who were also continuously enrolled according to CALPADS. Using 
these two data sets, we calculated the test participation rate for each grade level and subgroup 
in both Reading and Math. We believe this is in the spirit of AB1505’s verified data 
requirements, to provide the test participation rate of students continuously enrolled most of the 
school year. 
 
Annual Growth Measure 
 
NWEA identifies the Conditional Growth Index (CGI) as an aggregate growth measure that can 
be used to show growth for a group of students. The Student Growth Summary Report from the 
MAP system provides the School CGI for each grade level for a specific set of terms, but it does 
not offer a school-wide average or averages by student subgroup.  
 
Based on guidance from NWEA researchers, we utilized the Student CGI value to calculate the 
school-wide and subgroup averages for each year. According to NWEA guidance in using MAP 
Growth Data for AB1505: “For both the student and school CGI values, a CGI range of –0.2 to 
0.2 (or greater) could be used as an approximation of one year’s growth (or more) in a subject 
and indicates that the growth observed is generally consistent with the amount of growth 
observed by students in the same grade and subject with the same starting achievement level 
receiving a similar amount of instructional exposure.” We have attached the guidance document 
from NWEA to provide more information about this approved calculation method.  
 
Annual Data Tables 
The tables below are separated out by school year (one table per school year). Each table has 
a breakdown by grade, subgroup, and schoolwide for the following measures: 

a. Enrollment Count (from Census Day to mid-May) 
b. Reading and Math: Count of students pre- and post-tested (terms shown in the 

header for each table – Fall to Spring, Fall to Winter or Winter to Spring) who 
were also included in the Enrollment Count 

c. Reading and Math: Participation rate (the students pre- and post-tested divided 
by the enrollment count).  

d. Reading and Math: Conditional Growth Index (CGI) – School CGI from the MAP 
Student Growth Summary Report shown for grade level averages and the 
average of Student CGIs taken from the MAP Combined Data Export for 
schoolwide and student group averages. The CGI scores shown are reflective of 
growth between the terms defined in the header of each table. 

  



School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
Verified Data: MAP Growth        Page 2 
 

2018-2019: FALL TO SPRING 
(PRE-AB1505)  

Enrolled 
from 

Census 
Day to 

mid-May 

Reading 
pre- & 
post-

tested 

Reading 
Participati

on 

Reading 
Condition
al Growth 

Index 

Math pre- 
& post-
tested 

Math 
Participati

on 

Math 
Condition
al Growth 

Index 
 

09 11 10 91% 1.90 9 82% 1.39 
10 24 23 96% -0.73 22 92% -0.08 
11 36 31 86% -1.13 32 89% -1.61 
12 37 29 78% 2.02 28 76% 1.50 
All Grades 108 93 86% 0.07 91 84% 0.00 
SED 102 88 86% 0.11 85 83% 0.02 
EL 10 9 90% * 8 80% * 
SWD 13 13 100% 0.32 13 100% 0.03 
Hispanic 84 75 89% 0.22 74 88% -0.09 
White 11 9 82% -0.93 8 73% * 

 

 

 

2019-2020: FALL TO WINTER 
(COVID-19 SPRING CLOSURE)  

Enrolled 
from 

Census 
Day to 

mid-May 

Language 
Usage 
pre- & 
post-

tested 

Language 
Usage 

Participati
on 

Language 
Usage 

Condition
al Growth 

Index 

Math pre- 
& post-
tested 

Math 
Participati

on 

Math 
Condition
al Growth 

Index 
 

09 12 8 67% * 5 42% * 
10 31 29 94% -1.58 28 90% 1.87 
11 43 36 84% -0.35 36 84% -3.03 
12 54 n/a n/a n/a 46 85% 1.40 
All Grades 140 73 85% -0.25 115 82% 0.05 
SED 125 67 85% -0.27 101 81% -0.27 
EL 8 1 100% * 8 100% * 
SWD 14 6 86% * 10 71% * 
Hispanic 110 58 84% -0.24 88 80% 0.11 
White 13 8 100% * 13 100% * 

 

  



School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
Verified Data: MAP Growth        Page 3 
 

2020-2021: FALL TO SPRING 
(DISTANCE LEARNING)  

Enrolled 
from 

Census 
Day to 

mid-May 

Language 
Usage 
pre- & 
post-

tested 

Language 
Usage 

Participati
on 

Language 
Usage 

Condition
al Growth 

Index 

Math pre- 
& post-
tested 

Math 
Participati

on 

Math 
Condition
al Growth 

Index 
 

09 1 1 100% * 1 100% * 
10 23 22 96% 0.09 21 91% -1.14 
11 39 39 100% -0.89 38 97% -2.41 
12 40 n/a n/a n/a 30 75% -0.24 
All Grades 103 62 98% -0.20 90 87% -0.35 
SED 96 57 98% -0.24 84 88% -0.36 
EL 8 4 100% * 8 100% * 
SWD 12 9 100% * 11 92% * 
Hispanic 83 55 100% -0.22 75 90% -0.32 
White 8 5 100% * 7 88% * 

 

 

 

2021-2022: FALL TO WINTER 
 

Enrolled 
from 

Census 
Day to 

mid-May 

Language 
Usage 
pre- & 
post-

tested 

Language 
Usage 

Participati
on 

Language 
Usage 

Condition
al Growth 

Index 

Math pre- 
& post-
tested 

Math 
Participati

on 

Math 
Condition
al Growth 

Index 
 

09 12 12 100% -2.30 12 100% -3.66 
10 20 20 100% -2.64 19 95% 1.88 
11 40 39 98% 0.73 39 98% 0.34 
12 47 n/a n/a n/a 47 100% 0.12 
All Grades 119 71 99% -0.26 117 98% -0.01 
SED 111 68 99% -0.19 109 98% 0.03 
EL 9 5 100% * 9 100% * 
SWD 12 8 100% * 12 100% * 
Hispanic 99 59 98% -0.10 97 98% 0.01 
White 5 3 100% * 5 100% * 

 

  



School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
Verified Data: MAP Growth        Page 4 
 

2022-2023: FALL TO SPRING 
 

Enrolled 
from 

Census 
Day to 

mid-May 

Language 
Usage 
pre- & 
post-

tested 

Language 
Usage 

Participati
on 

Language 
Usage 

Condition
al Growth 

Index 

Math pre- 
& post-
tested 

Math 
Participati

on 

Math 
Condition
al Growth 

Index 
 

09 13 13 100% -0.69 13 100% -0.47 
10 35 33 94% -1.51 35 100% -0.03 
11 40 37 93% -0.96 37 93% -0.92 
12 43 n/a n/a n/a 39 91% 0.78 
All Grades 131 83 94% -0.32 124 95% -0.04 
SED 115 72 94% -0.32 108 94% 0.00 
EL 18 12 100% * 18 100% * 
SWD 20 10 100% * 19 95% * 
Hispanic 108 69 97% -0.28 103 95% -0.01 
White 2 1 100% * 2 100% * 

 



School of Unlimited Learning 2022-2023 Parent Survey Results (208 Participants) 
Source: Healthy Kids Survey 
 
 

Page | 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

199

4
5

2. Treats all students with respect 

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

196

6
7

3. Gives all students opportunities to 
"make a difference" by helping other 
people, the school, or the community. 

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA
194

7 8

4. Keeps me well-informed about school 
activities. 

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

189

6
13

5. Actively seeks the input of parents 
before making important decisions.

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

198

5
5

6. Provides high quality instruction to 
my child.

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

196

3

9

1. Promotes academic success for all 
students.

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA



School of Unlimited Learning 2022-2023 Parent Survey Results (208 Participants) 
Source: Healthy Kids Survey 
 
 

Page | 2 
 

 

 

190

1
17

7. My child's teachers are responsive to 
my child's social and emotional needs.

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

198

3
7

8.My child is receiving adequate 
instruction from teachers to support 

assigned work. 

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

190

9 9

9. My child is motivated to complete the 
school work she/he is assigned. 

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

191

1
16

10. Our school provides parents with 
advice and resources to support my 
child's social and emotional needs. 

Agree

Disagree

Don't Know/NA

180

28

11.SOUL will offer both traditional classroom-based 
program and an independent study program next year. 

Which program would you be most likely to choose for 
your student?

Independent Study

Classroom-based
Program



School of Unlimited Learning 2022-2023 Spring Student Survey Results (200 Participants) 
Source: Healthy Kids Survey 
 

Page | 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

139
18

43

1. I feel like I am a part of this school. 

Agree

Disagree

Neither agree or
disagree 196

6
7

2. The teachers at this school treat 
students fairly. 

Agree Disagree Neither agree or disagree

167

10 23

3.I feel safe in my school. 

Agree Disagree Neither agree or disagree

153

11
36

4. School staff take parent concerns 
seriously. 

Agree Disagree Neither agree or disagree

174

26

5. SOUL will offer both traditional 
classroom-based program and an 

independent study program next year. 
Which program would you be most 

likely to choose?

Independent Study

Classroom-based Program

182

18

6. I would describe my satisfaction with 
my school experiences as: 

Satisfied Dissatified



School of Unlimited Learning 2022-2023 Spring Student Survey Results (200 Participants) 
Source: Healthy Kids Survey 
 

Page | 2 
 

Questions 7-12 begin with:  
There is a teacher or some other adult from my school who… 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

129

75

7. Really cares about me.

True Not true

155

47

8. Tells me when I do a good job. 

True Not true

161

40

9. Always wants me to do my best. 

True Not true

137

69

10. Checks on how I am feeling. 

True Not true

155

48

11. Listens when I have something to 
say. 

True Not true

154

47

12. Believes that I will be a success.

True Not true



SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING
2023/2024 Budget Year

REVENUE:
Revenue 4,116,150$        

EXPENSES:
Personnel 2,345,298$        

Supplies 320,660$           

Operating/Equipment 506,025$           

Services/Other 746,854$           

Indirect 197,313$           

Total 4,116,150$        



 

4 
 

AFFIRMATIONS AND DECLARATION 
 

As the authorized lead petitioner, I, Emilia Reyes hereby certify that the information 
submitted in this request for a material revision for the charter petition for the California 
public charter school, “School of Unlimited Learning” (hereafter referred to as “SOUL” or 
“Charter School”), located within the boundaries of the Fresno Unified School District 
(“FUSD” or the “District”) and authorized by FUSD is true to the best of my knowledge 
and belief; I also certify that this petition does not constitute the conversion of a private 
school to the status of a public charter school; and further, I understand the Charter 
School shall follow any and all federal, state, and local laws and regulations that apply to 
the Charter School, including but not limited to the requirements of Education Code 
Section 47605 and the following:  

• Be nonsectarian in its programs, admission policies, employment practices, and 
all other operations. [Ref. Education Code Section  47605(e)(1)] 

• Not charge tuition. [Ref. Education Code Section  47605(e)(1)] 

• Not discriminate on the basis of the characteristics listed in Education Code 
Section 220 (actual or perceived disability, gender, gender identity, gender 
expression, nationality, race or ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, or any other 
characteristic that is contained in the definition of hate crimes set forth in Section 
422.55 of the Penal Code, including immigration status, or association with an 
individual who has any of the aforementioned characteristics). [Ref. Education 
Code Section 47605(e)(1)] 

• Not enroll pupils over 19 years of age unless continuously enrolled in public school 
and making satisfactory progress toward award of a high school diploma. [Ref. 
Education Code Section 47612(b)] 

• If a pupil is expelled or leaves the charter school without graduating or completing 
the school year for any reason, the charter school shall notify the superintendent 
of the school district of the pupil’s last known address within 30 days, and shall, 
upon request, provide that school district with a copy of the cumulative record of 
the pupil, including report cards or a transcript of grades, and health information. 
If the pupil is subsequently expelled or leaves the school district without graduating 
or completing the school year for any reason, the school district shall provide this 
information to the Charter School within 30 days if the Charter School 
demonstrates that the pupil had been enrolled in the Charter School. [Ref. 
Education Code Section 47605(e)(3)]  



 

5 
 

• Meet all statewide standards and conduct the pupil assessments required pursuant 
to Education Code section 60605, and any other statewide standards authorized 
in statute or pupil assessments applicable to pupils in non-charter public schools. 
[Ref. Education Code Section 47605(d)(1)]  

• Consult, on a regular basis, with the charter school’s parents, legal guardians, and 
teachers regarding the school’s educational programs. [Ref. Education Code 
Section 47605(d)(2)] 

• The Charter School may encourage parental involvement, but shall notify the 
parents and guardians of applicant pupils and currently enrolled pupils that 
parental involvement is not a requirement for acceptance to, or continued 
enrollment at, the Charter School. [Ref. Education Code Section 47605(n)] 

• The Charter School shall adhere to each of the conditions in Education Code 
Section 47605(e)(4)(A)-(D), including: (A) not discouraging a student from 
enrolling or seeking to enroll in the Charter School for any reason; (B) not 
requesting a student's records or require a parent guardian, or student to submit 
the student's records before enrollment; (C) not encouraging a student currently 
attending the Charter School to disenroll or transfer to another school for any 
reason; and (D) providing a copy of the California Department of Education 
(“CDE”) notice regarding the requirements in Education Code Section 
47605(e)(4)(A)-(D) to a parent/guardian or student if the student is 18 years of age 
or older: (i) when a parent/guardian or student inquires about enrollment, (ii) before 
conducting an enrollment lottery, or (iii) before disenrollment of a student. [Ref. 
Education Code Section 47605(e)(4)(A)-(D)] 

• Admit all students who wish to attend the Charter School, and who submit a timely 
application; unless the Charter School receives a greater number of applications 
than there are spaces for students, in which case each application will be given 
equal chance of admission through a public random drawing process. Except as 
required by Education Code Section 47605(e)(2) and Education Code Section 
51747.3, admission to the Charter School shall not be determined according to the 
place of residence of the student or of that student’s parent or legal guardian within 
the State. Preference in the public random drawing shall be given in accordance 
with Education Code Section 47605(e)(2)(B)(i)-(iv). In the event of a drawing, the 
chartering authority shall make reasonable efforts to accommodate the growth of 
the Charter School in accordance with Education Code Section 47605(e)(2)(C). 
[Ref. Education Code Section 47605(e)(2)(A)-(C)] 

• Fresno County Economic Opportunities Commission, a California nonprofit public 
benefit corporation, declares that it shall be deemed the exclusive public school 



 

6 
 

employer of the employees of the SOUL for purposes of the Educational 
Employment Relations Act. [Ref. Education Code Section 47605 (c)(6)]  

• Adhere to all provisions of federal law related to students with disabilities including, 
but not limited to, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the Individuals with Disabilities in 
Education Improvement Act of 2004.  

• Meet all requirements for employment set forth in applicable provisions of law, 
including, but not limited to credentials, as necessary. [Ref. Title 5 California Code 
of Regulations Section 11967.5.1(f)(5)(C)]  

• Not require any child to attend the Charter School nor any employee to work at the 
Charter School. 

• Ensure that teachers in the Charter School hold the Commission on Teacher 
Credentialing certificate, permit, or other document required for the teacher's 
certificated assignment. The Charter School may use local assignment options 
authorized in statute and regulations for the purpose of legally assigning 
certificated teachers, in the same manner as a governing board of a school district. 
Teachers employed by charter schools during the 2019-20 school year shall have 
until July 1, 2025, to obtain the certificate required for the teacher s certificated 
assignment. [Ref. California Education Code Sections 47605(l)(1) and 47605.4(a)]  

• Maintain at all times all necessary and appropriate insurance coverage. 

• For each fiscal year, offer at a minimum, the number of minutes of instruction per 
grade level as required by Education Code Section 47612.5(a)(1)(A)-(D). 

• For each fiscal year, meet or exceed the legally required minimum number of 
school days. [Ref. Title 5 California Code of Regulations Section 11960] 

SOUL shall maintain accurate and contemporaneous written records that 
document all pupil attendance and make these records available for audit and 
inspection. [Ref. Education Code Section 47612.5(a)(2)]SOUL shall comply with 
any jurisdictional limitations to locations of its facilities. [Ref. Education Code 
Section 47605 and 47605.1] 

• SOUL shall comply with all laws establishing the minimum and maximum age for 
public school enrollment. [Ref. Education Code Section 47612(b) and 47610] 

• SOUL shall comply with all applicable portions of the Elementary and Secondary 
Education Act (“ESEA”) as reauthorized and amended by the Every Student 
Succeeds Act (“ESSA”) 



 

7 
 

• SOUL shall comply with the Public Records Act.  

• SOUL shall comply with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act  

• SOUL shall comply with the Ralph M. Brown Act.  

• SOUL shall comply with Government Code Section 1090, et seq., as set forth in 
Education Code Section 47604.1 (“Section 1090”). 

• SOUL shall comply with the Political Reform Act, Government Code Section 
81000, et seq. (“PRA”). 

 

______________________________________         ____________________________ 
   Emilia Reyes                                  Date 
   Chief Executive Officer 
   Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission  



1 

  
  

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING  
CHARTER HIGH SCHOOL 

2336 Calaveras St. Fresno, CA 93721 
 

 
 

CHARTER PETITION RENEWAL  
July 1, 2018 – June 30, 202563  

 
Material Revision Submitted to: 

Fresno Unified School District Board of Education 
Date Submitted:[INSERT DATE]  March 28, 2018 

  
 
 



 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 

I.     Assurances 3 

II.   Executive Summary 5 7  

III.  Background 9  11   
IV. Required Charter Elements 
      Element A: Description of School’s Educational Program 
      Element B: Measurable Pupil Outcomes 
      Element C: Methods to Assess Pupil Progress 
      Element D: School Governance 
      Element E: Qualifications of School Employees 
      Element F: Health and Safety Procedures 
      Element G: Means to Achieve a Racial and EthnicStudent Population Balance 
      Element H: Admission Policies and Proceduress Requirements 
      Element I: Financial  (and Programmatic) Audit 
      Element J: Pupil Suspension and Expulsion Policy and Procedures 
      Element K: Staff Retirement System 
      Element L: Attendance Alternatives 
      Element M: Rights of Employees 
      Element N: Dispute Resolution 
      Element O: School Closure 

1012 

1012 

3640 

6368 

6974 

7378 

7480 

7586 

7687 

7790 

7891 

85101 

87103 

87104 

87104 

88 

106 

V.  Additional Provisions 

      Financial Planning, Reporting, and Accountability 

Impact Statement/Facilities 

Special Education Local Plan Area 

Administrative Services 

Insurance 

93111 

93111 

93111 

94112 

95113 

95 
113  

VI. Required Appendices 

       Five-Year Budget  

       Request for Board Member Information  

96114 

97 

100  
  



 

3 
 

I. ASSURANCESAFFIRMATIONS AND DECLARATION 
  

As the authorized lead petitioner, I, Brian AngusSusan Lopez Emilia Reyes hereby certify that the 
information submitted in this request for a material revision for the charter petition for the renewal 
of a California public charter school, the “Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission/School of 
Unlimited Learning” (hereafter referred to as “SOUL” or “Charter School”), located within the 
boundaries of the Fresno Unified School District (“FUSD” or the “District”) and authorized by FUSD  
is true to the best of my knowledge and belief; I also certify that this petition does not constitute the 
conversion of a private school to the status of a public charter school; and further, I understand the 
Charter School shall follow any and all federal, state, and local laws and regulations that apply to 
the Charter School, including but not limited to the requirements of Education Code Section 47605 
and the following:  

• Be nonsectarian in its programs, admission policies, employment practices, and all other 
operations. [Ref. Education Code Section EC 47605(ed)(1)] 
 

• Not charge tuition. [Ref. Education Code Section EC 47605(ed)(1)]  
 

• Not discriminate against any pupil on the basis of the characteristics listed in Education 
Code Section 220 (actual or perceived disability, gender, gender identity, gender 
expression, nationality, race or ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, or any other 
characteristic that is contained in the definition of hate crimes set forth in Section 422.55 of 
the Penal Code, including immigration status, or association with an individual who has any 
of the aforementioned characteristics). [Ref. Education Code Section . EC 47605(ed)(1)] 

• Not enroll pupils over 19 years of age unless continuously enrolled in public school and 
making satisfactory progress toward award of a high school diploma requirements. [Ref. 
Education Code Section 47612(b)] 

• If a pupil is expelled or leaves the charter school without graduating or completing the 
school year for any reason, the charter school shall notify the superintendent of the school 
district of the pupil’s last known address within 30 days, and shall, upon request, provide 
that school district with a copy of the cumulative record of the pupil, including report cards 
or a transcript of grades or report card, and health information. If the pupil is subsequently 
expelled or leaves the school district without graduating or completing the school year for 
any reason, the school district shall provide this information to the Charter School within 30 
days if the Charter School demonstrates that the pupil had been enrolled in the Charter 
School. [Ref. Education Code Section EC 47605(ed)(3)]  

• Meet all statewide standards and conduct the pupil assessments required pursuant to 
Education Code sections 60605, and 60851 and any other statewide standards authorized 
in statute or pupil assessments applicable to pupils in non-charter public schools. [Ref. 
Education Code SectionEC 47605(dc)(1)]  

• Consult, on a regular basis, with the charter school’s parents, legal guardians, and teachers 
regarding the school’s educational programs. [Ref. Education Code Section EC 
47605(dc)(2)] 



 

4 
 

• The Charter School may encourage parental involvement, but shall notify the parents and 
guardians of applicant pupils and currently enrolled pupils that parental involvement is not 
a requirement for acceptance to, or continued enrollment at, the Charter School. [Ref. 
Education Code Section 47605(n)] 

• The Charter School shall adhere to each of the conditions in Education Code Section 
47605(e)(4)(A)-(D), including: (A) not discouraging a student from enrolling or seeking to 
enroll in the Charter School for any reason; (B) not requesting a student's records or require 
a parent guardian, or student to submit the student's records before enrollment; (C) not 
encouraging a student currently attending the Charter School to disenroll or transfer to 
another school for any reason; and (D) providing a copy of the California Department of 
Education (“CDE”) notice regarding the requirements in Education Code Section 
47605(e)(4)(A)-(D) to a parent/guardian or student if the student is 18 years of age or older: 
(i) when a parent/guardian or student inquires about enrollment, (ii) before conducting an 
enrollment lottery, or (iii) before disenrollment of a student. [Ref. Education Code Section 
47605(e)(4)(A)-(D)] 

• Admit all students who wish to attend the Charter School, and who submit a timely 
application; unless the Charter School receives a greater number of applications than there 
are spaces for students, in which case each application will be given equal chance of 
admission through Determine attendance by a public random drawing process. Except as 
required by Education Code Section 47605(e)(2) and Education Code Section 51747.3, 
admission to the Charter School shall not be determined according to the place of residence 
of the student or of that student’s parent or legal guardian within the State. , if the number 
of pupils who wish to attend the charter school exceeds the school’s capacity. Preference 
in the public random drawing shall be given in accordance with Education Code Section 
47605(e)(2)(B)(i)-(iv). In the event of a drawing, the chartering authority shall make 
reasonable efforts to accommodate the growth of the Charter School in accordance with 
Education Code Section 47605(e)(2)(C). shall be extended to pupils who currently attend 
the charter school and pupils who reside in the District. [Ref. Education Code Section EC 
47605(ed)(2)(AB)-(C)] 

• Fresno County Economic Opportunities Commission, a California nonprofit public benefit 
corporation, declares that it shall bBe deemed the exclusive public school employer of the 
employees of the SOUL for purposes of the Educational Employment Relations Act. [Ref. 
Education Code Section 47605 (cb)(65)(O)]  

• Adhere to all provisions of federal law related to students with disabilities including, but not 
limited to, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 and the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Improvement Act 
of 2004.  

• Meet all requirements for employment set forth in applicable provisions of law, including, 
but not limited to credentials, as necessary. [Ref. Title 5 California Code of Regulations 
Section 11967.5.1(f)(5)(C)]  

• Not require any child to attend the Charter School nor any employee to work at the Charter 
School. 

• Ensure that teachers in the Charter School hold thea Commission on Teacher Credentialing 
certificate, permit, or other document required for the teacher's certificated assignment. The 



 

5 
 

Charter School may use local assignment options authorized in statute and regulations for 
the purpose of legally assigning certificated teachers, in the same manner as a governing 
board of a school district. Teachers employed by charter schools during the 2019-20 school 
year shall have until July 1, 2025, to obtain the certificate required for the teacher s 
certificated assignment. equivalent to that which a teacher in other public schools are 
required to hold. As allowed by statute, flexibility will be given to non-core, non-college 
preparatory teachers. [Ref. California Education Code Sections 47605(l)(1) and 47605.4(a)]  

• Maintain at all times all necessary and appropriate insurance coverage. 
• For each fiscal year, offer at a minimum, the number of minutes of instruction per grade 

level as required by Education Code Section 47612.5(a)(1)(A)-(D). \ 
• For each fiscal year, meet or exceed the legally required minimum number of school days. 

[Ref. Title 5 California Code of Regulations Section 11960] 
• Follow any and all other federal, state, and local laws and regulations that apply to SOUL 

including but not limited to the following:  
• SOUL shall maintain accurate and contemporaneous written records that document all pupil 

attendance and make these records available for audit and inspection. [Ref. Education 
Code Section 47612.5(a)(2)] 
 

 SOUL shall, on a regular basis, consult with its parents and teachers regarding the Charter 
School's educational programs. [Ref. Education Code Section 47605(d)] 

•  
SOUL shall comply with any jurisdictional limitations to locations of its facilities. [Ref. Education 
Code Section 47605 and 47605.1] 

 
• SOUL shall comply with all laws establishing the minimum and maximum age for public 

school enrollment. [Ref. Education Code Section 47612(b) and 47610] 
 

• SOUL shall comply with all applicable portions of the Elementary and Secondary Education 
Act (“ESEA”) as reauthorized and amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act (“ESSA”) 

• SOUL shall comply with all applicable portions of the No Child Left Behind Act.  
• SOUL shall comply with the Public Records Act.  

 
• SOUL shall comply with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act  

 
• SOUL shall comply with the Ralph M. Brown Act.  

 
• SOUL shall comply with Government Code Section 1090, et seq., as set forth in Education 

Code Section 47604.1 (“Section 1090”).SOUL shall meet or exceed the legally required 
minimum of school day 

• SOUL. shall comply with the Political Reform Act, Government Code Section 81000, et seq. 
(“PRA”). 

•  
 



 

6 
 

______________________________________         _______________________________ 
   Brian Emilia AngusReyes, Chief Executive Officer                                 Date 
   Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission  
 
  



 

7 
 

II. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Introduction 

Established in 1998, the School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) was Fresno’s first charter high 
school. Operated by the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission (Fresno EOC), SOUL has 
provided a unique educational alternative for nearly 20 years to thousands of high school students, 
many of whom have a history of low academic achievement and are not currently benefitting from 
the academic and support services in the traditional classroom setting. Average and high achieving 
students also choose SOUL when in need of more comprehensive social services and all students 
attending SOUL receive the extra, individual attention they need to succeed.  Since 2007, SOUL 
has been classified as a school under the Alternative Schools Accountability Model (ASAM), and 
now Dashboard Alternative School Status (DASS), due to its at-risk promise student population. 
SOUL’s clearly defined mission is “to provide comprehensive learning experiences in a manner, 
and in an environment, that enables students to obtain skills, knowledge and motivation to be self-
directed, life-long learners as they mature toward self-sufficiency”.  SOUL addresses the needs of 
its students through a myriad of individualized academic strategies as well as case management, 
mental health counseling and coaching, opportunities for increased school connectedness and a 
focus on improved attendance and behavior.  

During the past five years, SOUL’s leadership team has provided a well-defined vision and focus 
for increased student achievement. SOUL’s continuous program improvement plan calls for annual 
staff training to assist teachers in delivering a relevant, Common Core standards-based curriculum 
using instructional practices that engage all students.  Through its professional development 
efforts, SOUL has refined its commitment to instructional effectiveness by assisting teachers in 
identifying gaps in pedagogical skills and knowledge to better meet student academic needs and 
charter goals.  
 
Achievements 
 
SOUL has been fully accredited by the Western Association of School and Colleges since 2008, 
with SOUL receiving the maximum six-year accreditation term in 2017.  For the past 10 years, the 
WASC process has provided SOUL stakeholders a model for continuous improvement. This 
process necessitates the involvement and participation of all stakeholder groups; has led to the 
development of SOUL’s Expected Schoolwide Learning Results (ESLRS); identified SOUL’s 
strengths and areas for improvement; and resulted in the development of  an action plan which has 
served to chart the course of SOUL’s future. SOUL’s WASC Action Plan, in conjunction with its 
charter goals, laid the foundation for its Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP), which has been 
reviewed and updated on an annual basis since the 2014/2015 school year.  SOUL’s LCAP mirrors 
the school’s WASC Action Plan goals and charter goals.    
 
SOUL has also undergone a transformation with respect to curriculum development. Since 2014, 
SOUL has been revising its curriculum to better prepare students to meet state performance 
standards. Since the inception of Smarter Balanced testing, SOUL has outperformed most similar 
schools in both ELA and math.  Likewise, SOUL has met or made progress toward meeting most 



 

8 
 

of its charter goals.  Additionally, in June 2017, SOUL submitted 13 core academic courses for UC 
“a-g” approval, all of which were accepted.  Along with UC “a-g” approval submissions, core 
teachers have developed reflective lesson plans, which emphasize the core knowledge and skills 
students are expected to learn, including concepts, theory and texts. As a result of ongoing 
Common Core training, teachers craft lesson plans that provide adequate detail about the content, 
while outlining and describing major themes, topics and sub-topics of each unit of study. Each 
lesson plan includes grade-level common core standards, as well as literacy and ELD standards, 
providing evidence of the level of rigor and the development of essential critical thinking skills. 
Literacy is taught throughout the curriculum and ELD standards are embedded schoolwide into 
each subject area. 
 

Over the past five years, SOUL has made strides with respect to preparing students to become 
viable participants in a developing workforce. SOUL students ages 16 and over are offered the 
opportunity to participate in elective courses that allow them to explore their potential careers. In 
2014, SOUL developed a partnership with Bitwise Corporation to offer a Coding/Computer Literacy 
course and formed a partnership with Central California Legal Services which provides students 
exposure to careers in the legal profession through the Street Law and Mock Trial programs. During 
the 2015-2016 school year, SOUL expanded its career course offerings to provide more 
opportunities to actively engage students in career exploration. New courses consisted of website 
development and video production. SOUL’s Youth Mentoring Program, which is part of the Child 
Care Career Pathway, provides internship hours in Early Head Start/Head Start centers, and offers 
a stipend and scholarship opportunities to students completing the program. 
 
During the 2016/2017 school year, SOUL entered into a partnership with IdeaWorks, a 
neighborhood non-profit trade organization, to provide an innovative, hands-on experience for 
students in the areas of woodworking, laser-cutting, welding, robotics, ceramics and 3D printing.  
With a focus on safety, skills, and process, IdeaWorks has set a strong foundation in these trades. 
It has allowed students to explore and refine their abilities in these potential career areas while 
earning elective credits toward their high school diploma. 
 
Intervention resources for skills-deficient students, including English learners, have increased over 
the past five-year period. Students with deficiencies in reading and math are assigned 
individualized reading and/or math prescriptions to bring them to grade level. For independent 
study students, a tutorial schedule was devised for all skills-deficient students, with scheduled time 
to work on their prescriptions before or after their appointments, or at any time before, during, or 
after school.  The inclusion of Achieve 3000’s reading improvement program into all core classes 
has provided additional support to students through a differentiated instructional approach. Achieve 
3000 is aligned with State of California Common Core State Sstandards, and also incorporates 
literacy and ELD standards. It has proven to be a valuable supplemental tool in developing literacy 
skills and increasing lexile levels. All teachers maintain a tutorial one day per week after school 
hours to assist independent study students performing below grade level in reading and math. 
Classroom-based students are also encouraged to stay after school during tutorial hours to work 
on their prescriptions.  
 



 

9 
 

Areas for Improvement/Growth 
 
A comprehensive review of SOUL’s Charter Goals over the past five years reveals progress has 
been made in some areas with respect to increased student achievement, while some deficiencies 
exist in other areas.  Notwithstanding increases in intervention resources, scores for reading and 
math reveal a slight downward trend for three consecutive years. A primary cause for the decline 
in reading and math scores is that most independent study students have not taken advantage of 
their tutorial options and have not made their math and reading prescriptions a priority. Moreover, 
monitoring of student progress and growth in reading and math proficiency has been inconsistent.  
 
Overall, comparing SOUL’s California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 
(CAASPP) results to those of traditional, comprehensive high schools and similar schools, SOUL 
has outperformed similar schools in most areas, while lagging behind traditional schools. Increased 
efforts must be made to ensure that a greater percentage of students meet or exceed the standards 
in both English language arts (ELA) and math.  
 
SOUL has identified curricular gaps in its math program, specifically in regards to preparing 
students for the CAASPP Math test. More than half of SOUL’s 11th grade students enroll well into 
their 11th grade year and have not previously passed Algebra I. Few 11th graders have the 
opportunity to take Algebra II prior to their taking the CAASPP Math test.   A large percentage of 
the questions on the CAASPP Math include Algebra II standards.  Curricular changes are needed 
to address this challenge. 
 
A detailed analysis of CAASPP data, reading and math proficiency, CAHSEE results, graduation 
rate, suspension, and attendance information are contained in Element B of this charter.  
 

Action Plan  
 

A strategic, prescriptive approach is needed to address deficiencies. To reverse the downward 
trend in ELA and math proficiency, in Spring 2018, SOUL formalized a process to monitor 
mandatory prescriptions for all students in both instructional programs.  Student progress and 
growth in reading and math proficiency is consistently monitored by teachers on a weekly basis.  
Moreover, skills-deficient students in both the classroom-based and independent study programs 
will be required to take an additional ELA and/or math skills course to address their deficiencies. 
English learners enrolled in independent study will be assigned an English intervention class every 
week in addition to their independent study coursework.   
 
In response to SOUL’s achievement gap in CAASPP ELA and Math, SOUL will utilize NWEA’s 
Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) Interim Assessments, which are designed to measure a 
student’s academic achievement and to calculate academic growth throughout the year. Beginning 
in the 2018-2019 school year, the Interim Assessments will be administered in the fall, winter, and 
spring of each year. Interim Assessments will serve as quarterly benchmarks, since they are 



 

10 
 

aligned to California Common Core English language arts and math standards. Teachers will use 
MAP assessment results to guide instruction, which will provide a comprehensive picture of student 
learning: how much they’ve grown, what they’re ready to learn, and the specific skill gaps they 
need to master.   
 
To address the curricular gap in math, SOUL will develop an integrated curriculum which 
incorporates Algebra 1, Algebra II, and Geometry standards.  All 11th grade students who have 
not passed algebra I at the beginning of their 11th grade year will be placed into an Integrated Math 
course to ensure that they will have been introduced to Algebra II standards prior to taking the 
CAASPP test. Moreover, this course will provide college-bound students with better preparation 
for post-secondary education by reinforcing previously learned standards in Algebra I and 
Geometry. Algebra II will be offered to all students who have completed Algebra I and Geometry 
by the end of their 10th grade year.     
 
Conclusion  

Assessment data has been extremely useful to SOUL staff over the past five years in charting our 
course through continuous program improvement in alignment with our WASC Action Plan and 
Local Control Accountability Plan.   SOUL’s refined charter goals for the next five years will ensure 
a carefully and well-planned monitoring process so that staff, students, parents, and other 
stakeholders can be better informed of student progress. A well-crafted and relevant professional 
development plan will continue to ensure that high quality common core instruction is evident in all 
classrooms by assisting teachers to seek the most effective ways to meet the academic needs of 
their students.  SOUL’s future academic performance will continue to demonstrate the school’s 
commitment to curricular and instructional improvement, as well as the delivery of crucial 
individualized support services. In the end, increased student achievement is ultimately the gauge 
by which SOUL’s charter goals will be measured.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

11 
 

 

III. BACKGROUND 

 
The Board of Commissioners of the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission (Fresno EOC) 
presents this petition to the Fresno Unified School District Board of Trustees for a renewal of a 
charter school located within the jurisdiction of the Fresno Unified School District. As permitted by 
state law, this petition has been developed to provide additional choice for parents and their 
students who exhibit distinct academic and social needs. Most students who benefit from 
enrollment in the School of Unlimited Learning Charter High School have demonstrated a greater 
need for academic support and social services than what is available in the traditional educational 
system.  
 
Fresno EOC is widely recognized as one of the largest nonprofit community action agencies in the 
United States. Founded in 1965, following the passage of the Economic Opportunity Act of 1964, 
the agency has spent the past five decades investing in people to help them become self-sufficient. 
The broad scope of Fresno EOC’s services provides links in the human service system in Fresno 
County and throughout the Central San Joaquin Valley. Fresno EOC is vital to the community’s 
well-being. Guided by its motto, “Helping People, Changing Lives”, Fresno EOC acts as a vehicle 
to ensure equal access to education, employment, housing, and healthy living conditions as 
mandated by the Federal Economic Opportunities Act. The agency currently serves more than 
150,000 individuals each year through over 30 programs addressing the needs of the poor through 
education, employment, training, transportation, nutrition, energy conservation, and emergency 
energy assistance. For over 52 years, Fresno EOC has built a strong foundation of services that 
offer support to people in all phases of life. 
 
In response to the growing number of high school dropouts among children of adults receiving 
Fresno EOC services, the Board of Commissioners submitted a petition to operate a charter school 
for high-risk, disadvantaged youth in the Fresno metropolitan area. In July 1998, the School of 
Unlimited Learning Charter High School became Fresno Unified School District’s first charter high 
school. With the granting of this charter, SOUL became an alternative education option to help 
educate an increasing population of at-risk students.  
 
The School of Unlimited Learning Charter High School, operated by Fresno EOC, provides 
educational services, as well as social support services, to high school youth and their families to 
strengthen the possibilities of their becoming productive, self-reliant members of the community.  
By submitting this charter renewal to provide alternative educational services to students in grades 
9 through 12, Fresno EOC believes that SOUL will continue its success in providing comprehensive 
educational services to youth in the Fresno Metropolitan area who may otherwise be at risk of 
dropping out of high school.  



 

12 
 

IV: REQUIRED CHARTER ELEMENTS 

 
Element A: Description of School’s Education Program 
 
 “A description of tThe educational program of the charter school, designed, among other things, 
to identify those whom the charter school is attempting to educate, what it means to be an 
‘educated person’ in the 21st century, and how learning best occurs. The goals identified in that 
program shall include the objective of enabling pupils to become self-motivated, competent, and 
lifelong learners.” California Education Code §47605(cb)(5)(A)(i). 
 “The annual goals for the charter school for all pupils and for each subgroup of pupils identified 
pursuant to Section 52052, to be achieved in the state priorities, as described in subdivision (d) of 
Section 52060, that apply for the grade levels served, and specific annual actions to achieve those 
goals. A charter petition may identify additional school priorities, the goals for the school priorities, 
and the specific annual actions to achieve those goals.” Educational Code Section 
47605(c)(5)(A)(ii).  
“If the proposed charter school will serve high school pupils, a description of the manner in which 
the charter school will inform parents about the transferability of courses to other public high 
schools and the eligibility of courses to meet college entrance requirements. Courses offered by 
the charter school that are accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges may be 
considered transferable and courses approved by the University of California or the California State 
University as creditable under the “A” to “G” admissions criteria may be considered to meet college 
entrance requirements.” Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(A)(iii). 
 
Vision and Purpose 
 
The vision for Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission’s School of Unlimited Learning is for 
the student to be a self-directed learner, a collaborative worker, and a complex thinker who is 
equipped with the skills and self-confidence to be productive and self-sufficient as an adult through 
work and community service. 
 
Mission Statement  
 
The mission of the School of Unlimited Learning Charter High School is to provide comprehensive 
learning experiences in a manner and in an environment that enables students to obtain skills, 
knowledge, and motivation to be self-directed, life-long learners as they mature toward self-
sufficiency.  
 
The Students We Serve   
 
The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) presently serves, educates and works with students 
residing primarily within the Fresno metropolitan area.  The students, ages 14 to 22, and  grades 
9  through 12, have not yet received a high school diploma and many are at  high risk of dropping 
out of school. The majority of SOUL students reside in economically depressed areas within the 
Fresno metropolitan area. Most targeted youth have a history of low academic achievement due 
primarily to poor attendance in their previous schools. Many of these young men and women have 
arrived at SOUL bearing a history of low academic achievement. A review of their scholastic 



 

13 
 

career typically reveals a failure to benefit from available support services in the traditional school 
system, and a possible need for more comprehensive social services. 
 
The School of Unlimited Learning has been an asset to the Fresno community in serving at-risk 
promise youth for nearly 20 years. SOUL’s target population can be largely defined as students 
who are habitually truant, severely credit deficient, pregnant or parenting, or part of the juvenile 
justice system and at risk of dropping out of school.  Since 2007, SOUL has been classified as a 
school under the Alternative Schools Accountability Model (ASAM), and the successor 
classification, Dashboard Alternative School Status (DASS) due to its student population. 
 
As depicted below, upon enrolling more than 90% of SOUL students have been identified as 
chronic truants. Nearly 50% of SOUL’s enrollment consists of 12th grade students, the majority of 
whom have been previously enrolled in three or more high schools. Over 75% of all SOUL students 
are 11th and 12th graders who are significantly behind in credits due to past patterns of truancy. 
SOUL students often lack access to basic health services and are lacking life skills that prepare 
them to be self-reliant in today’s economy. Most SOUL students live in low-income neighborhoods 
with high incidents of gang and criminal activity. Many students come from homes plagued by 
substance abuse, domestic violence, and neglect.  
 
SOUL Student Profile 
 

♦ 90% have been identified as chronic truants. 

♦ 90% come from homes where the parent is unemployed or underemployed. 

♦ 94% are socioeconomically disadvantaged, qualifying for free and reduced meals.  

♦ 73% are 11th and 12th graders and severely credit deficient.  

♦ 40% have parents that never completed high school.   

♦ 11% are teen parents. 

♦ 5% are in the juvenile justice system or wards of the court. 

♦ 7% are or have been homeless. 

 

 

 

 

♦  

 



 

14 
 

 

Table I: School and Student Demographics Taken from CBEDS October 2017  
 
SOUL plans to educate each student in accordance with the educational plan set forth in this 
charter petition. Each barrier or factor discussed above is addressed through instruction, 
individualized counseling, case management, and dropout prevention services within the school’s 
program design. 
 
What Does it Mean to Be an Educated Person in the 21st Century? 
 
Twenty-first-century learning means that students master content while producing, synthesizing, 
and evaluating information from a wide variety of subjects and sources with respect for diverse 
cultures. Twenty first century students will need to continue to master the three R’s required of 20th 
century learners, but will have also mastered the four Cs: critical thinking, creativity, 
communication, and collaboration. The 21st century learner demonstrates digital literacy as well as 
civic responsibility, and becomes a self-directed lifelong learner by preparing for post-secondary 
education that will lead to a sustainable career.  Twenty-first-century learning connects relevant 
and engaging content to skill.  Success in the 21st century requires knowing how to learn. Students 
today will likely have several careers in their lifetime. They must develop strong critical thinking and 
interpersonal communication skills in order to be successful in an increasingly fluid, interconnected, 
and complex world.  Today’s students have access to powerful learning tools that allow them to 
locate, acquire, and even create knowledge much more quickly than ever before. But simply being 
able to search for information on the internet is no substitute for true understanding. Today’s 
students need to develop skills to find knowledge.  Educated individuals in the 21st century are able 
to overcome life’s challenges by applying learned knowledge to become productive, financially 
independent, and self-reliant members of the community. 
 
The School of Unlimited Learning is committed to providing its students a quality educational 
experience with the academic resources and non-academic supportive services they will need to 
overcome barriers such as poverty, skill deficiency, teen pregnancy, truancy, depression, and 
homelessness, to name a few. To address these barriers, SOUL provides the necessary 
interventions, resources, and individualized learning environments which focus on improving 
literacy skills and college and career readiness. All SOUL students are provided a standards-driven 
curriculum, imparted though a direct interactive instructional model. SOUL students have access 
to technology through internet-accessible laptops that they may use at home or at SOUL’s 
facilitieslocated in all classrooms. SOUL students are provided career exploration opportunities to 
prepare them to become self-reliant lifelong learners and competitive in today’s career market.  As 

Grades Served  9th-12th  
1st Year of Operation  July 1, 1998  
Oct. 2017 CBEDS  Enrollment   155 
Free and Reduced Lunch  94% 
Special Education   13% 
English language learners   13% 
American Indian   1% 
African American   8% 
Asian   3% 
Hispanic   79% 
Caucasian   9% 



 

15 
 

reflected in its Expected Schoolwide Learning Results (ESLRS), which were developed in response 
to 21st century learner needs, Fresno EOC’s School of Unlimited Learning believes that students 
who are taught to become critical thinkers, information processors and effective communicators 
will possess the vital knowledge and skills to meet and overcome life’s challenge in the 21st 
century, assuring them a brighter future in preparing them for career opportunities and economic 
independence. 
 
 
 
Expected Schoolwide Learning Results 
 
In order to obtain skills, knowledge, and motivation to be self-directed, life-long learners as they 
mature toward self-sufficiency in the 21st century, the students at the School of Unlimited Learning 
will be:  
 

Effective Communicators  
• Demonstrate ability to read, write, speak and listen for a variety of reasons 

• Possess social and cultural literacy skills to function productively in today’s 
society 

Academic Achievers 
• Demonstrate mastery of basic skills, especially in Math and English 

Language Arts. 

• Demonstrate proficiency in all core academic subjects. 

        Critical Thinkers and Problem Solvers 
 

• Analyze, synthesize, and apply information. 

• Apply problem-solving and decision-making skills to real life situations. 

  
   Information Processors 

• Demonstrate the ability to effectively access resources and information in the 
community. 

• Locate,  access, organize, evaluate, and supply information for a complex and 
technological world. 

Self-Directed Lifelong Learners  
• Set, pursue, and accomplish realistic and challenging goals. 

• Develop a post-secondary (college and/or career preparation) plan that clearly 
reflects the options and choices available to them upon graduation. 



 

16 
 

Responsible and Productive Citizens 
• Demonstrate healthy, responsible behavior and work collaboratively and 

respectfully in an ethnically, culturally, linguistically and socio-economically 
diverse community. 

• Recognize and respect the rules and processes that govern society. 

 
 
 
Instructional Methodology- How Learning Best Occurs 
 
Education is best delivered through verifiable research-based instructional practices. Student 
assessment data is used to modify curriculum and promote individualized or differentiated 
instruction. Measurable student outcomes are monitored, evaluated, and sustained for long term 
growth.  SOUL has adopted a comprehensive approach to addressing each student’s academic, 
social, and personal needs. Innovative instructional approaches, coupled with case management, 
counseling, and truancy prevention services, will promote greater academic and personal success 
among students.  SOUL firmly believes that learning best occurs when students feel connected to 
the school and learning environment, and when parents are given the adequate resources to assist 
their child in becoming successful learners.  
 
SOUL offers a classroom-based program and an Independent Study program. Both components 
of SOUL’s educational program are is located at the Fresno EOC Sanctuary Youth Center at 2336 
Calaveras Street. SOUL’s instructional staff consists of 11 fully credentialed, full-time teachers, 
who serve an average of 75 classroom-based students, and 130 220 Independent Study students 
per semester.  Both the The classroom-based and Independent Study programs offers the same 
rigorous academic, standards-based curriculum, as well as supportive services, such as case 
management, mental health counseling, and access to extra-curricular activities.   A majority of the 
students who enroll in either program are credit deficient and at risk of dropping out of school.   
 
 
Classroom-Based Program 
 
Independent Study Program 
 
SOUL has operated its unique program as a charter school since 1998, before such time that 
California law recognized a distinction between classroom-based and nonclassroom-based charter 
schools. After the passage of SB 740 in 2001, and since May 2003, SOUL has been continuously 
awarded a nonclassroom-based funding determination by the California State Board of Education, 
and has at all times since operated as a nonclassroom-based charter school consistent with 
Education Code Section 47612.5(e)(2). As a nonclassroom-based charter school, SOUL affirms 
that it shall continue to comply with all laws and regulations applicable to nonclassroom-based 
charter school programs and the offering of independent study, including Education Code Sections 



 

17 
 

47612.5, 47634.2, 51745 et seq., 5 California Code of Regulations (“CCR”) Sections 11960, 11963-
11963.7, 5 CCR 11701-11704. 
 
SOUL operates a program that is The iIndependent sStudy- based, asprogram is  an optional 
educational alternative to traditional public school options. Students cannot be required to enroll at 
SOULparticipate. Students who choose to attend the Charter School do so because they seek an 
the iIndependent sStudy component program. SOUL students typically face scheduling conflicts 
within a traditional school day. They voluntarily enroll in the Charter School for this alternative 
instructional program. 
 
Independent Study sStudents are scheduled for a minimum of one hour of face-to-face, in person 
(synchronous) instruction per week, but are able to access and benefit from the additional services 
available at any time. In addition to providing a comprehensive high school curriculum, SOUL also 
offers its Independent Study students a wide array of support services, including personal and 
mental health counseling, case management, access to health services, family services, and 
childcare services. 
 
Prior to entering SOUL’s ’s iIndependent sStudy program, students must often articulate have a 
compelling reason or need for the Independent Studyan alternative to a traditional school program, 
such as a physical disability, pregnancy, lack of childcare, family hardship, or an identified personal, 
social, or mental health issue which prevents them from attending school on a daily basis. Like the 
classroom-based program, SOUL’s iIndependent sStudy program offers a standards-based 
curriculum. In recent years, a concerted effort has been made to bring about greater alignment in 
regards to the Independent Study curriculum and grade level standards. The recent curricular 
alignment between the classroom based and Independent Study programs has increased the rigor 
of Independent Study.  
 
The Charter School will utilize its facilities to host student meetings, activities, and school 
programming, but each student’s course of study shall be on an independent study basis and 
consistent with its educational model, the Charter School will not maintain a regularly scheduled 
classroom-based school day option for students.  
 
 
Course Curriculum  
 
During the 2017/2018 school year, SOUL submitted and received UC “a-g” approval through the 
University of California’s High School Articulation Department of its core science, math, English, 
and social science courses. Curriculum for SOUL’s core subjects is aligned with Common Core 
State Standards. Grade level standards are taught in all core academic classes each day.  As a 
charter school, we are free to explore alternative types of curriculum, which may or may not be 
state mandated. Most SOUL students are skills deficient, and reading below grade level. 
Consequently, supplemental materials are utilized to facilitate student understanding of the subject 
matter, without compromising the grade level standard. In other words, a 10th grade student reading 
at the sixth grade level can still learn 10th grade standards in English Language Arts, but the 
readability of the supplemental materials is more comprehensible to the student. In recent years, 



 

18 
 

most traditional textbook-based curriculum has given way to a standards-driven curriculum. All core 
curriculum materials are selected in accordance with the content standards. SOUL’s goal is to 
provide high quality, engaging materials that assist students in becoming proficient in all core 
content areas. All core academic teachers are tasked with reviewing materials in light of student 
assessment data to determine if there is a need to modify curriculum to increase performance 
outcomes.   
 
California'’s 1997 academic content standards and the more recent Common Core State Standards 
(CCSS) for English Language Arts and Mathematics are equal in their level of rigor and call for 
high expectations of all students. However, the Common Core Standards provide for additional 
skills and knowledge necessary in a global economy and technology-rich workplace. Under the 
CCSS, students will learn to work collaboratively and use digital media to express and present 
evidence-based fiction and non-fiction literary analysis. The CCSS also focus on extending 
mathematical thinking to real-world challenges so that students develop a depth of understanding 
and an ability to solve everyday problems through the power of mathematics.  
 
The School of Unlimited Learning is fully committed to the complete and successful implementation 
of the Common Core State Standards (CCSS). Since the 2014/2015 school year, SOUL has 
received Common Core Implementation training from the K-12 Center for College & Career 
Readiness. For the past four years, all staff development efforts have focused on best practices in 
preparing teachers for the implementation of the Common Core Standards and integration of 
English Language Arts literacy into all areas of the curriculum. 
 
SOUL’s reflective lesson planning incorporates core, literacy, and ELD standards in each unit of 
study, incorporating differentiated instructional approaches for English Learners.  SOUL efforts  to 
align its curriculum and instruction delivery ensure that all SOUL students have access to the 
Common Core State Standards, literacy standards, and ELD standards. SOUL continues to receive 
professional development ELD training through Fresno Unified’s English Learner Services’ Office. 
SOUL, which is fully accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges (WASC), is 
actively committed to a continuous academic improvement. WASC provides a structure for 
continuous school improvement as an ongoing process. This has helped SOUL to analyze, 
evaluate, and improve its instructional program. This increases academic rigor through the 
development and implementation of best practices in curriculum and instruction. SOUL’s 
commitment to program improvement will continue to play a pivotal role in its implementation of 
the Common Core. 
 
Scope and Sequence   
 
Students are assigned individualized, prescriptive language arts and math curriculum through 
Edgenuity’s MyPath. Each year pacing calendars are updated to ensure alignment of curriculum 
and instruction with grade level standards. Pacing calendars address specific standards on a 
weekly basis.  The pacing calendar describes when each standard should be taught and shows 
the specific locations of each standard in the adopted texts. Supplementary materials continue to 
be created to address any tested standards not adequately covered in the adopted textbooks. All 
tested standards are strategically designed to be taught and reviewed before test dates.   



 

19 
 

 
Each course offered at SOUL has a developed scope and sequence, as well as a developed course 
description. Teachers use pacing charts to teach curriculum in accordance with state standards. 
Students are expected to demonstrate performance objectives in accordance with the state 
standards. Students are administered formative exams, benchmark tests, and summative exams 
to determine if standards are being mastered and which skills need to be re-taught. Students who 
fall below mastery level are given additional instruction and assessment in specific areas. Tutoring 
is available after school four days per week to all students who fall behind and require additional 
assistance.  
 
 Direct Instruction and Common Core 
 
In all classrooms, teachers Teachers utilize differentiated and direct instruction to deliver common 
core lessons that are aligned to state standards.  Achieve 3000 is incorporated into every subject 
to increase reading skills.  All teachers write lesson objectives and standards on the board.  Daily 
essential questions to lessons, checking for understanding, pair sharing, collaborative work, and 
the use of technology can be observed in all classroomswith all students.  Reflective unit plans, 
along with regular assessment of student learning and deliberate assessment planning based on 
the standards within the unit plans, are used school wide.  ELD strategies such as contextualization 
and front-loading are used across curriculum.  
 
Strategies are also utilized to engage students by using academic vocabulary, collaborating orally 
and encouraging interaction with others. Guest speakers and field trips are incorporated into the 
school day to provide hands-on experiences for specific careers.  Staff meets to discuss student 
issues and to share best practices on a regular basis.   
  
Teachers submit lesson plans that are based upon core, literacy, and ELD standards, as well as 
the school’s ESLRs, direct instruction, checking for understanding, increasing DOK levels by 
clustering standards with literacy or math practice standards. Reflective lesson plans incorporate 
summative and formative assessments.  They utilize direct instruction, scaffolding and constant 
CFU (checking for understanding). There are daily assignments with student input on lesson 
delivery, one-on-one teacher/student conversations, group and individual content projects and 
essays with rubrics.  Teachers have daily tutorial hours after school for students in need of support 
and can assign specific students to attend these sessions as needed.  Strategies are employed 
where students offer and justify opinions with evidence and oral presentations.  This keeps 
students engaged while they collaborate and interact with each other.   
 
Deconstruction of standards facilitates the identification of specific cognitive tasks and content 
details, as well as facilitating the creation of lessons with specific purpose.  Deconstructing the 
standards helps the teacher process the learning outcomes and organize lessons strategically. 
With such a small student population teachers can easily recognize the needs of each student.  In 
small classes Tteachers are able to work one-on-one with students in classindividually or in small 
groups to ensure that the students are learning.  Checking for understanding, random questioning, 
writing responses, guided questions and peer teaching are strategies used throughout lessons.  
Peer observations are done on a regular basis and unit plans are modified as needed.    Students 



 

20 
 

are placed in intervention classes to increase reading and math skills, when needed, for core 
classes.  
 
Use of Student Data to Support Teachers 
  
Teachers routinely use data to guide instructional decisions and meet students’ learning needs.  
Data is used as an ongoing tool to formulate strategies to raise student achievement and implement 
instructional changes.  Assessments and assignments are provided to students that reflect what 
students understand and how they are mastering standards.    
 
Data from classwork and homework assignments, Achieve 3000 (lexile levels), Accuccess 
Prescription progress, and daily interaction with students are all utilized to adjust teaching for the 
most effective delivery of curriculum.  Information from the student’s Pathways dashboard (i.e., 
registration/enrollment, student’s accommodations based on IEP’s and EL status) along with 
teacher/staff observation and parent feedback are also used to adjust teaching.   
 
Accuccess scores and Lexile levels are used to determine student groups for many classes, and 
progress is monitored to move students between groups as needed.   
 

Periodic assessments throughout the unit lessons and formative assessments are given on a 
regular basis.  If students do not perform well on an assessment teachers will go back and reteach 
before moving on to the next standard.  
 
School Pathways is used to monitor 504 Plans, IEP accommodations/modifications and to identify 
EL students so that assignments can be modified to fit student needs.  As special groups show 
improvement or fall behind, teaching is adjusted for particular students as deemed necessary.   
 

 
Literacy is continually monitored and recognized through Accuccess tests, prescriptions, and lexile 
advancements.   Lesson plans and curriculum are aligned with state standards for teaching 
common core. Discipline data and IEP data also helps with strategies to better teach students. 
Data provides teachers with information as to how students are progressing.  As data is updated, 
teachers are able to modify teaching strategies, objectives and expectations. The data received 
from PLATO and other assessments helps to drive the instruction.  Data is often used to assign 
study groups and to help address the needs of SPED and EL students. 
 

• Attendance data is used to assist teachers in identifying students who are in need of make-
up work & after-school tutorial time. 

• Behavioral and discipline data, as well as IEP’s and 504 Plans are used to help develop 
learning plans and strategies for supporting students special needs and teacher 
effectiveness. 

• Reading, writing, and Lexile data are used to determine complexity of documents/texts, 
strategic mixed-ability groupings of students, and scaffolding strategies to support struggling 
students/readers/writers. 
 



 

21 
 

During weekly meetings, the results from the data noted above are discussed by teachers.  
Teachers review whether the current implementation of teaching strategies and curriculum are 
achieving the expected results. Improvements and suggestions are brainstormed by all teachers.   
 
Lesson plans are developed to ensure that each assignment is aligned with the state’s common 
core standards in literacy, and ELA. This ensures that all students including SPED and EL students 
are meeting, the standards for their individual grade levels.  ESLR’s are used as a tool to motivate 
the students and to utilize positive reinforcement when they achieve their individual goals.  
 
 
 
 
Lexile Levels as an Intervention Tool 
 
Intervention is utilized based on scores from the Plato Accucess test and from Lexile Levels 
assessed through Achieve 3000.  This data helps teachers determine if students need 
intervention, tutoring and/or modifications of work assignments and teaching strategies.  Through 
the Achieve pretest, the lexile level is used to set goals for students to become career and college 
ready.   Assessments for reading and math given at the beginning of the year to our students 
through Plato are used to assign prescriptions to intervene and raise students to the appropriate 
level of reading and math. Students work on these prescriptions throughout the semester.   
 
Lexile levels measure the difficulty of texts and the reading capacity of students.   By knowing 
Lexile levels the teacher can determine what strategies to incorporate into their lesson plans to 
help students build on vocabulary and comprehension along with writing skills.  Lexile levels are 
also important when the teacher is providing background knowledge and the purpose for reading 
the text.  The Lexile score can be used as a screening tool for student performance to gain an 
understanding of the gaps in student skill levels.  Lexile levels can be used to place students in 
strategic groups for group work and projects.  If students score low on their initial test they can be 
assigned to an Intervention class if further assessment indicates that the student is truly lacking 
grade level skills.  

 
Targeted Strategies Across All Subject Areas 
 
The following strategies have been implemented across the curriculum in both core and elective 
subjects to increase reading levels and promote greater student engagement:   
 

• Reading for meaning (active reading): identifying major ideas, purpose, themes; raising 
questions; making inferences, reading to improve Lexile levels;  

• Relevant education: drawing connections with what students are learning in school to their 
own experiences, other texts, and the world.  Academic vocabulary instruction with tier 2 & 
3 terms includes opportunity for meaning inquiry (synonyms, antonyms, examples, 
characteristics, etc.). 

• Critical thinking: encouraging students to think of alternative answers, alternative strategies 
of problem-solving, and interrogating the validity of statements.  Essential questions are 



 

22 
 

asked in lessons to increase rigor in the classroomlearning environment, make the content 
applicable to students’ lives and increase academic achievement.  

• Collaborative learning:  project-based learning where students collaborate to complete a 
task. 

 
Intervention Courses, Electives and Services to English Learners 
 
SOUL’s intervention program is regularly reviewed and evaluated to increase its effectiveness. 
CAASPP, CELDTELPAC, Accucess and other diagnostic tests are used to properly place students 
into intervention classes where they are provided remediation in addition to their grade-level 
classes. Intervention classes are used to bolster sub grade level skills in math and reading.  
 
Additionally, all students must continue to receive at least one grade-level English Language Arts 
and math class if they are to do well on the CAASPP Smarter Balanced tests. The focus of regular 
classes is on grade-level content. Training is provided to teachers in differentiated instructional 
practices where the sub-skills are adjusted, but grade-level content is not.  For example, utilizing 
low level reading materials while performing a grade-level analysis allows students to learn at 
grade-level pace. 
 
SOUL continues to develop new elective courses for students as part of its in both the Independent 
Study and classroom based program. Elective courses, like all core courses, are taught by 
appropriately credentialed teachers, and include subjects like Personal and Family Living, 
Introduction to Careers, Street Law, Ideaworks, Child Development, Computer Literacy and Life 
Skills. In addition, Edmentum/Plato is the online software used at SOUL for credit recovery, and is 
offered to both classroom based students and Independent Study students as elective credits. 
Afternoon block classes are an additional option for Independent Study students who wish to enroll 
in a classroom based elective course two days per week. During the 2017/2018 school year, an 
increased number of Independent Study students participated in elective courses.  
 
Other Methods of Instructional Delivery  
 
Edmentum/Plato 
 
Plato is an online, web-based program used by SOUL students for credit recovery courses. The 
online UC approved curriculum has enabled dozens of SOUL students to achieve success, learn 
at an individualized level and benefit from an instructional experience and pace that meets their 
unique needs. Students work on Plato at school and at home. Plato provides 21st century learning 
opportunities for students whose academic needs stretch beyond the constraints of the traditional 
classroom. Since so many of SOUL students are credit deficient, Plato provides an opportunity for 
students to earn additional credits by retaking a class they have previously failed while employing 
the accelerated use of technology. Plato’s self-paced interactive curriculum, along with its internet-
based features, has proven successful for non-traditional learners. The web-based curriculum is 
accessible from any internet connection. Plato includes courses in the core subjects of History and 
Geography, Math, Language Arts, and Science, as well as a variety of electives.  



 

23 
 

 
Technology in the Classroomeducation 
 
As part of its program improvement plan, The School of Unlimited Learning has made a focused 
effort to integrate technology into the curriculum, especially in the core academic areas of reading 
and math. By using technology as a tool, SOUL students communicate effectively and globally, 
work collaboratively, use critical and analytical thinking skills, and use information wisely and 
responsibly. Staying informed and active in the technology community ensures that SOUL students 
and teachers receive the most up to date information and that technology is consistently used to 
enhance SOUL’s curriculum. SOUL’s ultimate goal is to prepare its students for a prosperous and 
productive future in a rapidly changing world. 
 
Technology is available to students and teachers in classrooms and in independent study. All 
classrooms are equipped with computers and internet access.  Computers with internet access are 
also available to Independent Study students who need to complete projects, conduct research, 
develop English and Math skills or complete online credit recovery lessons. Computers are also 
located in the school'’s Career Center for students to complete online career assessments. SOUL’s 
online credit recovery program, as well as its web-based English and math intervention curriculum, 
is available to eligible students during and after traditional school hours. Computers are available 
to teachers and all students, including but not limited to special education and English Language 
Learners during school and after school hours. Each teacher is issued a laptop and a tablet. 
 
During the school day, students use technology in a variety of ways. Each classroom at SOUL is 
equipped with mounted data projector. In SOUL'’s Reading Intervention classes, students reading 
below grade level utilize the Achieve 3000 web-based literacy program to develop English skills.  
Over the past five years, all teachers have increased the use of various content area specific 
software programs to enhance instruction.  Students use the internet to gather research for Science 
and English projects. In Social Science classes, students have access to computers to better 
understand maps, geographic features and concepts. Students use the computers to enhance 
reports and essays by using keyboarding and other technology skills. Recent technological 
advances include the installation of an interactive smart board in the Math room.  
 
All teachers integrate technology into instruction. Most teachers currently use the Internet to 
research curriculum topics and enhance lesson plans. They use email to communicate with 
colleagues and students. Teachers submit lessons plans to school administration via email, 
Dropbox, and Google Docs. Electronic bulletins are used throughout the school to share 
information. Some teachers use presentation software to introduce units of study in content area 
subjects, and have their students submit assignments electronically through Schoology, email, or   
Google docs. 
 
Serving Students with Disabilities 
 
SOUL is compliant with all applicable state and federal laws in providing services to students with 
disabilities, including Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA), the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) and all other civil 



 

24 
 

rights enforced by the U.S. Department of Education Office of Civil Rights. SOUL functions as a 
public school of the District for purposes of providing special education and related services 
pursuant to Education Code Section 47641(b). It complies with all state and federal laws related to 
the provision of special education instruction and services and all SELPA policies and procedures, 
and utilize appropriate SELPA forms. SOUL is solely responsible for its compliance with Section 
504 and the ADA. The SOUL campus is accessible for all students with disabilities. Students with 
disabilities who enroll in SOUL shall be provided services as outlined in the MOU with the Fresno 
Unified School District.  
 
 
 
 
Student Study Team 
 
SOUL uses a systematic, problem-solving approach to assist students who are not making 
adequate progress. The school implements appropriate interventions for a student at the earliest 
indication of student need in order to ensure the student’s success. If students are experiencing 
academic, social/emotional, behavioral, attendance, health and/or other needs, a Student Study 
Team (SST) meeting is held.  The purpose of the Student Study Team is to: (1) inform parents of 
their child’s progress and offer suggestions which may reinforce academic success; (2) lend ideas 
which support and/or modify the student’s regular education program, and (3) decide whether or 
not assessment is needed to determine eligibility for Section 504 or for Special Education.  Anyone 
who has a concern for a student can refer that student for an SST meeting. This meeting, which 
includes the identified student, his parent/guardian, teachers, a case manage, an administrator and 
any other pertinent personnel, acts as a forum for discussing identified concerns, as well as to 
consider all information relevant to the unique needs of the child. The team shares information 
about the student’s strengths, their observations, and interventions/strategies that have been used 
in the past. The SST is a regular education function that addresses concerns and needs of 
identified students, and generates strategies for enhancing the success of the child.  The SST 
tailors appropriate interventions to meet the unique needs of each student.   
 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act  
 
SOUL recognizes its legal responsibility to ensure that no one with a disability is excluded from 
participating in, or denied benefits of, any program of the Charter School.  Disability in this context 
refers to a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more major life activities, 
including, but not limited to, learning.  Any student who has such an identified disability is eligible 
for accommodations by the Charter School under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and the 
Americans with Disabilities Act. 
 
The SOUL 504 team is a multidisciplinary team comprised of school staff members who are 
knowledgeable about the student being evaluated and who have an understanding of the 
evaluation data and placement options. The parent/guardian, as well as any other individuals 
pertinent to the well-being of the child, is encouraged to be involved in this process.   
 



 

25 
 

The 504 team reviews the student’s existing academic, social and behavioral records, and makes 
a determination as to whether a 504 Plan is appropriate. If the student has already been evaluated 
under the IDEIA but found ineligible for special education instruction or related services, those 
evaluations may be used to help determine eligibility under Section 504. The 504 team assesses 
the nature of the student’s disability and the impact upon the student’s education.  
 
If the 504 team deems the student qualified, the team is responsible for determining what, if any, 
accommodations or services are needed to ensure that the student receives a Free and 
Appropriate Public Education (FAPE).  A 504 plan describes the Section 504 disability and provides 
a combination of services and/or accommodations necessary to enable the student to receive the 
maximum benefit from their education at SOUL.   
 
All 504 team participants, parents/guardians, teachers and any other participants in the student’s 
education are given a copy of the student’s 504 Plan.  A copy of the 504 Plan is maintained in the 
student’s file. Each student’s 504 Plan is reviewed at least once per year to determine the 
appropriateness of the Plan, needed modifications to the Plan, and continued eligibility.  
 
If during the evaluation or review, the 504 team obtains information indicating possible eligibility of 
the student for special education per the IDEIA, a referral for assessment under the IDEIA is made 
by the 504 team.  
 
Services for Students under the “IDEIA”  
 
The Charter School provides special education instruction and related services in accordance with 
the IDEIA, Education Code requirements, and applicable policies and practices of the 
District/SELPA. The Charter School remains a public school of the District for purposes of Special 
Education pursuant to Education Code Section 47641(b). No student shall be denied enrollment 
based on disability. SOUL shall comply with dispute resolution process of the FUSD SELPA.  
 
As a public charter school of the District, solely for purposes of providing special education and 
related services under the IDEIA pursuant to Education Code Section 47641(b), in accordance with 
Education Code Section 47646 and 20 U.S.C. 1413, SOUL ensures the appropriate referral, 
assessment, IEP development, modification and implementation procedures. 
 
The School of Unlimited Learning acknowledges the importance of cooperating with Fresno Unified 
School District to ensure FAPE is offered to Charter School students. The Charter School agrees 
to promptly respond to all District inquiries, to comply with reasonable District directives, and to 
allow the District access to Charter School students, staff, facilities, equipment and records.     
    
Pursuant to the guidelines stipulated in the Memorandum of Understanding between the School of 
Unlimited Learning and the Fresno Unified School District: 
 

• Special Education Staff assigned by the Fresno Unified School District performs 
evaluations for students in need of tri-annual and initial assessments.   



 

26 
 

 
• SOUL’s Guidance Counselor, or other appointed staff, serves as a coordinator between 

FUSD and SOUL personnel. The assigned coordinator stays abreast of federal and state 
laws and stays in close contact with the FUSD staff to ensure compliance.  

 
• All IEPs are completed on Fresno Unified forms.  

 
• The FUSD special education staff and assigned coordinator from SOUL ensure that SOUL 

teachers and administrators are given adequate notification of IEP meetings.  
 

• The assigned FUSD special education staff informs the SOUL’s Principal, parents, and 
students of any IEP meetings. The assigned coordinator assists as necessary to insure that 
parents are present at IEP meetings.  

 
• The assigned coordinator or registrar informs the assigned FUSD special education staff 

or district immediately if a special education student is dropped from SOUL or if a new 
special education student is requesting enrollment into the SOUL program.  

 
• The assigned FUSD special education staff informs the SOUL Principal and teachers of 

any special accommodations for special education students.  
 

• All SOUL staff understands and complies with accommodations and/or modifications 
recorded within a student’s IEP or 504 plan. Teachers ensure substitute teachers are 
provided with information necessary to ensure full implementation of IEPs or 504 plans.  

 
• All special education records are kept in a secure and locked cabinet.  All appropriate FUSD 

staff have access to these records as needed.  
 

• SOUL understands its responsibility to provide special education instruction and related 
services to students enrolled in the school regardless of a student’s district of residence.  

 
• The FUSD school psychologist provides crisis counseling as needed. 

 
Serving English Learners  
 
Overview  
 
The School of Unlimited Learning meets all applicable legal requirements for the English Learner 
(EL) as they pertain to annual notification to parents, student identification, placement, program 
options, EL and core content instruction, teacher qualifications and training, re-classification to 
fluent-English proficient status, monitoring and evaluating program effectiveness, and standardized 
testing requirements. The Charter School implements policies to assure proper placement, 
evaluation, and communication regarding ELs and the rights of students and parents.  EL students 
are identified through the Home Language Survey and, beginning in 2017, the English Language 



 

27 
 

Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC). The Guidance Counselor Coordinator serves as 
SOUL’s EL Coordinator. EL students are redesignated upon meeting guidelines for redesignation. 
 
 
Home Language Survey  
 
The Charter School administers the home language survey upon student enrollment into the 
Charter School. Upon enrollment, every student, regardless of racial or ethnic background, is asked 
to complete a Home Language Survey (HLS) and a student enrollment form, which includes 
additional questions regarding home language. Upon request, home language surveys are 
translated and provided in the students’ home language. The home language survey asks four 
questions that assist the school in determining the appropriate follow-up for the student. The Home 
Language Survey serves to identify students who come from homes where a language other than 
English is spoken, and does so in a manner that is equitable, comprehensive, and not based upon 
assumptions or stereotypes. The Home Language Survey is not used to assess or determine 
language proficiency. It is used as an indicator for additional assessment and data gathering.  
 
CELDT/ELPAC Testing  
 
If a student’s Home Language Survey indicates that a language other than English is spoken in 
the home, student academic records are reviewed to see if the student has been designated an 
English Learner at their previous school or district. Student records are also reviewed to obtain the 
student’s proficiency level. If student records are not available, the student is referred for 
assessment by Fresno Unified School District to determine initial proficiency levels and determine 
if language support services are necessary, and if so, the degree of services offered.  
 
Students that have an established English Learner proficiency level and updated assessments are 
tested each year using the California English Language Development Test (CELDT).  Tthe English 
Language Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC)) will be the successor to the California 
English Language Development Test (CELDT), which has is been the required state test for 
English language proficiency that must be given to students whose primary language is other than 
English. Students also complete the Accucess Language Arts assessment each year. The results 
of these assessments, along with teacher recommendations, are used to determine whether the 
student meets the criterion for redesignation as fluent English proficient.   
 
 English Language Proficiency Assessment 

All students who indicate that their home language is other than English will be tested with the 
ELPAC. The ELPAC has four proficiency levels (Level 4: well developed; Level 3: moderately 
developed; Level 2: somewhat developed; and Level 1: minimally developed) and is aligned with 
the 2012 California ELD Standards.  

The ELPAC consists of two separate assessments: 

● Initial Assessment (“IA”) 



 

28 
 

The ELPAC IA is used to identify students as either an English Learner, or as fluent in English. The 
IA is administered only once during a student’s time in the California public school system based 
upon the results of the home language survey. The locally scored IA will be the official score. The 
IA is given to students in grades K–12 whose primary language is not English to determine their 
English proficiency status. 

● Summative Assessment (“SA”) 

ELs will take the SA every year until they are reclassified as fluent English proficient. The ELPAC 
SA is only given to students who have previously been identified as an EL based upon the IA 
results, in order to measure how well they are progressing with English development in each of the 
four domains. The results are used as one of four criteria to determine if the student is ready to be 
reclassified as fluent English proficient, to help inform proper educational placement, and to report 
progress for accountability. 

Both the ELPAC SA and IA are assessments administered in seven grade spans—K, 1, 2, 3–5, 6–
8, 9–10, and 11–12. In grades 9–12, the test is administered in groups, exclusive of speaking, 
which is administered individually. The ELPAC IA and SA will be administered via a computer-
based platform.  The ELPAC IA and SA will be administered via a computer-based platform. 

Testing times will vary depending upon the grade level, domain, and individual student.  Both the 
ELPAC IA and SA are given in two separate testing windows through the school year. 
 
The IA testing window will be year-round (July 1–June 30). Any student whose primary language 
is other than English as determined by the home language survey and who has not previously 
been identified as an English Learner by a California public school or for whom there is no record 
of results from an administration of an English language proficiency test, shall be assessed for 
English language proficiency within 30 calendar days after the date of first enrollment in a California 
public school, or within 60 calendar days before the date of first enrollment, but not before July 1 
of that school year. 
  
The SA testing window will be a four-month window after January 1 (February 1–May 31). The 
English language proficiency of all currently enrolled English Learners shall be assessed by 
administering the test during the annual assessment window. 
 
The Charter School will notify all parents of its responsibility for ELPAC testing and of ELPAC 
results within thirty days of receiving results from publisher.  The ELPAC shall be used to fulfill the 
requirements under the Every Student Succeeds Act for annual English proficiency testing. 
 
SOUL continuously makes a concentrated effort to maximize parent involvement and 
participation for parents of EL students.  A Bilingual Advisory Committee was established in 2017 
to further engage parents of English learners. The Bilingual Advisory group has active input along 
with all parents, staff, students, and the community stakeholders into SOUL’s annual LCAP plan.   

 
Educational Theory and Approach   
 
The program for English Learners is designed to help students acquire fluency in English, to 
provide students with equal access to the academic core curriculum, and to help students maintain 
a positive self-concept. Students are taught the California Common Core State Standards, which 



 

29 
 

incorporate California Literacy Standards and English Language Development Standards into daily 
instruction. The choice and combination of strategies used takes into consideration individual 
student needs, Federal, State, and local guidelines, academic best practices, and parent input. 
SOUL  provides an option of classroom based instruction or designated and integrated ELD to its 
EL students through its Independent Study programming.to for English learners.  . In addition to 
academic vocabulary reinforcement, teachers use adapted language to assist students in 
understanding content. Teachers also utilize gestures and visual aids to reinforce vocabulary 
acquisition.  
 
 
 
Differentiated Instruction for English Learners 
 
SOUL’s classroom–based program uses an immersion model for English Learners. All EL students 
have access to the core curriculum and grade level standards, and are also enrolled in an English 
intervention class. Teachers identify all EL students in their classes and include in their lesson 
plans differentiated instruction to accommodate their needs. The differentiated instruction is 
designed at a readability level that accommodates the EL student and, at the same time, ensures 
that the core content is at grade level. Small class sizes allow for individualized learning and 
additional student support.  
 
The SOUL model of differentiated instruction requires teachers to be flexible in their approach to 
teaching, curriculum adjustment, and presentation of information to English Learners. Classroom 
teaching is a blend of whole-class, group and individual instruction. Achieve 3000 is incorporated 
into every subject to increase reading skills.  ELD strategies such as contextualization and front-
loading are used across curriculum. All teachers write lesson objectives and standards on the 
board. Daily essential questions to lessons, checking for understanding, pair sharing, collaborative 
work, and the use of technology can be observed in all classroomsthe educational setting.  
 
In classes with English Learners, teachers speak slowly, use frequent modeling, avoid using slang 
and idiomatic speech, use multi-sensory instruction and hands-on activities. They relate 
information, as much as is possible to their students' prior knowledge and they scaffold instruction. 
To enhance academic achievement, teachers create a language-rich classroom learning 
environment with several different media (books, magazines, newspapers, audio-tapes, video 
tapes, and computer software), enabling students to access different learning styles and also help 
build connections. SOUL’s annual professional development plan includes multiple English learner 
strategies and plans for successful implementation and incorporation into daily instruction. 
 
Assessments are regularly utilized in all subject areas to monitor the English Learners’ attainment 
of literacy skills. Assessments may be formal (curriculum-embedded) or informal, including 
interviews, surveys, and performance assessments. Pre and on-going assessments provide 
teachers a tool for monitoring the progress of all students, including English Learners. English 
Language Development materials are analyzed on a regular basis to ensure that each level of 
instruction represents a more advanced level of English acquisition. 
 



 

30 
 

In 2017, SOUL adopted Listenwise, a listening comprehension platform available to advance 
literacy and learning. Used in several SOUL classrooms, Listenwise improves English Learners’ 
language skills with engaging listening practice, and assists students in building various depths of 
knowledge, from recall to strategic and extended thinking.     
 
Since 2016, SOUL has utilized Flocabulary in core and elective classes. Flocabulary uses a hip-
hop video platform to help students master standards-based academic skills and content while 
building core literacy skills through engagement, mastery and student creativity. Regular classroom 
evaluations of teachers are conducted to ensure that teachers are incorporating differentiated 
instructional strategies into their lessons to help English Learners succeed.   
 
Professional Development   
 
Teachers receive ongoing training in English Language Development differentiated instruction by 
educational consultants. English Language Development training incorporates strategies to ensure 
that all students understand grade level content. The focus of the training is the use of differentiated 
instruction for the varying ELD Levels.   
 
Transition/Exiting   
 
The goal of the English Language Development program at SOUL is English Language proficiency 
and demonstration of mastery in grade-level standards. Through ongoing evaluation of formative 
assessments such as CELDT/ELPAC, Accucess and Achieve 3000, students are evaluated for 
transition through the stages of English proficiency towards redesignation. SOUL has adopted a 
standard for student transition and redesignation that includes academic performance, including 
CELDTELPAC, Accucess, Achieve 3000 and teacher evaluation.  
 
A student is eligible for redesignation reclassification based on the following criteria:  
 

• Students must perform at a proficiency level of 800 or above on the on the Accucess 
Reading Test 

• Students must perform at a level of Early Advanced or Advanced on the overall score and 
at least Intermediate on the Listening, Speaking, Reading, and Writing subtests of the 
CELDT examination.have an overall performance level of 4  

• Completion of the Teacher Observation of Oral Language Form indicating that the student 
is a Fluent English speaker.  

• Parents are notified, and provided that they agree with the recommendation, their signature 
is obtained.  

• Original redesignation forms are placed in student files and copies are sent to parents. 

Each English Learner who meets the established multiple redesignation reclassification criteria is 
classified as Redesignated Fluent English Proficient (RFEP). SOUL continues to track the 



 

31 
 

academic progress of students who are redesignated from the language support program to ensure 
that they continue to perform satisfactorily in their grade-level coursework without the additional 
support of the English Learner program.  
 
Monitoring 
 
Each year, administrative staff observes and evaluates teachers throughout the year to ensure 
appropriate placement and teaching practices targeted to EL students and other special 
populations. Administrative and counseling staff audit student files annually to ensure EL program 
documentation compliance. The audit ensures that student files include: assessment results, home 
language surveys, redesignation forms, and any other information pertinent to adequate program 
placement and compliance.  
 
Plan for Low and High Achieving Students  
 
Students that are achieving below proficiency level are identified through Accucess, CAASPP, 
Achieve 3000 and teacher grade analysis. Students who are performing below grade level are 
assigned mandatory supplemental academic enrichment classes in order to raise academic 
achievement. Students also receive individualized tutoring as needed. Students who are identified 
as high achieving based on Accucess and Achieve 3000 assessments have the option to 
participate in special curricular offerings and concurrent enrollment in Fresno City College classes.  
Students who are considered high performing meet with the counseling staff to determine what 
plan is appropriate to promote continued academic challenges and educational success. Parents 
are informed of optional programs and classes to further enhance their child’s education and 
abilities.  
 
9th – 12th Courses and Content 
 
Students in grades 9 through 12 are classified by graduation requirement year. Students who are 
below the expected number of credits per grade level are given opportunities for credit recovery, 
such as Plato, night school, and accelerated elective options. (Students enrolled in elective courses 
can opt to complete a project outside of the classroom to earn additional project-based credits for 
that particular course.)  Technology is integrated in all core subject areas such as Language Arts, 
Mathematics, Social Studies, and Science.  
 
Graduation Requirements  
 
SOUL requires a total of 230 credits for a high school diploma. SOUL meets or exceeds the 
minimum course requirements of the California Education Code, section 51225.3.a.1, which states 
“At least the following numbers of courses in the subjects specified, each course having a duration 
of one year, unless otherwise specified: 
 (A)    30 credits in English. 

(B)    20 credits in Mathematics, including Algebra. 
(C)    20 credits in science, including biological and physical sciences. 



 

32 
 

(D)  30 credits in social studies, including United States history and geography; world history, 
culture, and geography; a one-semester course in American government and civics, and 
a one-semester course in economics. 

(E)    10 credits in visual or performing arts or foreign language. 
(F)    20 credits in physical education, unless the pupil has been exempted pursuant to the 

provisions of this code. 
 
Along with the minimum state requirements, the School of Unlimited Learning requires its students 
to complete an additional 10 credits of English, an additional 10 credits of Mathematics, including 
Algebra and Geometry, an additional 10 credits of science, 5 credits of health or sociology, and 65 
elective credits.   
 
Our aim for every student at SOUL is grade level mastery of each subject area skill as determined 
by California the Common Core Standards.  The core academic courses of the School of Unlimited 
Learning are aligned with the California Common Core State Standards. 
 
SOUL teachers are credentialed by the State of California and regularly access professional 
development training in the pursuit of excellence in the classroomteaching.  They record weekly, 
monthly, quarterly, and semester student progress results, and share them with the principal, 
counseling staff, and parents upon request. 
 
All standardized tests and assessments are administered (and if appropriate, evaluated and 
analyzed) and disseminated by the counseling staff under the direction of the school principal. A 
veteran counseling and teaching staff assure the reliability and validity of standardized 
assessments by utilizing strict security measures as outlined by the particular assessment tool.  
The state-mandated assessments are administered to students in the Spring.   
 
Accuccess and Achieve 3000 document student improvement in reading and math.  The pre-test 
is given within two weeks of a student enrolling into SOUL. The post-test is administered after 
ninety consecutive days of a student’s enrollment each school year. The data is analyzed and 
results are reported to all stakeholders on an annual basis. The principal and the counseling staff 
analyze and evaluate data and, with teacher and student input, make recommendations for 
improvement in curriculum and instruction. 
 
Categorical Funding 
 
Consolidated Application  

SOUL is a direct-funded charter school and eligible to receive Title 1A and Title IIA categorical 
funding. To receive eligible categorical funding, SOUL is required each year to submit the 
Consolidated Application, which is used by the California Department of Education to distribute 
categorical funds from various state and federal programs (e.g., Title I, Part A, Title IIA) to county 
offices, school districts, and charter schools throughout California. Every local educational agency 
(LEA) certifies the Spring Release data collections to document participation in categorical 
programs and provides assurances that the LEA will comply with the legal requirements of each 



 

33 
 

program. The Winter Release of the application, certified in January of the following year, contains 
the LEA's entitlements for each funded program. Out of each state and federal program entitlement, 
LEAs allocate funds for indirect costs of administration for programs operated by the LEA.   

 

Single School District Plan  

In 2010, SOUL’s LEA plan and Single Plan for Student Achievement plan were consolidated into 
the Single School District (SSD) Plan, which incorporates the required elements of both the LEA 
Plan and the SPSA. Each year, the plan is reviewed and, when necessary, revised to reflect 
changes in school goals. In the context of this Plan, improvements in instruction, professional 
development, course offerings, and counseling and prevention programs are means of achieving 
specific academic goals. All categorical funds are used according to federal guidelines to better 
serve under achieving students of the School of Unlimited Learning. SOUL’s charter is designated 
as a schoolwide program for Title I.   

Local Control Accountability Plan and WASC Action Plan  

In the development of SOUL’s Local Control Accountability Plan, stakeholders from all groups 
reviewed SOUL’s current charter goals, the updated WASC action plan, Title I Schoolwide goals, 
and goals of SOUL’s LEA Plan. The group reviewed the performance of SOUL students over the 
past five years to validate the need for continued improvement in the identified areas. In addition 
to input from community members, SOUL surveyed staff, parents, and students to determine the 
greatest needs and concerns from each group. SOUL’s leadership team reviewed input from all 
stakeholders. They synthesized input to include four major goal areas in the LCAP over the next 
three years. The goals are fully aligned with the school’s WASC Action Plan, which had a significant 
impact in the development of the school’s LCAP: 

1. Improve student academic performance by increasing reading and math levels of all SOUL 
Students. 

2. Increase SOUL’s graduation rate by offering expanded options for earning credits through 
flexible scheduling and more individualized instruction. 

3. Create greater student connectedness to school and motivation for academic success. 
Increase efforts to identify, monitor, and support students who are at high risk of dropping 
out of school in both the classroom-based and independent study programs, and make 
referrals to appropriate intervention resources. 

4. Increase teacher/parent communication, as an especially in SOUL’s independent study 
program, where parents are less likely to become involved in school activities designed for 
parents.  

 
Each of SOUL’s Local Control Accountability Plan goals clearly delineates specific Expected 
Annual Measurable Outcomes, which mirror the benchmarks for each of the goals set forth in the 
WASC Action Plan.  



 

34 
 

Performance data is compiled at the end of each year to measure the degree to which SOUL has 
met its WASC Action Plan and LCAP goals.  Each year, these data are reported in both the LCAP 
Annual Update and WASC Action Plan Update.   

Performance data are analyzed by staff and reviewed by all school stakeholders to identify program 
strengths and critical needs on an annual basis. Follow-up discussions with stakeholders provide 
additional resources to assist SOUL in better responding to critical learner needs. Revisions to the 
LCAP, based on the findings of the data, are made in conjunction with annual revisions and 
adjustments to the WASC Action Plan.  

School Connectedness & Special Support Services 
 
Most students who enroll at SOUL arrive having lacked a connection to the traditional high school 
setting, leaving them unmotivated and at risk of dropping out. To address this, SOUL has 
developed a more diagnostic approach to providing intervention and support services to its 
students. In addition to the aforementioned intervention strategies dealing with a student’s 
academic needs, special resources are made available to address the student’s personal, social, 
mental, emotional, and in some cases, physical needs.  
 
Many of SOUL’s students have needs that reach far beyond a diagnosed deficiency in reading or 
Math. Their educational shortcomings can usually be traced to a history of chronic truancy, often 
caused by insurmountable problems in the child’s life that he/she has not been able to cope with 
or successfully overcome.  
 
Learning best occurs when a student’s social and emotional dynamics are conducive to learning.  
Unfortunately, many students come to school unprepared to learn because of undue emotional 
stress in their lives. With the help of the case managers at SOUL, along with a plethora of 
prescriptive supportive services, these students receive the attention and assistance they need to 
overcome the barriers that have led to truancy, lack of motivation and a history of academic failure.  
 
Each student receives case management services primarily aimed at cultivating a stronger 
personal and social acumen.  Their ability to deal with what is often a dysfunctional family and/or 
environment is vital to their personal and academic development. Case managers work closely 
with the students to access resources provided by Fresno EOC and other community agencies to 
address personal, family, social, and emotional needs. In addition to case management services, 
SOUL offers mental health counseling through Kaiser Permanente’s Psychology department, as 
well as additional supportive services through Fresno State’s Social Work program.  Case 
managers are available to every student at SOUL, whether enrolled in the classroom-based 
program or in Independent Study.  A family meeting is held upon enrollment, followed by several 
individual meetings so that a trusting relationship can be developed. Due to the typical SOUL 
student’s history of poor academic performance, truancy, and misbehavior, meeting with a SOUL 
case manager is often times the first positive interaction parents have had with the educational 
system in years.  Case managers are well versed in student needs assessment, and appropriate 
service and resource referrals.  Many of these referral based services are offered on, or near 
SOUL’s campus such as: 



 

35 
 

 
 

• Mental health counseling provided by Kaiser Permanente’s Psychology Department 
Interns.  

• Personal coaching and support provided by Fresno State’s Social Work Department 
interns.   

• Temporary shelter and counseling for runaway and out-of-control youth by the EOC 
Sanctuary Youth Shelter. 

• Child care and child development classes offered by Fresno EOC’s Head Start/Early Head 
Start Program at SOUL’s Early Head Start child development center 

• Health service needs provided by Fresno EOC’s health clinic.  
• Housing and homelessness issues addressed by Fresno EOC’s Housing Project services 

 
For the past two years, SOUL has contracted with a local counseling center to provide Success for 
Life Training to SOUL students. Students and staff meet weekly in a group setting and in addition, 
individual coaching sessions are available upon request. Through the year, students and staff learn 
the power of creating a life vision and explore the dynamics of the steps necessary to translate 
vision into action. Students and staff build partnerships with one another while students practice 
goal-setting by imagining their lives in the short term and begin to build the foundation for their 
future. The support of partnerships is invaluable for success. Learning how to work as a team helps 
with developing social skills and communication skills, and has proven to have a positive impact in 
the classroomon students. 

SOUL’s greatest resource is not merely an academic program that mirrors other traditional and 
non-traditional high schools. Rather, SOUL provides a wide variety of avenues designed to connect 
students to school, whether it be through delivery of special resources and support services, or 
through participation in extracurricular activities.  SOUL’s alternative educational setting is a vehicle 
of opportunity, providing it‘s students a way out of their previous cycle of truancy and 
disconnectedness. SOUL delivers relevant prescriptive resources and services designed to 
increase school attendance, connectedness, and involvement in extracurricular activities. Services 
include home visits to identified truants, individualized counseling, parent engagement 
opportunities, and scheduled participation in extracurricular and community activities.  
 
SOUL provides a host of opportunities designed to connect students with the concept of school, 
such as youth mentoring, career development, leadership, community service clubs, musical 
education, and sports. All of these programs work hand in hand to create a level of mutual respect 
among students and staff, and an atmosphere of engagement between the students and their 
education. The personal relationships established in a small school setting allow for a greater 
understanding, acceptance, and tolerance among staff and students.  
 
SOUL has developed an annual parent involvement plan, which encourages parents to attend 
scheduled meetings and activities throughout the year. Over the past five years, increased parent 
participation and communication with staff has correlated with increased student attendance, 



 

36 
 

academic improvement, and positive student behavior and motivation. Truancy prevention efforts, 
pro-parent activities, academic support, and case management referrals have proven to lead to 
increased student attendance, an increased number of credits earned per semester, and more 
positive student behavior. SOUL’s Truancy Prevention Officer works closely with the Principal to 
organize parent meetings focused on best practice parental strategies that can be used in 
addressing a child’s lack of engagement in regards to education.  Graduation roadmaps are 
developed for all 12th grade students. Graduation roadmaps include parent meetings, case 
management support, academic, personal, and career counseling, and a variety of community 
service referrals to insure a prescriptive course of action for each individual is prepared.  
 
SOUL prides itself on developing school connectedness in each of its students.  Every student is 
encouraged to participate in extracurricular activities. Participating in activities outside of the 
classroomcoursework helps students develop a relationship with the staff and educational 
environment, while encouraging a passion for regular attendance and pride in their 
accomplishments. For those students wishing to participate in sports, SOUL’s athletic program 
welcomes them, regardless of athletic ability or previous grade point average.  Some students 
choose to pursue the arts through learning a musical instrument, singing, painting or ceramics. 
Students are given several opportunities throughout the year to showcase their talents. Some 
students opt to participate in Leadership, where they find meaningful volunteer opportunities in 
their own communities, with the support and teamwork of their SOUL peers and staff.  Many 
students enroll in the career block classes where they can explore their strengths and interests, 
find meaning in their education, and grow through networks in the community.  Some glean value 
from  the Youth Mentoring program where they are trained, then placed in a child care setting 
where they mentor pre-school age children, while receiving valuable guidance or “mentorship”  
themselves.   
 
As with traditional, comprehensive high schools, SOUL offers ample opportunities for student 
involvement. However, SOUL distinguishes itself through its individual encouragement and 
relationship building with its students who have at other times felt isolated in the mainstream, and 
lacked the confidence to become invested in school.   SOUL has earned a reputation for its ability 
to promote connectedness and growth in student confidence which make new students want to 
enroll and enrolled students want to continue coming every day. It is the support and assistance 
from SOUL staff that helps students ease their life stressors and free their minds to learn. It is then, 
and only then, that the classroom teachers can successfully impart the knowledge and expertise 
of their course content with a level of enthusiasm and high expectations for student success.  At 
that point we recognize an increase in motivation to do well, the confidence to put forth greater 
effort to build skills which have been lacking, and the spirit to strive for academic, personal, and 
social growth. 
 
Extracurricular Programs and Services 
 
As previously mentioned, SOUL offers tutoring and remediation as part of its after-school program.  
Extracurricular activities are open to Independent Study students as well as classroom basedall 
students.  
 



 

37 
 

 
 
Charter School Athletic League 
 
The Charter School Activities League (CSAL) was started by SOUL in 2000 as another means to 
improve students’ commitment to education and provide positive alternatives in the form of 
recreational/social activities.  This athletic component provides healthy, structured competition 
between charter schools, continuation schools, and other organized youth groups in the greater 
Fresno area.  This program provides opportunities for students to compete with their peers and 
enjoy a fun, wholesome recreational environment. SOUL students are encouraged to participate in 
the CSAL sports program, which includes football, basketball, volleyball and mushball. At present, 
twelve alternative schools participate in the CSAL. Parents are invited to show their support for the 
school and their children by attending CSAL sporting events and are encouraged to take an active 
role in promoting school spirit and friendly competition. Each year, over 40 SOUL students 
participate in sports. 
 
Attendance Expectations and Requirements  
 
Students cannot learn if they are not actively participating in their own learningearn if they do not 
attend school. Every SOUL student is expected to arrive engage in theirto classes every daywith 
the required frequency articulated in their independent study master agreement or toand attend 
their scheduled class appointments, on time and prepared to work with appropriate materials and 
assignments. Parent conferences are scheduled for students demonstrating excessive truancy. 
Attendance contracts are used to help students set goals and plan strategies for improvement. 
 
The maximum number of full-day absences that a student can have in the classroom based 
program in any given semester is 17. When a student reaches nine absences of any kind he/she 
is placed on an attendance contract.  If the student breaks the attendance contract due to an invalid 
absence, the student may be considered for withdrawal from school. A student’s absence may be 
termed valid due to personal illness, attendance at the funeral service of member of the immediate 
family, or a partial or full-day absence due to a medical, dental, or court appointment. Valid 
absences are counted in the total number of allowable absences each semester.   
 
There are times throughout the year that a student may be absent for more than one day due to 
illness, travel, or unexpected family crises. SOUL’s classroom-based program offers a short-term 
Independent Study option for students needing to be absent for a period of two to ten school days. 
Pursuant to California Education Code 51747, during their short-term absence from school, 
students are assigned independent work, which is supervised by their parent/guardian and due 
upon their designated date of return. Students who successfully complete the assigned work are 
not marked absent during the days missed. Students who fail to submit completed assignments by 
the due date designated on their Independent Study contract are marked absent for all days 
missed. Students interested in the Short-Term Independent Study program must meet with their 
case manager and complete all necessary paperwork before they can participate.   
 



 

38 
 

A call must be placed to appropriate staff within 24 hours of a student’s absence to validate that 
day’s absence. In the case of consecutive absences due to illness, a phone call must be placed 
every day that the student is out in order to validate those day’s absences.   
 
By the end of the first hour of school each day, a case manager collects attendance from all 
(classroom-based) first period classes to identify students who are absent. Phone calls are placed 
to a parent/guardian for each student to inform them of the student’s absence and/or to determine 
the reason for the absence. As part of SOUL’s outreach efforts, any absent student on the “Top 
25” list (students who have established themselves as one of SOUL’s 25 worst truancy cases) or 
student in violation of an attendance contract is the recipient of a home visit.  Home visits are 
conducted to make direct contact with the parent/guardian and determine the basis for the student’s 
absence. If deemed necessary, the student and family are referred to additional social services. 
 

When aan Independent Study student is absent, the teacher calls the student’s home during the 
time of the missed appointment to determine the reason for the absence. Teachers give the 
students an opportunity to reschedule their appointment within the same week. It is considered an 
absence if an Independent Study student does not meet with his/her teacher at least once per 
week. Every effort is made to encourage students to keep their appointment and complete all 
assigned work. However, after three absences, or after three appointments with no work 
completed, an Independent Study student may be removed from the program due to lack of 
progress and/or poor attendance.  
 
Notice to Parents of Student Transferability  
 

Upon enrolling their child in SOUL and each year thereafter, parents are notified during a scheduled 
orientation of SOUL’s transferability and its status for “a-g” course list approval. While SOUL is in 
the process of obtaining the “a-g” course list approval, students have the option of taking UC-
approved core courses through the concurrent enrollment program at a local adult school or on 
PLATO. Information in regards to course transferability to other schools and eligibility of courses in 
meeting college entrance requirements is also made available to parents at scheduled parent 
meetings and upon parental request. Each school year, the parent/guardian of each student 
receives a parent/student handbook that outlines each of the courses offered at SOUL.  
 

If a student expresses a desire to return to their district high school, every effort is made to 
collaborate with that school’s counseling staff to ensure a seamless transition back into the 
student’s home school. The same effort applies should a student desire to transfer to another 
charter school or adult school. Upon request, a withdrawal form and transcript are provided to the 
parent and an official copy is sent to their school of choice. Every effort is made on behalf of SOUL 
staff to counsel the student and family regarding the transfer to ensure it is an appropriate choice 
for their academic success. 
 

SOUL encourages all students to pursue the academic setting most beneficial to them. Historically, 
a very small percentage of SOUL students return to a traditional high school. Twelfth grade 
students who transfer out of SOUL typically attend another charter school, an adult school program, 
or simply drop out of school. In some cases, 9th, 10th and 11th grade students who choose to return 
to a traditional school will re-enroll at SOUL at a later time. Students often discover that upon return 



 

39 
 

to a “traditional” high school, many of the same barriers and pitfalls are still present, further 
contributing to the students’ cycle of failure.  
 
Charter School Goals, Measurable Outcomes, and Methods of Measurement 
 
For purposes of this material revision, insofar as the law has changed in relation to the Eight State 
Priorities and law related to the Charter School’s goals, measurable outcomes, and methods of 
measurement, pursuant to Education Code Sections 47605(c)(5)(A)(ii) and 47605(c)(5)(B), a 
reasonably comprehensive description of the Charter School’s operative annual goals, actions and 
measurable outcomes, both schoolwide and for each subgroup of pupils, in and aligned with the 
Eight State Priorities as described in Education Code Section 52060(d), can be found in the Charter 
School’s LCAP. Each of these goals addresses the unique needs of all students attending the 
Charter School, including our numerically significant student subgroups. The current LCAP is on 
file with the District. 
  



 

40 
 

Element B: Measurable Pupil Outcomes 
 
“The measureable pupil outcomes identified for use by the charter school. “Pupil outcomes,” for 
purposes of this part, means the extent to which all pupils of the charter school demonstrate that 
they have attained the skills, knowledge, and attitudes specified as goals in the charter school’s 
educational program. Pupil outcomes shall include outcomes that address increases in pupil 
academic achievement both schoolwide and for all pupil subgroups served by the charter school, 
as that term is defined in subdivision (a) of Section 52052. The pupil outcomes shall align with the 
state priorities, as described in subdivision (d) of Section 52060, that apply for the grade levels 
served by the charter school. Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(B).” 
 
 

 
 Review of 2013-2018 Charter Goals 

Green= met or exceeded goal, Yellow = making progress toward goal, Red = did not meet goal.  
 
  

Pupil Outcomes 

Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) Academic Goals 

SOUL will increase the 
annual  pass rate of the 
California High School Exit 
Exam in both  and 
Language Arts  

California High 
School Exit 
Exam 

Annually 

Minimum increase 
of 2 percentage 
points per year for a 
five year period 
ending June 2018. 

 
                    Math                      ELA  
            Target    Actual      Target     Actual 
2013:     23%       20%          31%       31% 

2014:     25%       22%          33%       32% 

2015:     27%       36%          35%       47% 

2016:  Discontinued 

2017    Discontinued 
 

SOUL will increase the 
number of students 
performing at grade level 
or above in both Reading 
and Math.  

Test of Adult 
Basic Education 
(TABE)  
 
 California High 
School Exit 
Exam  
 
Edmentum 
Accucess ( Pre-
tests, Post-tests, 
and 
Prescriptions)   
  
Achieve 3000 
 
 

Annually 
 
 
 

Minimum increase 
of 4 percentage 
points in Math and 2 
percentage points 
per year in Reading 
and for a five year 
period ending June 
2018.    

                      Math                  Reading  
             Target     Actual        Target        Actual   
TABE 

2014:      26%       52%             54%     55%    

ACCUCESS 

2015:      30%     63%               56%      78% 

2016:      34%     60%*              58%     67%* 

2017:      38%    49%*               60%     60%* 

*Note: Despite meeting the established percentage 
target, math and reading scores denote a two-year 
downward trend.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

41 
 

Pupil Outcomes Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) 

SOUL will increase 
subject standards 
proficiency percentages on 
State standardized tests. 

 
California 
Standards Tests 
(CSTs)  
 
 
 

Annually 
 
 

Minimum 4% 
increase in 
proficiency levels in 
English,  Science, 
and Social Science 
each year for a five 
year period ending 
June 2018 

   
Discontinued in 
2014 
 

Subject Base 2013 
 ELA 9 13% 7% 
ELA 10 14% 16% 
ELA 11 6% 3% 
Alg 1 7% 0% 
Geometry 0% 0% 
US History 4% 7% 
Wld Hist 6% 25% 
Biol 3% 2% 
Earth 23% 4% 

SOUL will increase the 
number of students 
meeting or exceeding 
standards on State 
standardized tests in ELA 
and math. 

CAASPP 
 Annually 

Minimum 3%  per 
year increase of 
students meeting or 
exceeding 
standards in 
CAASPP  ELA and  
Math  

 
Percentage of Students Who Met or Exceeded Standard 

   2016 2017 

 Base Target Actual Target Actual 

ELA 8% 11% 18% 14% 16% 

Math 3% 6% 0% 9% 2% 
 

SOUL will increase its 
annual graduation rate. 
 

 

  
 
CDE Graduation 
Rate 
 
 
CDE Dataquest 
 
  
 
 
SOUL Internal 
Graduation Rate 
 
 

Annually 

SOUL’s graduation 
rate will meet or 
exceed California’s 
minimum graduation 
rate as set by CDE 
based on a 5Y 
Cohort 
measurement. 
 
 
 
Internal graduation 
rate will meet or 
exceed 90% each 
year. 

Using 2012 baseline data, SOUL will meet or exceed 
California’s minimum graduation rate set by the CA 
Department of Education. 
 
              CDE   Rate                                 
               4Yr *       5 Yr *      CDE Target Met         
2013       33%          33%             Y                     
2014       25%          44%             Y                     
2015       20%          44%             Y                     
2016       35%          41%             Y                     
2017       TBD          TBD     
                                
*4 year cohort from CDE Dataquest 
*5 year cohort from CDE  AYP  reports 
 
Internal Graduation Rate is determined by the number of 
12th grade students who need 70 credits or fewer to 
graduate. This calculation does not reflect the 12th grade 
students who need 70 or more credits and not expected 
to graduate in that school year. 
 
Internal Graduation Rate 
  
                     Internal       Internal         

 Year               Goal          Actual                     
2013                90%            86%       

2014                90%            90% 

2015                90%            93% 

2016                90%            94% 

2017                90%            94% 



 

42 
 

Pupil Outcomes Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) 

SOUL students will 
demonstrate increased 
connectedness and 
motivation for academic 
success. 

Daily attendance 
records 

Ongoing 
Annually 

 90% or better 
attendance in both 
the classroom based 
and Independent 
Study programs 
each year for the 
five year period 
ending June 2018. 

 
Baseline attendance rate was based on 2011/2012 P2 
attendance rate of 85% in classroom based and 80% in 
Independent Study.   
 
Target attendance rate for all years is 90% ADA to 
Enrollment 
 
2013          82%   

2014          90% 

2015          92% 

2016          95% 

2017          90% 

Suspension 
Report  to 
California Dept. 
of Education 
(School 
Accountability 
Report Card ) 

Annually 

Decrease 
suspension 
percentages by 5% 
each year for the 
five year period 
ending June 2018. 
 

 
Baseline suspension rate was based on 2011/2012 CDE 
suspension rate. Suspension percentages were 33% of 
total classroom based student enrollment. 
 
             Target        Actual 

2013         33%           14% 

2014         28%           15%        

2015:         23%          16% 

2016:        18 %          11% 

2017:        13 %            6% 

Case 
management 
student files  
SOUL’s Heart 
and Soul Club 
Community 
Service 
Participation 
Log. 

Bi-annually 

75% of all 
classroom-based 
students enrolled 90 
days or more will 
participate in a 
minimum of 10 
hours of 
extracurricular/ 
volunteer activities 
per semester. 

 
Year     Actual 

2013     78% 

2014     80% 

2015     82% 

2016  Discontinued due to reduction in staffing 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

43 
 

Pupil Outcomes Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) 

SOUL students will value 
and demonstrate 
knowledge of post-
secondary education and 
career choices. 

Career class 
roster 
Job shadowing 
logs 
College 
enrollment data 
Career 
assessment 
data 

Annually 

100% of graduates 
will have completed 
a  career 
assessment,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A minimum of 90% 
of graduates will 
have a post-
secondary plan.  
 
 
 
 

 

100% of all graduates will have completed a career 

assessment. 

2013    100% 

2014    100% 

2015    100% 

2016    100% 

2017    100% 

90% of graduates will have a post-secondary plan. 

2013    100% 

2014    100% 

2015    100% 

2016    100% 

2017    100% 

 

Green= met or exceeded goal, Yellow = making progress toward goal, Red = did not meet goal.  Above data found on pages 4-8. 

Table 1:  Pupil Outcomes Table – 2013-2018 
  



 

44 
 

The School of Unlimited Learning has met some of its charter goals within the current charter 
petition period. The following charts represent the four academic goals and two schoolwide goals 
stated in the current charter petition. The academic goals of the School of Unlimited Learning for 
the five-year period ending June 2018 are as follows: 

Charter Goal Progress Year to Date 

SOUL will increase the annual pass rate 
of students taking the California High 
School Exit Exam two percentage points 
per year for a five year period ending 
June 2018. 

From the 2013/2014 school year until CAHSEE 
was discontinued, SOUL met or made progress 
toward its goals, averaging 3-year growth rate by 
20% in math and  18%  in English language arts.    

SOUL will increase the number of 
students performing at or above grade 
level in both reading and math each year 
for a five-year period ending June 2018. 

Although SOUL met its established goals, for 
three consecutive years there was a downward 
trend in both reading and math in the percentage 
of students meeting or exceeded grade level. 

SOUL will increase the percentage of 
students scoring at the proficient and 
advanced levels on the California 
Standardized Tests (CSTs) in English, 
Math, Social Science and Science by 
four percentage points each year for the 
five-year period ending June 2018. 

Goal was discontinued due to elimination of 
California Standardized Testing during the first 
year of the charter. The goal was readdressed 
using test scores from the California 
Assessment of Student Performance and 
Progress (CAASPP).  

Using the 2015 CAASPP test results as 
a baseline, SOUL will increase the 
percentage of students meeting or 
exceeding the standard by three 
percentage points in both ELA and Math 

SOUL has exceeded its projected growth in 
ELA, but has fallen short in Math for the past two 
years. SOUL has performed lower than 
traditional high schools, but has outperformed 
similar alternative schools in most areas. All 
subgroups demonstrate a need for greater 
prescriptive efforts to address ELA and Math 
proficiency levels. 

Each year for a five-year period ending 
June 2018, SOUL’s graduation rate will 
meet or exceed SOUL’s California cohort 
graduation rate goal set by the California 
Department of Education. 

SOUL met or exceeded its state graduation rate 
all four years based on the alternative “five-year 
cohort method” which is used by the State for 
schools that do not meet the State target but 
have at least one additional graduate in the 5 
year cohort. SOUL’s internal graduation rate 
averaged 90% or above for four of the past five 
years.  

    Table 2: Progress toward academic charter goals: 2013-2018 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

45 
 

The table below highlights SOUL’s schoolwide goals for the five-year period ending June 2018: 

Charter Goal Progress Year to Date 

SOUL students will demonstrate 
increased connectedness and motivation 
for academic success.   

SOUL’s schoolwide attendance rates have 
increased steadily over the past five years, while 
suspension rates have declined.   

SOUL students will value and 
demonstrate knowledge for post-
secondary education and career choices. 

During the past five years, SOUL has increased 
its career technical education offerings and 
developed partnerships with the community to 
expose students to a wider array of career 
education opportunities. 

    Table 3: Progress toward schoolwide charter goals: 2013-2018 

For the past five years, SOUL has met or made progress toward meeting most of its charter goals. 
For the upcoming charter renewal cycle, the School of Unlimited Learning stakeholder groups 
have worked with the school’s leadership team to address performance goals and outcomes that 
are closely aligned with SOUL’s WASC Schoolwide Action Plan and Local Control and 
Accountability Plan. An action plan for meeting the goals in the new charter has been developed 
for the goals which were not met in the current charter.  
 

During the past five years, the State of California has undergone a myriad of significant changes. 
In 2014, the California Standardized Testing (CST) system was suspended in preparation for the 
Common-Core aligned CAASPP testing. Likewise, in 2016, the California High School Exit Exam 
was suspended. These two high-stakes testing systems constituted two schoolwide charter goals, 
which were modified due to State changes. Established in 2013, the Local Control Funding Formula 
restructured school funding in California and created the Local Control and Accountability Plan 
(LCAP), which requires each school district to engage parents, educators, employees and the 
community to establish these plans. The LCAP describes the school district’s overall vision for 
students, annual goals and specific actions the district will take to achieve the vision and goals, 
and demonstrate how the district’s budget will help achieve the goals, and assess each year how 
well the strategies in the plan were able to improve outcomes.  
 
SOUL’s academic performance results and subsequent program improvement efforts have 
resulted in changes to measurable pupil outcomes and learning goals. For the next five years, 
SOUL has defined two academic goals and two schoolwide goals, which are fully aligned with 
SOUL’s Local Control Accountability Plan and WASC Action Plan. The school’s research-based 
instructional practices and complementing curricular alignment with Common Core State 
Standards focus on professional development activities and the improvement of Common Core 
standards-based instruction. SOUL’s new charter goals address the gaps and deficiencies in 
student academic performance as evidenced by the compilation and analysis of student data over 
the last five-year period.  
 
 
 



 

46 
 

New 2018-2023 Charter Goals  
 
For purposes of this material revision, insofar as the law has changed in relation to the Eight State 
Priorities and law related to the Charter School’s goals, measurable outcomes, and methods of 
measurement, pursuant to Education Code Sections 47605(c)(5)(A)(ii) and 47605(c)(5)(B), a 
reasonably comprehensive description of the Charter School’s operative annual goals, actions and 
measurable outcomes, both schoolwide and for each subgroup of pupils, in and aligned with the 
Eight State Priorities as described in Education Code Section 52060(d), can be found in the Charter 
School’s LCAP. Each of these goals addresses the unique needs of all students attending the 
Charter School, including our numerically significant student subgroups. The current LCAP is on 
file with the District. 
 
This section will present the new charter goals in light of the past five years of student data as of 
the Charter School’s most recent renewal. The academic goals of the School of Unlimited Learning 
for the five-year period ending June 2023 shall include the following: 

 
Academic Goal 1:        Improve student academic performance and college and career readiness 

by increasing reading and math levels of all SOUL Students. 
 
Academic Goal 2:     Create greater student access to post-secondary opportunities by 

increasing school graduation rate.    
 

Schoolwide Goal 1:       Increase student connectedness and motivation for academic success 
during and beyond high school through increased student attendance and 
greater exposure to career education opportunities. 

 
Schoolwide Goal 2:   Increase student success through active parent participation, involvement, 

and engagement.    
 
New Charter Academic Goal 1: Improve student academic performance and college and career 
readiness by increasing reading and math levels of all SOUL students. 
 
Nearly 80% of all students who enroll in SOUL are severely skill deficient in math and/or reading. 
Since SOUL'’s inception nearly 20 years ago, the average entry reading level for incoming SOUL 
students remained consistent at a 6.5 grade level, whereas math levels have consistently averaged 
a 5.5 grade level. The averages of students coming from traditional high schools have remained 
virtually unchanged for the past five years. Close monitoring of student reading and math levels 
will continue to provide SOUL ongoing data regarding student achievement, and will assist in 
determining intervention needs.   
 

 
 
 
 



 

47 
 

Analysis of Student Data 
 
Surrounding and Similar Schools Performance Data 
 
The California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress data measures performance of 
11th grade students taking the CAASPP ELA and Math exams. All available performance data from 
the California Department of Education website were used to compare three years of SOUL 
CAASPP results with those of surrounding and similar schools. To determine which schools were 
used for comparisons, SOUL calculated the numbers of students who enrolled in SOUL from each 
of the surrounding schools. The two traditional high schools with the highest population enrolling 
at SOUL over the past 5 years were Roosevelt and Fresno High. The performance of these 
traditional, comprehensive high schools (labeled “FUSD”) was compared to SOUL’s data. 
Comparisons of schools similar to SOUL’s demographics included two Fresno Unified alternative 
schools, Cambridge and J.E. Young, and a Fresno area charter school, Carter G. Woodson 
(labeled “Similar”). All scores reflect 11thgrade student results, since CAASPP tests only 11th grade 
high school students.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAASPP Overall ELA Proficiency- 
Standard  Met or Exceeded  

2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 44% 38% 39% 
Fresno High 40% 31% 44% 
Similar      
SOUL 8% 18% 16% 
JE Young 9% 11% 11% 
Cambridge 2&  9% 2% 
Woodson 1% 10% 20% 

CAASPP Overall Proficiency –  
Standard  Met or Exceeded 

 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 9% 9% 6% 
Fresno High 8% 8% 8% 
Similar      
SOUL 3% 0% 2% 
JE Young 1% 1% 0% 
Cambridge 1% 0% 0% 
Woodson 0% 1% 0% 

Table 4: 3-yr comparison of overall 11th Grade 
CAASPP ELA proficiency.(Source: CDE) 

Table 5: 3-yr comparison of overall 11thGrade 
CAASPP Math proficiency.  (Source: CDE) 



 

48 
 

As depicted in the tables above, in 2016, SOUL made a significant increase in ELA over the 
previous year, but dropped slightly in 2017. In overall math scores, SOUL dropped in 2016 over 
the previous year, but made slight gains in 2017.  
 
 

 
 

 

CAASPP results are presented in two ways.  According to the CDE website, achievement level 
descriptors (not met, nearly met, met, and exceeded) are intended to aid interpretation of the four 
categories; however, they are less precise than scaled scores for describing student growth or 
changes in achievement gaps among groups of students since they do not reveal changes of 
student scores within the four levels. For the purposes of comparing SOUL’s overall performance 
on CAASPP, only the top two Achievement Levels reported, failing to provide a detailed 
comparison of the overall performance of students. When comparing the average mean scale 
scores of SOUL to the average mean scale scores of the similar schools, SOUL has outperformed 
the similar schools for the past three years.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Comparisons by Subgroups 
 
Due to SOUL’s small enrollment, only three subgroups yielded reportable data: ethnicity, 
socioeconomically disadvantaged, and gender. Two SOUL subgroups- English learners and 
students with disabilities- were too small to yield reports.   
 
Comparison by Ethnicity 
 
Within the subgroup Ethnicity, only “Hispanic” was large enough to yield reportable results for SOUL. 
The tables below provide three-year comparative data of 11-grade students for the subgroup 
“Hispanic”. The percentages of students who met or exceeded the standards were varied among 

Chart 1: 3-year comparison of overall ELA mean 
scale scores. (Source: CDE)  
 

Chart 2:  3-yr comparison of overall math mean scale 
scores.  (Source: CDE) 

2400

2450

2500

2550

2600

SOUL Similar FUSD

25
01

24
51

25
59

25
06

24
70

25
37

24
94

24
74

25
47

2015 2016 2017

2400

2450

2500

2550

2600

SOUL Similar FUSD

24
48

24
21

24
93

24
29

24
25

24
92

24
34

24
16

24
88

2015 2016 2017

CAASPP Overall Proficiency: MathCAASPP Overall Proficiency: ELA 



 

49 
 

all of the similar schools, but SOUL scored the same or higher than 50% of the similar schools in 
the number of Hispanic students who met or exceeded standards all three years.   
 
 

CAASPP ELA Proficiency: Hispanic- 
Standard  Met or Exceeded 

 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 41% 37% 36% 
Fresno High 38% 31% 43% 
Similar     
SOUL 10% 15% 10% 
JE Young 10% 11% 11% 
Cambridge 2% 8% 2% 
Woodson 2% 10% 21% 

  
 
 
Comparison by Socio-Economically Disadvantaged 
 
SOUL’s socio-economically disadvantaged 11th grade students increased significantly from 2015 
to 2016, but dropped in 2017. In Math, SOUL increased in 2017 after two years of zero percent of 
11th grade students who met or exceeded the standard.  In comparing similar schools, SOUL had 
a higher percentage of students who met or exceeded the standards in ELA two of the three years, 
outperforming JE Young and Cambridge all three years.  The percentage of students who met or 
exceeded the standards in Math was low for all similar schools; however SOUL experienced an 
increase in Math achievement levels in 2017. 
 
 
 

CAASPP ELA Socioeconomically 
Disadvantaged  

Standard Met or Exceeded 
 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 42% 35% 37% 
Fresno High 39% 29% 44% 
Similar      
SOUL 5% 19% 13% 
JE Young 5% 10% 11% 
Cambridge 2% 7% 2% 
Woodson 1% 7% 19% 

 
 
 
 

CAASPP  Proficiency: Hispanic- 
Standard  Met or Exceeded 

 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt  7% 7% 6% 
Fresno High 7% 6% 10% 
Similar     
SOUL 0% 0% 3% 
JE Young 0% 0% 0% 
Cambridge 1% 0% 0% 
Woodson 0% 1% 0% 

CAASPP  Socioeconomically 
Disadvantaged  

Standard Met or Exceeded 
 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 8% 8% 6% 
Fresno High 9% 8% 9% 
Similar    
SOUL 0% 0% 3% 
JE Young 0% 1% 0% 
Cambridge 1% 0% 0% 
Woodson 0% 1% 0% 

Table 8:  3-yr comparison of CAASPP 11th grade ELA 
Proficiency: Socio-Economically Disadvantaged. 
(Source: CDE)                                       
 

Table 9:  3-yr comparison of CAASPP 11th Grade 
Proficiency: Socio-Economically Disadvantaged. 
(Source: CDE) 

Table 7:  3-yr comparison CAASPP 11th Grade 
Proficiency- Hispanic.  (Source: CDE)                                       
 

Table 6:  3-yr comparison CAASPP 11th Grade ELA 
Proficiency- Hispanic.  (Source: CDE)                                       
 



 

50 
 

 
Subgroup Comparison by Gender 
 
 
CAASPP English Language Arts  
 
Consistent with SOUL’s overall performance and that of other subgroups, in 2017 SOUL 
experienced a decrease in ELA among 11th grade males after a significant increase the previous 
year. Conversely, SOUL’s 11th grade females increased steadily over the three-year period, 
outperforming the similar schools in 2016 and 2017. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
CAASPP Math  
 
CAASPP Math proficiency results revealed that after two years of zero percent of SOUL’s 11-grade 
male students meeting or exceeding the standard, SOUL was the only school among similar 
schools to increase its percentages in 2017.  Conversely, SOUL’s 11th grade female students 
experienced two consecutive years of zero percent meeting or exceeding the standard  in  math 
after dropping significantly from 2015 proficiency levels. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAASPP ELA: Male  
 Standard Met or Exceeded 

 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 43% 28% 30% 
Fresno High 35% 29% 30% 
Similar     
SOUL 9% 17% 11% 
JE Young 5% 7% 8% 
Cambridge 1% 9% 3% 
Woodson 2% 4% 16% 

CAASPP ELA Proficiency: Female  
Standard Met or Exceeded 

 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 45% 45% 47% 
Fresno High 45% 35% 56% 
Similar     
SOUL 7% 20% 25% 
JE Young 11% 15% 15% 
Cambridge 4% 8% 1% 
 Woodson 0% 15% 24% 

        
                                            

 
 

 

Table 11:   3-yr comparison of CAASPP 11th grade 
ELA proficiency:  Female.  (Source: CDE)                                       

Table 10:   3-yr comparison of CAASSP  
11th Grade Proficiency:  Male (Source CDE)                                       
 



 

51 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Internal Data: Accucess Reading and Math Tests by Edmentum’s Plato Systems 
 
To measure student ongoing progress in reading and math, SOUL uses Edmentum’s Accucess 
assessments. Students are given a pre-test, a mid-year test, and posttest each year to determine 
growth in reading and math. A student who scores 1000 or above is considered to be at grade 
level. Accucess creates an individualized prescription based on students’ pre-test scores.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
During the 2013/2014 school year, SOUL students were given the Test of Adult Basic Education 
(TABE) 9 and 10 pre-test and post-test in math and reading. Due to SOUL’s open entry 
admissions policy, pre-test and post-test dates were varied.  Using TABE results from 2013, a 
baseline of 52% grade-level proficiency in reading and 22% grade-level proficiency in math, SOUL 
set as a goal in 2014 an annual increase of two percentage points in reading and four percentage 
points in math, with the overall goal of 62% in reading and 42% in math by 2018. It should be 

CAASPP  Math Proficiency: Female  
Standard Met or Exceeded  

2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 7% 9% 4% 
Fresno High 6% 6% 7% 
Similar     
SOUL 6% 0% 0% 
JE Young 0% 1% 0% 
Cambridge 0% 0% 0% 
Woodson 0% 2% 2% 

CAASPP Math Proficiency: Male  
 Standard Met or Exceeded 

 2015 2016 2017 
FUSD    
Roosevelt 11% 8% 8% 
Fresno High 9% 9% 9% 
Similar    
SOUL 0% 0% 4% 
JE Young 1% 1% 0% 
Cambridge 1% 0% 0% 
Woodson 0% 0% 0% 

Chart 4: Four-year schoolwide percentage gains in 
math. (Source: TABE and Accucess) 
 

Chart 3: Four-year schoolwide percentage gains 
in reading.  (Source: TABE and Accucess) 
 

    
 

         
                                            

 

Table 13: 3-yr comparison of 11th Grade CAASPP 
Math Proficiency:  Female. (Source: CDE)                                       
 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2014 2015 2016 2017

54
%

56
%

58
%

60
%

55
%

78
%

67
%

60
%

Reading Goal Reading Actual

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2014 2015 2016 2017

26
% 30
% 34
% 38
%52

% 63
%

60
%

49
%

Math Goal Math Actual

Table 12: 3-yr comparison of 11th Grade CAASPP 
Math Proficiency:  Male. (Source: CDE 



 

52 
 

noted that the goals were originally written using a baseline from only TABE results, which had 
revealed lower levels of achievement. The integration of multiple indicators resulted in higher 
student achievement outcomes. Since the original reading and math targets remained unchanged, 
it may appear that the goals were underestimated.   
 
Prior to 2014, SOUL used TABE exclusively to measure growth in reading and math proficiency. 
Because TABE was a “no-stakes” test and many of SOUL’s high achieving students were not 
scoring well on post-tests, additional indicators were adopted. Using multiple measures is a more 
comprehensive indicator of student growth. In Fall 2014, TABE was replaced by Edmentum’s 
Accucess pre and post-tests and online reading and math prescriptions. CAASPP results replaced 
CAHSEE reading and math when CAHSEE was discontinued. Students who met or exceeded the 
standards on CAASPP were considered at grade level; however CAASPP measures only 11th 
grade student performance. Achieve 3000 was adopted to measure lexile level growth of all 
students.  Using multiple measures, if students meet grade level in any of the indicators, they are 
counted among the students who met grade level.    
 
As depicted in the table below, SOUL exceeded its established goals for all four years in both 
reading and math.  However, despite this accomplishment, the data reveal a downward trend for 
the past three years. A possible explanation for SOUL’s downward trend was the elimination of 
CAHSEE. As a high-stakes test, CAHSEE encouraged more students to study harder to meet 
grade level standards by passing in order to graduate. When CAHSEE was discontinued, many 
students had little or no incentive to perform well on Accucess pre and post-tests or CAASPP. 
 
 

  2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 
 Baseline Goal Actual Goal Actual Goal Actual Goal Actual 

Reading  52%  54%  55% 56% 78% 58% 67% 60% 60% 
Math 22% 26% 52% 30% 63% 34% 60% 38% 49% 

Table 14:  SOUL’s Projected goals and actual reading and math at grade level: 2014-2017. (Source: TABE and 
Accucess) 

 

Gains by Type of Program 
 

 During the 2014/2015 school year, with the adoption of Edmentum’s online Accucess testing, and 
the subsequent individualized prescriptions to assist students in reaching grade level, SOUL 
began to include in its reporting the students who tested at or reached grade level by the end of 
the year.  The charts below depict gains in reading and math by program. “Seated” refers to the 
classroom based program, while “IS” refers to the Independent Study Program. In reading, the 
seated and Independent Study programs met or exceeded their goals in three of the four years of 
the current charter period. With respect to math, the seated program met its goals all four years, 
while the Independent Study program met or exceeded its goals three of the four years. However, 
the same downward trend over the past three years is evident in both the seated and Independent 
Study programs. Students in the Independent Study Program performed significantly lower than 
those in the seated program. 
 
 
 
 

 



 

53 
 

 Reading Math 
 Goal Seated IS Goal Seated IS 

2014 54% 51% 58% 26% 60% 44% 
2015 56% 93% 71% 30% 80% 55% 
2016 58% 77% 62% 34% 85% 46% 
2017 60% 74% 53% 38% 76% 35% 

 Table 15: SOUL’s projected goals and actual reading and math grade-level gains by program:  
 2014-2017. (Source: TABE and Accucess) 
 

Gains by Grade Level  
 

In the absence of State STAR testing, an analysis by grade level was conducted using Accucess 
data from 2015 to 2017.  Since CAASPP measures only 11th grade student performance, 
Accucess results reveal student levels of performance in reading and math for all grades.  
Although CAASPP revealed a downward trend all three years, the 11th grade Accucess data 
demonstrates an actual upward trend in both math and reading.  

 

Table 16:  Accucess 3- year three and post-test averages by grade level.  (Source: Accucess) 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
With respect to reading, in 2015, only 9th grade students made a grade-level grain of one year or 
more. However, for the following two years, each grade level met or exceeded a one-year or more 

 
2015 2016 2017 

Reading  pre  post pre post pre  post  
9 791 962 782 948 764 889 

10 617 710 748 901 759 889 
11 840 928 816 931 771 990 
12 822 891 816 961 906 1033      

  
 

 
2015 2016 2017 

Math pre  post pre post pre  post  
9 612 631 675 707 677 862 

10 795 862 599 773 609 890 
11 660 751 674 779 693 822 
12 657 751 656 790 763 860 

Chart 5: Accucess Reading 3-year pre and post -
test gains by grade level. (Source: Accucess) 
 

Chart 6: Math:  3- year pre and post-test gains 
by grade level. (Source: Accucess) 

0

1

2

3

9th 10th 11th 12th

0.19

0.67 0.91 0.69

0.32

1.7

1.1
1.3

1.9

2.8

1.3
1

Math 2015 Math 2016

Math 2017

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

9th 10th 11th 12th

1.7

1.0 0.88
0.69

1.6 1.5

1.1

1.5
1.3 1.3

2.2

1.3

Read 2015 Read 2016 Read 2017



 

54 
 

gain. In math, all grades fell below the goal of a one-grade level gain in 2015. However, grades 9 
through 11 made gains each year, while grade 12 dropped in 2017 after having made gains the 
previous year.  Notwithstanding the declines in 2017, grades 10 through 12 met or exceeded a 
one-year gain two of the three years. Ninth graders exceeded the goal in reading, and made 
significant gains in math in 2017, after falling short of the goal the previous two years.  The most 
significant gains in math were made in grades 9 and 10 during 2017. It must be noted that 11th and 
12th grade students constitute over 70% of SOUL’s student enrollment. Consequently, the 
significant gains in 9th and 10th grade reading have a limited impact on the overall percentage of 
student gains.  
 
California High School Exit Exam    
 
SOUL administered the CAHSEE through the 2014/2015 school year, at which time it was 
suspended by the California Department of Education. The California High School Exit Exam 
served as an indicator of SOUL students’ math and reading proficiency levels, as well as of SOUL’s 
graduation rate.  SOUL collected and reported CAHSEE data by overall program and by grade 
level.   
 
Overall CAHSEE Pass Rates 
 
Consistent with SOUL charter goals, SOUL set as a minimum goal a 2% annual increase in ELA 
and  pass rates each year for the three-year period ending in 2015. SOUL exceeded its goals in 
ELA two of the three years. Conversely, SOUL’s CAHSEE Math scores fell short in the first two 
years, but exceeded its goal in 2014/2015. 
 

 
                                     Chart 7:  SOUL CAHSEE ELA and math pass rates: 2013-2015.   
                                     (Source: CAHSEE Summary Reports, CDE) 
            
As indicated in the table below, SOUL’s overall pass rate in English Language Arts from 2013-
2015 was 39%, exceeding the overall three-year pass rate goal average of 33%. Likewise, SOUL’s 
average pass rate in math was 30%, which exceeded the three-year pass rate goal average of 
25%. 
 
 
 
 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2013 2014 2015

31
%

33
%

35
%

31
%

32
% 47

%

23
%

25
%

27
%

20
%

22
% 36

%

ELA Goal ELA  Actual Math Goal Math Actual



 

55 
 

 2013 2014 2015 Avg. Pass Rates 
Goal: ELA Pass Rate   31% 33% 35% 33% 
Actual: ELA Pass Rate 31% 32% 47% 39% 
Goal:  Pass Rate   23% 25% 27% 25% 
Actual:  Pass Rate 20% 22% 36% 30% 

Table 17: SOUL’s 3- year projected and actual CAHSEE ELA and Math pass rates.  
(Source: CAHSEE Summary Reports, CDE) 

 
CAHSEE Pass Rates by Grade 
 
When examining the CAHSEE ELA and  pass rates by grade, SOUL’s 10th grade students 
performed significantly better than the 11th  and 12th  grade students overall. Since 2013, SOUL’s 
10th grade students averaged a 49% annual pass rate in ELA (or 14% over the base year), whereas 
the 11th and 12th grade students averaged a 28% pass rate (7% average decrease over the base 
year). With respect to SOUL’s 10th grade students significantly outperformed their 11th and 12th 
grade counterparts with an average five-year pass rate of 44% (25% average increase above the 
base year) as compared to a 23% average five-year pass rate (4% average increase over the base 
year) for 11th and 12th grade students.  
 

        
                 Chart 8:  SOUL CAHSEE ELA and math pass rates by grade level: 2013-2015.  
                 (Source: CAHSEE Summary Reports, Fresno Unified) 
 
A comparison of the three-year average CAHSEE ELA rates by grade level revealed that 10th grade 
students outperformed 11th and 12th graders by 21% points.  Likewise, the 10th grade students who 
took the CAHSEE Math test outperformed their 11th and 12th grade counterparts by 21 percentage 
points. 
 

CAHSEE 2013 2014 2015 Avg. pass rate 
10th Grade ELA Pass Rate 39% 47% 60% 49%  
10th Grade  Pass Rate 26%  52% 41% 44%   
11th and 12th Grade ELA Pass Rate 24%  27% 36%  28%  
11th and 12th Grade  Pass Rate 20% 22% 36% 23%  

   

Table 18: SOUL CAHSEE ELA and math pass rates by grade level: 2013-2015 (Source: CAHSEE Summary Reports, 
CDE) 
 
 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

10th Grade ELA 10th Grade
Math

11th and 12th
Grade ELA

11th and 12th
Grade Math

39
%

26
%

24
%

20
%

47
% 52

%

27
%

22
%

60
%

41
%

36
%

36
%

2013 2014 2015



 

56 
 

Implications 
 
Intervention resources for skills deficient students, including English learners, have increased over 
the past three years. Students with deficiencies in reading and math were assigned individualized 
reading and/or math prescriptions to bring them to grade level. For Independent Study students, a 
tutorial schedule was devised for all skills deficient students, with scheduled time to work on their 
prescriptions before or after their appointments, or at any time before, during, or after school.  The 
inclusion of Achieve 3000’s reading improvement program into all core classes has provided 
additional support to students through a differentiated instructional approach. Achieve 3000 is 
aligned with State of California Core standards, and also incorporates literacy and ELD standards. 
Achieve 3000 has proven to be a valuable supplemental tool in developing literacy skills and 
increasing lexile levels. All teachers maintain a tutorial one day per week after school hours to 
assist Independent Study students performing below grade level in reading and math. Classroom-
based students are also encouraged to stay after school during their tutorial to work on their 
prescriptions.  
 
Areas for Improvement/Growth 
 
A comprehensive review of SOUL’s Charter Goals over the past five years reveals progress has 
been made in some areas with respect to increased student achievement, while some deficiencies 
exist in other areas.  Notwithstanding increases in intervention resources, scores for reading and 
math reveal a slight downward trend for three consecutive years. A primary cause for the decline 
in reading and math scores is that most Independent Study students have not taken advantage of 
their tutorial options and have not made their math and reading prescriptions a priority. Moreover, 
monitoring of student progress and growth in reading and math proficiency has been inconsistent.  
 
Overall, comparing SOUL’s CAASPP results to those of traditional, comprehensive high schools 
and similar schools, SOUL has outperformed similar schools in most areas, while lagging behind 
traditional schools. Increased efforts must be made to ensure that a greater percentage of students 
meet or exceed the standards in both English language arts (ELA) and Math.  
SOUL has identified curricular gaps in its program, specifically in regards to preparing students 
for the CAASPP. More than half of SOUL’s 11th grade students enroll well into their 11th grade 
year and have not previously passed Algebra I. Few 11th graders have the opportunity to take 
Algebra II prior to their taking the CAASPP test.   A large percentage of the questions on the 
CAASPP include Algebra II standards.  Curricular changes are needed to address this challenge. 
 

Action Plan  
 

A strategic, prescriptive approach is needed to address deficiencies. To reverse the downward 
trend in ELA and math proficiency, in Spring 2018, SOUL formalized a process to monitor 
mandatory prescriptions for all students in both instructional programs.  Student progress and 
growth in reading and math proficiency is consistently monitored by teachers on a weekly basis.  
All classroom-based students attend a 60-minute study hall once a week. Independent Study 
students attend an additional hour per week to work on their reading and math prescriptions. 



 

57 
 

Teachers are available to assist all students individually or in small groups. Moreover, Sskills-
deficient students in both the classroom-based and Independent Study programs will be required 
to take an additional ELA and/or math skills course to address their deficiencies. English learners 
enrolled in Independent Study will be assigned an English intervention class every week in addition 
to their Independent Study coursework.   
 
In response to SOUL’s achievement gap in CAASPP ELA and Math, SOUL will utilize the 
Northwest Education Association’s Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) Interim Assessments, 
which are designed to measure a student’s academic achievement and to calculate academic 
growth throughout the year. Beginning in the 2018-2019 school year, the Interim Assessments will 
be administered in the fall, winter, and spring of each year. Interim Assessments will serve as 
quarterly benchmarks, since they are aligned to California Common Core English language arts 
and math standards. Teachers will use MAP assessment results to guide instruction, which will 
provide a comprehensive picture of student learning: how much they’ve grown, what they’re ready 
to learn, and the specific skill gaps they need to master.   
 
Interim Assessments will measure progress toward meeting grade-level standards, allowing SOUL 
teachers to meticulously monitor each student’s strengths and deficiencies by connecting 
assessment data to instruction. Interim Assessments are aligned to both the Edmentum and 
Achieve 3000 curricula used by SOUL. Whether a student enrolls at the beginning of the school 
year or mid-year, SOUL teachers will use assessment results to identify strengths and gaps, and 
tailor instruction to meet the needs of each student. Because MAP tracks individual student growth 
over time, it can help predict each student'’s level of proficiency and college readiness. MAP Interim 
Assessment data will be reviewed twice per year, and be included in mid and year-end student 
proficiency status reports. Interim Assessments data will measure by grade level student progress 
toward meeting grade-level standards.  A baseline will be established during the 2018-2019 school 
year to determine reasonable and attainable grade level goals. 
   

To address the curricular gap in math, SOUL will develop an integrated curriculum which 
incorporates Algebra 1, Algebra II, and Geometry standards.  All 11th grade students who have 
not passed algebra I at the beginning of their 11th grade year will be placed into an Integrated Math 
course to ensure that they will have been introduced to Algebra II standards prior to taking the 
CAASPP test. Moreover, this course will provide college-bound students with better preparation 
for post-secondary education by reinforcing previously learned standards in Algebra I and 
Geometry. Algebra II will be offered to all students who have completed Algebra I and Geometry 
prior by the end of their 10th grade year.     

 
New Charter Academic Goal 2: Create greater student access to post-secondary opportunities by 
increasing SOUL’s graduation rate. 
 
CDE Graduation Rate 
 
Nearly 95% of students who enroll at SOUL are credit deficient. More than two-thirds of all SOUL 
students are 11th and 12th graders, and 30% are ages 18 or over.  Students are provided ample 
credit recovery opportunities, intervention resources, as well as academic and social/emotional 



 

58 
 

support while enrolled at SOUL and working towards graduation. For all seniors, credit recovery is 
critical to obtaining a high school diploma.  In a comparative analysis of credits earned, student 
achievement was examined from the semester prior to a student enrolling at SOUL to their first 
semester enrolled at SOUL.  It was found that once enrolled at SOUL students earn an average of 
31 credits in their first semester versus an average of 13.7 credits in the last semester at their 
previous school.    
      
The table below depicts SOUL’s official State graduation rate, both the 4 year cohort and 5 year 
cohort for the past five years. Annual Yearly Progress data from the California Department of 
Education reveals that SOUL has met or exceeded its statewide graduation rate during the past 
five years. The table below reflects the available graduation rates through the 2015/2016 school 
year.   
 

Grad Rate 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
5Y Cohort 33% 44% 44% 41% Not Available 
4Y Cohort 33% 25% 20% 34% Not Available 

    Table 19: SOUL’s State graduation rates: 2013-2016 (Source: CDE) 
 
Notwithstanding SOUL student increases in credits earned, students who graduate during their fifth 
or sixth year are not factored into the four-year cohort graduation rate, skewing the actual 
graduation percentages downward. Thus, the State cohort graduation rate is detrimental to 
alternative schools who serve fifth, sixth and seventh year seniors, since it does not accurately 
reflect the actual percentage of graduates.  For this reason, the California Department of Education 
developed the five-year Year Cohort calculation for alternative schools, such as SOUL, which 
counts the additional graduates who are not in the 4 year cohort but complete credit requirements 
in their 5th year.  Based on the 5 year cohort rate, SOUL met or exceeded the target graduation 
rate set by the State four years in a row, meeting the AYP Graduation Rate goal.  
 
Internal Graduation Rate 
 
In spite of the State’s attempt to more accurately reflect graduation rates through the 5 year cohort 
calculation, it still fails to take into account the students who graduate in their 6th or 7th year of high 
school.  Students can remain enrolled at SOUL until their 22nd birthday.  Due to the fact that 30% 
SOUL’s student population is 18 years old and older, and enroll credit deficient,  there is a high 
number of 12th graders each year who will not be able to graduate within the school year.  To more 
appropriately measure SOUL’s graduation rate, an internal calculation was developed.  Twelfth 
grade students who need 70 credits or fewer to complete graduation requirements are deemed “on 
track” to graduate.  If a twelfth-grade student needs more than 70 credits to complete their 230 
credit requirement, they are not counted in this calculation.  The list of “on-track” twelfth graders is 
kept up to date as new students enroll. It is also adjusted at the beginning of the second semester 
based on the credits earned by the students during the first semester.  At the beginning of second 
semester, it is expected that students will need 40 or fewer credits to still be considered “on track” 
to graduate. Any student initially on track to graduate upon enrolling at SOUL who becomes credit 
deficient during the second semester will be counted as a “non-grad” and will count against the 
internal graduation rate. Most students who are unable to complete their credit requirement by 
graduation choose to re-enroll during the summer or the following semester for graduation as a 5th 
or 6th year senior.  In addition, those who were not considered “on-track” to graduate during the 



 

59 
 

given school year can re-enroll the following year. For example, during the 2016/2017 school year, 
of the 92 twelfth graders enrolled, only 53 were identified as “on-track” to graduate due to the 
number of credits needed to reach the 230 credit requirement. Of those 53 identified students, one 
dropped out. Of the remaining 52 students, 50 students successfully completed their credits for 
graduation. The remaining two students did not earn sufficient credits to graduate, and reenrolled 
for the 2017/2018 school year. Thus, SOUL’s internal graduation rate was 94%.  The table below 
depicts an 8% increase in the internal graduation rate over the past 5 years.  
 

Year 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

12th Grade Enrollment 102 107 100 107 92 

“On-Track” to Graduate 44 40 34 52 53 

Earned Diploma 38 36 32 49 50 

Internal Grad Rate 86% 90% 93% 94% 94% 

  Table 20: SOUL’s Internal Graduation Rates: 2013-2016 (Source: SOUL Internal Records) 
 
Additional data on the twelfth grade students who need more than 70 credits to graduate during 
the school year has not been recorded.  Approximately 30% do continue their enrollment with 
SOUL, 25% transfer to an Adult School, and the others withdraw from SOUL for a variety of 
reasons.  
 
SOUL’s internal graduation rate is used in shaping SOUL’s program in two ways. First, the internal 
rate provides SOUL an accurate measure the number of students on track to graduate at the 
beginning of their final year of high school.  Second, it is important to monitor these students, who 
would otherwise have not completed high school and are not counted in any other graduation rate.  
 
SOUL remains committed to providing alternative educational resources to all credit-deficient 12th 
graders to allow these potential dropouts a viable opportunity to obtain a high school diploma and 
prepare them for post-secondary options. In order to accurately measure this goal, the alternative 
internal graduation rate formula for SOUL has been retained in the new charter petition. Further 
monitoring of the 12th grade students not on track to graduate will also be considered in an effort 
to understand the services needed to retain the enrollment of all students to earn a diploma.  
 
New Charter Schoolwide Goal 1: Increase student connectedness and motivation for academic 
success during and beyond high school through increased student attendance and greater 
exposure to career education opportunities. 
 
Notwithstanding recent gains in student participation in co-curricular and extra-curricular activities 
such as sports and leadership groups, SOUL continues to struggle with lower than ADA to 
enrollment average. Similarly, students who enroll at SOUL have a higher than average history of 
suspensions from their previous schools. A majority of SOUL students are considered at risk of 
dropping out of school due to past history of truancy, behavior issues, and poor academic 
achievement.  
 
 
 



 

60 
 

Student Attendance  and Suspension Rates 
 

To demonstrate increased student connectedness and motivation, SOUL set as an annual 
schoolwide goal an increased attendance rate in both the classroom-based and Independent Study 
programs. During the 2011/2012 school year, the average daily attendance rate was 85% for the 
classroom-based program and 80% for the Independent Study program. Each year for a five-year 
period ending June 2018, SOUL set as a goal a 90% schoolwide attendance rate. As depicted in 
the graph below, since the 2012/2013 school year, SOUL’s classroom based attendance to 
enrollment has experienced a four percent increase, up from 79% in 2013 to 83% in 2017. With 
respect to Independent Study attendance, the percentage of students attending versus total 
enrollment has experienced a significant 14% increase over the past five years. Overall, schoolwide 
attendance as compared to enrollment averages have increased by 11% over the past five years,  
from 80% in 2013 to 91% in 2017. 
                          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Consistent with data from SOUL’s 2010/2011 School Accountability Report Card, 33% of all SOUL 
classroom-based students had been suspended one or more times during the school year. SOUL 
set out to reduce suspensions by five percentage points each year for a five-year period.   As 
depicted in Graph 2 below, SOUL’s suspension rate has decreased steadily for the past three 
years. The implementation of a Restorative Justice Discipline model initiated in 2014 has resulted 
in decreased suspensions and an increase in alternatives to suspensions, such as mandatory 
parent/student counseling and parent meetings. As depicted in the graph above, SOUL has 
drastically reduced its percentage of suspended students from 33% in the Baseline Year to 6% 
during the 2016/2017 school year. The School of Unlimited Learning works to provide positive 
corrective measures through its In-school Suspension Community Service Program. Prior to the 
implementation of more serious disciplinary actions, students are given the opportunity to perform 
community service as a disciplinary course of action that results in positive community interaction. 
 
It is important to keep in mind that many of the students who enroll at SOUL have had a prior 
history of defiance and disruption at their previous schools.  Some have been expelled from 

Graph 2: SOUL Suspension Rate Percentages: 
2013-2017 (Source: CDE) 
 

79% 77% 78% 80%
83%

82%

90% 92%
95% 96%

80%
84% 86%

90% 91%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Seated IS Avg

28%

23%

18%

13%

8%
14% 15% 16%

11%
6%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Goal Actual

       
    

 

Graph 1.  Soul Attendance Rate by Program 
2013-2017 (Source:  SOUL ADA) 



 

61 
 

traditional schools and/or previously incarcerated for offenses such as fighting, theft, possession 
of illegal substances and weapons, and gang activity.  
 
For the past two years, SOUL has contracted with a local counseling center to provide Success for 
Life Training to SOUL students. Students and staff meet weekly in a group setting, and in addition, 
individual coaching sessions are available upon request. Through the year, students and staff learn 
the power of creating a life vision and explore the dynamics of the action steps necessary to 
translate vision into action. Students and staff build partnerships with one another while students 
practice goal-setting by imagining their lives in the short term and begin to build the foundation for 
their future. The support of partnerships is invaluable for success. Learning how to work as a team 
helps with developing social skills and communication skills, and has proven to have a positive 
impact in the classroomon students. The implementation of the Success for Life Program has 
strongly correlated with a decrease in suspensions.  
 
Expulsions 
 
A student can be expelled for a serious offense or for a series of infractions that are detrimental to 
the order of the school. Students of the School of Unlimited Learning may be expelled from the 
charter school for persistent non-compliance with the terms of this charter or the rules, procedures, 
and policies outlined in the SOUL parent/student handbook.  
 
Most students who violate SOUL’s Zero Tolerance Policy may choose to withdraw and transfer to 
another school in lieu of going through the expulsion process. Thus, SOUL has expelled only two 
students in the past twenty years. In the case of a serious or violent violation, the expulsion process 
is non-negotiable.   
 
Career Education Opportunities 
  
If students are to succeed beyond high school, they must see the value in continuing their 
education, as well as possess the knowledge of career choices for the future.  Over the past three 
years, SOUL has made strides with respect to preparing students to become viable participants in 
a developing workforce. SOUL students ages 16 and over are offered the opportunity to participate 
in courses that allow them to explore potential careers. In 2014, SOUL developed a partnership 
with Bitwise Corporation to incorporate a Coding/Computer Literacy course and formed a 
partnership with Central California Legal Services which provides students exposure to careers in 
the legal profession through the Street Law and Mock Trial programs. During the 2015-2016 school 
year, SOUL expanded its career courses to more actively engage students by providing them 
access to career training. New courses consisted of website development and video production.  
SOUL’s Youth Mentoring Program, which is part of the Child Care Career Pathway, provides 
internship hours, a stipend, and scholarship opportunities to students completing the program. 
 
During the 2016/2017 school year, SOUL entered into a partnership with Ideaworks, a 
neighborhood non-profit trade organization, to provide an innovative, hands-on experience for 
students in the areas of woodworking, blacksmithing, welding, glass-blowing, ceramics and 3D 
printing.  With a focus on safety, skills, and process, Ideaworks has set a strong foundation in these 



 

62 
 

trades. It has allowed students to explore and refine their abilities in these potential career areas 
while earning elective credits toward their high school diploma. 
 

In addition to the numerous extra-curricular opportunities provided at SOUL, there are a variety of 
co-curricular options that offer students the opportunity to explore skills and interests that could 
potentially lead to future employment and career choices.  Currently, SOUL offers the following 
programs during afternoon block classes: 

• Youth Mentoring—through a partnership with Fresno EOC’s Early Head Start/Head Start 
Program, students are trained and placed in childcare centers as teacher aides for infants 
and toddlers.  

• Street Law—through a partnership with Central California Legal Services, students are 
exposed to a variety of careers in the criminal justice system. 

• Video Production— through a partnership with CMAC, students create and broadcast 
monthly videos highlighting school-related events. 

• Music—Students are given the opportunity to learn and explore their creativity on guitar, 
keyboards, drums, and singing as well as stage, sound and lighting. 

• Computer Literacy and Graphic Design—Through a partnership with Quiqlabs, students 
learn basic computer literacy and are exposed to beginning coding skills and basic 
graphic design. 

 
Since 2014, SOUL has begun aligning its program with the efforts of other Fresno EOC programs 
in a collaborative fashion aimed at workforce preparation opportunities for SOUL students. During 
the 2015/2016 school year, over 15 percent of SOUL students participated in the All Youth, One 
System program through Fresno EOC’s Employment and Training program. Fresno EOC offers 
paid internships to college-bound SOUL graduates through its Graduate Work Study Program. 
During the summer of 2017, the paid summer internship program was extended to ten SOUL 
undergraduates, allowing them to gain invaluable paid work experience to better prepare them for 
their senior year and beyond. Fresno EOC’s Strategic Initiative for Education recognizes that 
through collaboration, SOUL can advance quality education and training to empower students and 
their families. Likewise, Fresno EOC’s Strategic Initiative for Job Readiness calls for collaboration 
to create an alternative education environment that prepares individuals with job skills for careers 
aligned with market demands. SOUL’s expanding Career Academy has increased job readiness 
skills to high school youth by actively engaging them in career preparation and training.  
 
New Charter Schoolwide Goal 2:  Increase student success through active parent participation, 
involvement, and engagement.    
 

SOUL’s revised charter goal calls for increased parent participation, especially among parents of 
Independent Study students. Typically, parents of at-risk high-school age students do not actively 
participate in their child’s school activities. In alignment with the school's Local Control 
Accountability Plan, SOUL has developed an annual parent involvement plan which encourages 
parents to attend scheduled meetings and activities throughout the year. Parent attendance data 
collected from parent meetings, counselor meetings, and schoolwide events in which parents are 



 

63 
 

requested to attend reveal a high percentage of parents who do not attend school functions, despite 
frequent parent contact by teachers and staff, as well as occasional home visits.  
 
Parent meetings are scheduled as reflected in SOUL’s annual parent involvement plan. A greater 
percentage of parents participate in scheduled meetings with counselors and case managers 
throughout the year.  Since 2012, 100% of all parents have attended at least one meeting during 
the school year, since it is mandatory for parents and students to attend an initial orientation upon 
enrollment. The 2015/2016 parent survey results revealed that parents want increased 
communication between home and school. This does not mean attending meetings five or six times 
a year; rather, they want ongoing communication from all school staff, including teachers, on their 
child’s progress. 
 
Home to school communication in both programs is a priority. With the adoption of School 
Pathways as our Student Information System, parents now have the opportunity to access their 
child’s grades and attendance online. There has been a significant increase in parent contact  and 
dialog between school and parents through the mandatory orientation prior to enrollment.  SOUL 
continues to have more parent attendance at Parent Meetings that are held on a quarterly basis, 
rather than relying on a group of parents to organize and sustain a PTSA committee.  SOUL takes 
pride in having 100% face to face contact with every parent, as well as hosting school events with 
up to 60% of parents in attendance. SOUL parents also serve on SOUL’s Governing Council and 
there is a continuous effort to recruit interested parents and alumni parents to serve as 
representatives on the council. 
 
While parent contact has increased for the students in the classroom-based program, SOUL 
continues to seek ways to increase involvement and participation in regards to the parents of 
Independent Study students. Despite increased enrollment of Independent Study students, parent 
participation continues to be marginal at best. A further examination has revealed that Independent 
Study students are often engaged in additional activities, such as work, raising a child, or caring 
for an elderly family member. The flexibility of independent studies accomodates their schedule, 
however the parents do not regard their children as “full-time”students and therefore do not 
consider their role as a parent to be crucial to their child’s academic success. Instead, they perform 
minimal duties such as reviewing their child’s homework and signing off on the required paperwork 
so that their child successfully completes the program. SOUL makes every effort to include parents 
of Independent Study students. Despite our efforts, we have not made any significant impact in 
getting the parents of Independent Study parents to attend school meetings.   
 
Notwithstanding the lack of participation among parents of Independent Study Students at 
scheduled parent meetings, there has been a significant increase of parent contacts and dialog 
between school and Independent Study parents. School support services are readily available to 
Independent Study students and their parents. Crucial services such as tutoring, career counseling, 
mental health counseling, and referrals to Fresno EOC and outside agencies for a variety of 
services  are available and encouraged.  Beginning in 2017, SOUL’s Success for Life Coach began 
meeting with parents as part of SOUL’s parent outreach services. This resource will be expanded 
in the coming years. 



 

64 
 

 
SOUL will continue to explore and implement strategies to increase communication with parents 
of Independent Study students, either in small groups or in larger parent meetings. The addition of 
mandatory parent/student counseling sessions throughout the year has not only increased parent 
involvement, but has also resulted in more positive student behavior. In addition to the efforts by 
the Truancy Prevention/Parent Liaison, SOUL case managers worked closely with the Guidance 
Dean to hold meetings with parents whose students were at risk of being removed from the 
program.   
 
During the 2016/2017 school year, 100% of all parents/guardians of SOUL students attended at 
least one meeting throughout the year.  For the 2017/2018 school all subsequent years, 100% of 
parents/guardians of all SOUL students will have attended one or more parent meetings.  
 
Parents are surveyed in the fall and at the beginning of the second semester. The mid-year survey 
is due to the increased number of new students that SOUL receives at the beginning of the 2nd 
semester. The parent surveys focus on parent expectations and provide parent input as to how to 
increase parent engagement.  The surveys provide valuable data to the school in terms of the 
resources parents need to help their child successfully graduate from high school.   
 
Summary 
 
As stated in the analysis and evaluation of each of the four goals, SOUL will collect, analyze, utilize 
and report student and school performance data as outlined in each of the goal sections above. 
SOUL will share performance data with all its stakeholders-parents, students, teachers, members 
of the Governing Council, and the community.   
  



 

65 
 

 
New Charter Goals 2018- 2023 
Pupil Outcomes 

Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) Academic Goal One 

Improve Student Academic 
Performance and College 
and Career Readiness by 
Increasing Reading and 
Math Levels of all SOUL 
Students. 
 

CAASPP 
Language Arts 
and  
Assessments 
(Grade 11) 
 
 
 
NWEA 
Measures of 
Academic 
Progress 
(MAP) Interim 
Assessments 
  
 
 
 
  
 
Edmentum 
Accucess Pre 
and Post Tests 
(Grades 9-12) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Annual 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual 
increase in 
CAASPP of 3% 
percentage  
points  of 
students 
meeting or 
exceeding 
standard in ELA 
and     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A minimum of 
3% annual 
increase of 
students 
meeting or 
exceeding 
grade level in 
reading and 
math.  
 
 
 
 

 
        CAASPP ELA and  Math 
 

 ELA  Math 

Base 16% 2% 

2019  19% 5% 

2020 22% 8% 

2021 25% 11% 

2022 28% 14% 

2023 31% 17% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Edmentum Accucess Reading and 
Math 
 
 

  Acc. 
Read 

Acc.  
Math 

Base 60% 49% 

2019 63% 52% 

2020 66% 55% 

2021 69% 58% 

2022 72% 61% 

2023 75% 64% 

 
 
 
 



 

66 
 

Pupil Outcomes 

Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) Academic Goal Two 

Create Greater Student 
Access to Post-Secondary 
Opportunities by 
Increasing School 
Graduation Rate    

CDE Annual 
Minimum 
Graduation 
Rate 
 
CDE Cohort 
Dropout Rate 
 
School 
Internal 
graduation 
Rate  

Annual 

Meet or Exceed  
Target School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California 
for five years, 
ending June 
2023 
 
Meet or Exceed 
Internal 
Graduation 
Rate of 95% or 
above for five 
years, ending 
June 2023 
  

 
 

 CDE 
Grad 
Rate 

  Internal  
  Grad 
  Rate 

2019 Meet or 
Exceed 
Target  

95% or 
above 

2020 Meet or 
Exceed 
Target 

95% or 
above 

2021 Meet or 
Exceed 
Target 

95% or 
above 

2022 Meet or 
Exceed 
Target 

95% or 
above 

2023 Meet or 
Exceed 
Target 

95% or 
above 

Pupil Outcomes 
___________________________ 
Schoolwide  Goal One 

Assessment 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually) 

 
SOUL students will 
demonstrate increased 
connectedness and 
motivation for academic 
success during and beyond 
their high school 
experience through 
increased attendance, 
higher engagement, and 
greater exposure to career 
education opportunities. 

ADA To 
Enrollment 
 
SARC 
Suspension 
Rate 
 
SARC 
Expulsion Rate 
 
Career 
Education 
Courses 

Annual 

Maintain an 
Annual  92% 
ADA to 
Enrollment 
Rate  
 
Decrease the 
Annual SARC 
Suspension 
Rate   to 6% or 
below. 
Annual SARC 
Expulsion Rate 
less than 2% 
each year 
 
At last 50% of 
all SOUL 
students will 
take a CTE 
course in their 
11th and 12th 
grade each 
year. 

   
   

 ADA 
to 
Enroll 

Annual 
Suspend 
Rate 

Annual 
Expel 
Rate 

Students 
Enrolled 
in CTE 
Courses 

2019 92% 
or 

above 

6% or 
below 

<2% 50% 

2020 92% 
or 

above 

6% or 
below 

<2% 50% 

2021 92% 
or 

above 

6% or 
below 

<2% 50% 

2022 92% 
or 

above 

6% or 
below 

<2% 50% 

2023 92% 
or 

above 

6% or 
below 

<2% 50% 

 
 



 

67 
 

 

Pupil Outcomes 

Assessments 
Used Frequency 

Proficiency 
Goal/Exit 
Outcomes 

Periodic Progress Targets 
( annually)   Schoolwide Goal Two  

Increase Student Success 
through Active Parent 
Participation, Involvement, 
and Engagement     

Parent 
Meeting 
Attendance 
 
Bilingual 
Advisory 
Meeting 
Attendance 
 
 
Parent Survey 

Annually 
 
 
Monthly 
 
 
 
Three times 
per year  

100%  of 
Parents to 
Attend Two or 
More Meetings  
per Year 
 
 
Bilingual 
Advisory 
Committee to 
meet 6 times 
per year.  
 
Parents 
Surveyed three 
times per year 
 
 

 Parent 
Attendance- 
2 or more   
meetings per 
year  

Parent 
Satisfaction 
Survey 

2019 100% 80% 
Satisfaction –
all subgroups 

2020 100% 80% 
Satisfaction –
all subgroups 

2021 100% 80% 
Satisfaction –
all subgroups 

2022 100% 80% 
Satisfaction –
all subgroups 

2023 100% 80% 
Satisfaction –
all subgroups 

 

Table 21: Proposed Pupil Outcome Table: 2018-2023 
 
  
  



 

68 
 

Element C: Methods to Assess Pupil Progress Toward Outcomes 
 
 “The method by which pupil progress in meeting those pupil outcomes is to be measured. To the 
extent practicable, the method for measuring pupil outcomes for state priorities shall be consistent 
with the way information is reported on a school accountability report card.  Education Code Section 
47605(cb)(5)(C).”  
 
The School of Unlimited Learning affirms that its exit outcomes will align to its mission, curriculum, 
and assessments. 
 
For purposes of this material revision, insofar as the law has changed related to the Charter 
School's methods of measurement and assessment requirements, pursuant to Education Code 
Section 47605(c)(5)(C), a reasonably comprehensive description of the Charter School’s operative 
methods of measurement can be found in the Charter School’s LCAP and School Accountability 
Report Card (“SARC”). The current LCAP is on file with the District and the current SARC is on file 
with the CDE. 
 

Measurable Pupil Outcomes and Learning Goals  
 

This new petition provides a detailed description of SOUL’s revised goals, which include annual 
data analysis, review, and submission of an annual comprehensive report to Fresno EOC Board of 
Commissioners.  Furthermore, each goal bears its own set of performance enhancing tools.  These 
mechanisms allow for consistent monitoring of student academic progress, as well as an effective 
data-driven approach to decision making regarding curriculum, instruction, and assessment of 
student performance. 
 
New Charter Academic Goal 1: Improve student academic performance and college and career 
readiness by increasing reading and math levels of all SOUL students. 
 

LCAP priorities addressed in Academic Goal 1:  2 (Implementation of State Standards); 4 (Pupil 
Achievement); 7 (Course Access); and 8 (Pupil Outcomes). 
  

Expected Schoolwide Learning Results addressed Academic Goal 1:  Academic Achievers, 
Critical Thinkers and Problem Solvers, Effective Communicators. 
 

Consistent with priorities 2, 4, 7, and 8 of SOUL's LCAP and Goal 1 of SOUL’s WASC Action Plan, 
SOUL will continue to assess student achievement goals to ensure that curriculum and instruction 
are aligned to student needs, and that all programs are fully supported, staffed, monitored, and 
evaluated. The school will refine its Common Core curriculum and instructional delivery through an 
annual professional development plan. All SOUL teachers will continue to receive professional 
development in Common Core training on an annual basis to ensure that their lessons fully 
incorporate core, literacy, and ELD standards. All students, including EL students and students 
with special needs, will have full access to core, literacy, and ELD standards.  
 
 
 
 



 

69 
 

Method of Measurement   
 

SOUL will increase the percentage of students meeting or exceeding grade level to 75% in reading 
and 64% in math by the five-year period ending June 2023 for all subgroups. The 2016/2017 
Accucess results in reading and math will serve as a baseline for growth for the next five-year 
period of the charter. 
 
 

Metrics/ 
Indicators 

 
2018-19 

 
2019-2020 

 
2020-2021 

 
2021-2022 

 
2022-2023 

Accuccess 
Reading 

63%  for  all 
subgroups 

66% for all 
subgroups 

69% for all 
subgroups 

72% for all 
subgroups 

75% for all 
subgroups 

Accuccess 
Math 

52% for all 
subgroups 

55% for all 
subgroups 

58% for all 
subgroups 

61% for all 
subgroups 

64% for all 
subgroups 

  Table 1: Projected growth in reading and math percentages 2019-2023 
 
SOUL's CAASPP 2017 ELA and Math results will be used as a baseline to determine growth in 
ELA and Math for the next five-year period.  As depicted in the table below, in an effort to close the 
proficiency gap, the percentage of students meeting or exceeding the standard at SOUL will 
increase to 27% in ELA and 17% in Math each year for the five-year period ending 2023. This goal 
applies schoolwide and to all measurable subgroups.  
 

Metrics/ 
Indicators 

 
2018-19 

 
2019-2020 

 
2020-2021 

 
2021-2022 

 
2022-2023 

CAASPP 
Language 
Arts 

19% will meet or 
exceed  ELA 
standard   

21% will meet or 
exceed ELA 
standard 

23% will meet or 
exceed ELA 
standard 

25% will meet or 
exceed ELA 
standard   

27% will meet or 
exceed ELA 
standard 

CAASPP 
 Math 

5% will meet or 
exceed Math 
standard 

8% will meet or 
exceed Math 
standard 

11% will meet or 
exceed Math 
standard 

14% will meet or 
exceed Math 
standard 

17% will meet or 
exceed Math 
standard  

    Table 2: Projected growth in CAASPP ELA and Math Achievement Levels for 2019-2023 
 
Data Analysis and Evaluation 
 
Student performance data will be collected, analyzed and reported each year to SOUL’s 
stakeholder groups, including SOUL staff, the SOUL Governing Council, students, parents, and 
the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners. The annual report will measure and depict actual 
performance rates compared to goals. Intervention strategies will be implemented to increase 
student achievement if goals are not met.  
 
New Charter Academic Goal 2: Create greater student access to post-secondary opportunities by 
increasing SOUL’s graduation rate. 
 
LCAP priorities addressed in Academic Goal 2:  2 (Implementation of State Standards); 7 
(Course Access); and 8 (Pupil Outcomes). 
 
Expected Schoolwide Learning Results addressed in Academic Goal 2:  Self-Directed Lifelong 
Learners, Responsible and Productive Citizens, Information Processors. 



 

70 
 

 
SOUL’s Academic Goal 2 of increasing the school’s graduation rate is in alignment with 2, 7, and 
8 of SOUL's Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP, and address) and Goal 2 of SOUL’s WASC 
Action Plan. 
 
Method of Measurement   
 
Each year for a five-year period ending June 2023, SOUL’s graduation rate will meet or exceed 
SOUL’s California cohort graduation rate goal set by the California Department of Education.  
SOUL’s Internal Graduation Rate will meet or exceed 95% each year for the five year period ending 
June 2023.  
 

Metrics/Indicators Baseline 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
State of California 
Annual Minimum 
Graduation Rate 
for School  

 School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California  

Meet or 
Exceed  
Target 
School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California 

Meet or 
Exceed  
Target 
School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California 

Meet or 
Exceed  
Target 
School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California 

Meet or 
Exceed  
Target 
School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California 

Meet or 
Exceed  
Target 
School 
Graduation 
Rate set by 
State of 
California 

School Internal 
Graduation Rate 

94%  95% for all 
subgroups 

95% for all 
subgroups 

95% for all 
subgroups 

95% for all 
subgroups 

95% for all 
subgroups 

    Table 3: Projected CDE Cohort and Internal Graduation rate goals for 2019-2023 
 
Data Analysis and Evaluation   
 
SOUL will continue to use an internal graduation rate calculation which more appropriately reflects 
SOUL’s graduation rate. Seniors who are “on track” to graduate will be identified by SOUL’s 
guidance counselor at the beginning of each school year. This list will be kept up to date as new 
students enroll.   Students are considered on track for graduation if they need 70 or fewer credits 
to complete the 230-credit graduation requirement by the end of the school year. This list is kept 
up to date as new twelfth graders enroll and is adjusted at the beginning of second semester 
depending on the credits earned by the students during the first semester.  At the beginning of the 
second semester, it is expected that students will need 40 or fewer credits to still be considered on 
track to graduate. Any student initially on track to graduate upon enrolling at SOUL and who 
becomes credit deficient in the second semester will be counted as a “non-completer”. Data will be 
collected and reported each year. Findings will be reviewed with SOUL staff, the SOUL Governing 
Council and the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners in an annual progress report.  
 

New Charter Schoolwide Goal 1: Increase student connectedness and motivation for academic 
success during and beyond high school through increased student attendance and greater 
exposure to career education opportunities. 
 
LCAP priorities addressed in Schoolwide Goal 1:  4 (Pupil Achievement); 5 (Pupil Engagement); 
6 (School Climate); and 8 (Pupil Outcomes). 



 

71 
 

 
Expected Schoolwide Learning Results Addressed: Self-Directed Lifelong Learners, Responsible 
and Productive Citizens, and Information Processors. 
 
SOUL’s Schoolwide Goal 1, which addresses student connection and motivation through greater 
attendance and increased access to career education, is in alignment with priorities 4, 5, 6, and 8 
of SOUL's Local Control Accountability Plan, and Goal 3 of SOUL’s WASC Action Plan. 
 

Method of Measurement 
  

SOUL’s 2016/2017 annual ADA to enrollment was 91%, representing an increase of two percent 
over the previous year.  Using the 2016/2017 annual enrollment and ADA data as a baseline, 
combined student average daily attendance compared to enrollment in both the classroom-based 
and independent study program will meet or exceed the annual target goal of 92% ADA to total 
enrollment. The suspension rate reported in the School Climate Report of SOUL’s School 
Accountability Report Card for the 2016/2017 school year was 6%. Using the 6% suspension rate 
as a baseline, SOUL will set a suspension-rate goal of 6% or less each year for the five-year period 
ending June 2023. The expulsion rate reported in the School Climate Report of SOUL’s School 
Accountability Report Card for the 2016/2017 school year was zero. The annual target expulsion 
rate will be less than 2%.  
 

Metrics/Indicators Baseline 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
ADA to Enrollment 90% 92% for all 

subgroups 
92% for all 
subgroups 

92% for all 
subgroups 

92% for all 
subgroups 

92% for all 
subgroups 

Suspension  Rate 6% <6% <6% <6% <6% <6% 

Expulsion Rate 
 

<2% <2% <2% <2% <2% <2% 

  Table 4:  Projected Attendance, Suspension and Expulsion Rates, 2019-2023 
 

SOUL will maintain its annual goal that 100% of all SOUL graduating seniors from both classroom 
and independent study programs will have completed a career assessment. Over the past three 
years, SOUL has made strides with respect to preparing students to become viable participants in 
a developing workforce. SOUL will continue to offer 11th and 12th grade students the opportunity to 
participate in courses that allow them to explore potential careers. 
 

Metrics/ Indicators Baseline 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

11th and 12th Grade Student 
Enrollment in Career Education 
Courses  

45% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

Seniors  who Complete a Career 
Assessment 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

   Table 5: Goals for Student Enrollment in CTE Courses and Career Assessment Completion 2019-2023. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

72 
 

Data Analysis and Evaluation  
 
As reflected in the school's Local Control Accountability Plan and WASC Action Plan goals for 
2017/2018, SOUL will collect, analyze, and evaluate student discipline and attendance data on 
an annual basis and make recommendations for program changes to improve attendance and 
decrease suspensions. Each year, SOUL will collect and report the percentage of students 
enrolled in CTE courses, as well as the percentage of graduating seniors who complete a career 
assessment.   

 
New Charter Schoolwide Goal 2:  Increase student success through active parent participation, 
involvement, and engagement.     
 
LCAP priorities addressed in Schoolwide Goal 2:  3 (Parental Involvement); 4 (Pupil 
Achievement); 5 (Pupil Engagement); 6 (School Climate); and 8 (Pupil Outcomes). 
 
Expected Schoolwide Learning Results addressed:  Responsible and Productive Citizens, Self-
Directed Life-long learners, Critical thinkers and Problem Solvers, Effective Communicators. 
 

SOUL’s revised charter goal calls for increased parent participation, especially among parents of 
independent study students. SOUL’s Schoolwide Goal 2, is in alignment with priorities 3, 4, 5, 6, 
and 8 of SOUL's Local Control Accountability Plan, and Goal 4 of SOUL’s WASC Action Plan. 
 
Typically, parents of at-risk promise high-school age students do not actively participate in their 
child’s school activities. In alignment with the school's Local Control Accountability Plan, SOUL has 
developed an annual parent involvement plan which encourages parents to attend scheduled 
meetings and activities throughout the year. Parent attendance data collected from parent 
meetings, counselor meetings, and schoolwide events in which parents are requested to attend 
reveal a high percentage of parents who do not attend school functions, despite frequent parent 
contact by teachers and staff, as well as occasional home visits.  
 
Parent meetings are scheduled as reflected in SOUL’s annual parent involvement plan. A greater 
percentage of parents participate in scheduled individual meetings with counselors and case 
managers throughout the year than schoolwide parent meetings and activities.  Since 2012, 100% 
of all parents have attended at least one meeting during the school year, as it is mandatory for 
parents and students to attend an initial orientation upon enrollment. The 2017/2018 parent survey 
results revealed that parents want increased communication between home and school. This does 
not mean attending meetings five or six times a year; rather, they want ongoing communication 
from all school staff, especially teachers, on their child’s progress. 
 
Method of Measurement 
 
During the 2016/2017 school year, 100% of all parents/guardians of SOUL students attended at 
least one meeting throughout the year.  For the 2017/2018 school year all subsequent years of 
this charter petition, 100% of parents/guardians of all SOUL students will attend one or more 
parent meetings.  Parents are surveyed in the fall and at the beginning of the second semester. 



 

73 
 

The mid-year survey is due to the increased number of new students that SOUL receives at the 
beginning of the 2nd semester. The parent surveys focus on parent expectations and provide 
parent input as to how to increase parent engagement.  The surveys provide valuable data to the 
school in terms of the resources parents need to help their child successfully graduate from high 
school.   
 
 
 

Metrics /Indicators Baseline 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
Parent Meeting 
Attendance 

100% for all 
subgroups 

100% for all 
subgroups 

100% for all 
subgroups 

100% for all 
subgroups 

100% for all 
subgroups 

100% for all 
subgroups 

Parent Survey 80% 
satisfaction 
for all 
subgroups 

80% 
Satisfaction 
for all 
subgroups 

80% 
satisfaction 
for all 
subgroups 

80% 
satisfaction 
for all 
subgroups 

80% 
satisfaction 
for all 
subgroups 

80% 
satisfaction 
for all 
subgroups 

         Table 6: Goals for Parent Attendance and Parent Satisfaction: 2019-2023 
 
Data Analysis and Evaluation  
 
Data of parent participation will be collected through case manager logs of parent orientations, 
sign-in sheets from parent meetings, and logs of meetings by all school personnel, including school 
counselors, case managers, teachers, the principal and guidance dean, and the Success for Life 
coach. Parent survey data will be collected, analyzed, and reported on a semi-annual basis.  The 
overall parent satisfaction rate, as determined by the survey, will be set at 80% or above each year 
for the five-year charter period. 
 
Summary 
 
As stated in the analysis and evaluation of each of the four goals, SOUL will collect, analyze, utilize 
and report student and school performance data as outlined in each of the new charter  academic 
and schoolwide goals. SOUL will share performance data with all its stakeholders-parents, 
students, teachers, members of the Governing Council, and the community through mid-year and 
year-end status reports.   
 
 
 
  
 



 

74 
 

Element D: School Governance 

“The governance structure of the charter school, including, but not limited to, the process to be 
followed by the charter school to ensure parental involvement.” California Education Code 
Section 47605(bc)(5)(D).  

Fresno EOC, founded in 1965, is a 501(c).3 non-profit organization, and is one of the nation’s 
largest Community Action agencies. Fresno EOC's Board of Commissioners provides ultimate 
oversight of the School of Unlimited Learning. 

The Fresno County EOC Board of Commissioners meets on the fourth Wednesday of each month 
except for July and August. All meetings are conducted in accordance with and pursuant to the 
Ralph M. Brown Act, Education Code Section 47604.1(c), and other applicable open meeting 
laws.   

The Charter School has adopted a Conflict of Interest Code that complies with the Political Reform 
Act, Government Code Section 1090, et seq., as set forth in Education Code Section 47604.1, and 
Corporations Code conflict of interest rules, and which shall be updated with any charter school-
specific conflict of interest laws or regulations.  As required, the Conflict of Interest Code has been 
submitted to the County Board of Supervisors for approval. 

Commencing July 1, 2023, and each year thereafter, upon receipt of a petition for student 
representation that meets the requirements of Education Code Section 47604.2(b)(2), the Board 
shall order the inclusion within its membership, in addition to the number of members otherwise 
prescribed, of at least one student member. A student member of the Board shall have 
preferential voting rights as defined in Education Code Section 47604.2(b)(4). 

School Site Governing Council  

The Governing Council, which also serves as the SOUL's School Site Council is an advisory council 
which regularly reviews all school operational, programmatic, and fiscal matters, and Council 
recommendations to the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners for final approval. The SOUL 
Governing Council serves as an advisory council, and consists of 15 to 21 members. The 
Governing Council is comprised of representatives from the following interest groups and 
organizations    

• Parents, students, and staff participating in the School of Unlimited Learning.  
• Advisory board members or administrators from Fresno EOC programs focused on children 

and youth.  
• At least one member of the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners.  
• Educators or administrators from Fresno Unified School District, Fresno County Office of 

Education, Fresno City College, and other school districts in Fresno County with a 
substantial interest in student achievement.  

• Educators, administrators, researchers from public and private universities, with a 
significant interest in student achievement, school-to-career articulation, or education 
reform.  

• Business and industry employers who are committed to developing a qualified workforce.  
• Public officials, volunteers, mentors, or other members of the community with an exemplary 

interest in student success.  



 

75 
 

Any conflict of interest identified by a council member is resolved through ascertaining the degree 
of conflict and formulating a resolution acceptable to the Governing Council.  

The Governing Council is responsible for reviewing the fiscal and programmatic policies and 
operations of the School of Unlimited Learning and for providing reports and recommendations to 
the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners, which retains legal responsibility for the fiscal and 
programmatic operations of the School of Unlimited Learning.   

The Governing Council meets on the second Tuesday of each month from September through 
May.  

School Structure and Organization  

The School of Unlimited Learning operates its school year program using the traditional track 
school calendar of Fresno Unified School District, with the option for students to attend additional 
summer school days.  Separate attendance is recorded and reported for SOUL’s classroom-based 
and Independent Study programs.   

Parental Involvement:  

Parent involvement is essential to student success.  Effectively engaging parents in the education 
of their children has the potential of reforming public education.    Parents/guardians are 
encouraged to participate in the education of their child through a variety of avenues.  

In accordance with Federal Title 1 requirements, the School of Unlimited Learning has developed 
a written Parent Involvement Policy, which describes how SOUL involves parents to improve 
student academic achievement and school performance. The Parent Involvement Policy includes 
a variety of ways that parents can become actively involved in their child’s educational experience 
at SOUL. The Parent Involvement Policy is designed to help build the school’s and parents’ 
capacity for increased parent involvement. In the spring of each year, SOUL conducts an annual 
review of the content and effectiveness of the parent involvement policy and uses the findings of 
the evaluation to design more effective opportunities for parental involvement to increase student 
academic success.   

Parent involvement is crucial to the development of school improvement.  Throughout the year, 
there are several opportunities for parent participation. Regularly scheduled parent meetings, 
schoolwide assemblies, and Student Study Teams are many of the ways that parents can 
participate regularly with the school.  SOUL makes a concentrated effort to maximize parent 
involvement, especially parents of EL students.     

Parent Involvement Goals  

• Parents play a crucial role in the joint development of a plan for continuous school 
improvement.  

• Positive working relationship exists between educators and parents.   
• Close communication exists between school and home.  
• Strong parent involvement is evident through attendance and participation at 

school-sponsored events.  
• Parents are viewed as a vital component to the academic success of their 

students.   



 

76 
 

 

Rights of Parents  

• To expect that their child spends time at school in a safe, wholesome, stimulating 
atmosphere engaged in productive activity under the care and direction of a 
dedicated staff.  

• To be assured that school personnel at no time preempts parental prerogative.  
• To be informed of district policy, school rules, and regulations.  
• To review their child’s records with a certificated staff member.  
• At the beginning of each academic year, schools receiving Title 1 funds must inform 

parents of their right to request information regarding the professional qualifications 
of their child’s teacher.  Also, any school that has been identified for Program 
Improvement or Corrective Action must promptly notify parents regarding an 
explanation of the identification as well as other requirements specified in the Act.  

Responsibilities of Parents  

• To visit the school periodically to participate in conferences with teachers, 
counselors, or administrators regarding the academic, attendance and behavioral 
status of their child.  

• To support their child by ensuring that he/she receives adequate sleep, nutrition, 
and appropriate clothing before coming to school.  

• To apply and maintain consistent and adequate restraints in regards to their child’s 
overall behavior and to approve of reasonable behavioral guidelines as applied by 
school personnel.  

• To cooperate with the school in bringing about improvements designed to enhance 
the educational program offered students.  

• To provide the school with current information regarding legal address, phone, 
medical data, and other facts, which may help the school to serve their child.  

Parent Involvement Opportunities    

SOUL Governing Council  

Parent involvement is essential to the success of the School of Unlimited Learning.  Parent and 
student representatives are asked to participate in the School Site Governing Council.     

SOUL Parent Advisory Meetings  

Parent meetings are held regularly throughout the year. The meeting time and date is determined 
by the parents completing a questionnaire when enrolling their child or at Back to School Night in 
September. The meetings focus on information pertinent to parents, such as school improvement 
efforts, mandated testing, school policies and procedures, etc.   

Communication  

Parents are kept abreast of school activities, events, and the educational progress of their 
child.  The student’s case manager, teachers, school administration, and counseling staff initiate 
contact with parents through phone, mail, email, and/or personal visits.  Communication between 



 

77 
 

the school and home is regular and meaningful thus providing a foundation of trust and 
collaboration. As parents and educators successfully correspond, problems are more readily 
resolved and students make greater academic progress.   

Learning  

Parents have active participation in selecting placement options with their child. Regular 
attendance, providing basic clothing and supplies, assisting with homework, and taking a personal 
interest in the academic advancement of their child are strongly encouraged.  Emphasis is given 
to the family in becoming the primary accountability structure for the success of their student.  

Volunteering   

Parents can help the school through assisting in Charter School the classroom, in other learning 
environments, in co-curricular and extra-curricular activities, volunteering to assist with clerical 
tasks, sharing special skills or knowledge, or mentoring other youth.   

Advocacy  

Parents contribute to decisions benefiting the school environment and student instruction through 
a variety of means: parental representation on the Governing Council; parent leadership on the 
Bilingual Advisory Committee (which meets September through May); and through the parent 
surveys.  

Assurance of Parental Commitment  

Enrollment in the School of Unlimited Learning is an acknowledgement by the parent/guardian 
that they:  

• Are willing to remain/become active in the learning of their child while he/she is enrolled 
in the school;  

• Understand and support the distinctive nature of the school and agree to adhere to the 
school’s policies and procedures.    

• Receive and read a Parent/Student/Teacher handbook that includes the policies and 
procedures as well as graduation requirements and courses offered.  

  



 

78 
 

Element E: Qualifications of School Employees 

The qualifications to be met by individuals to be employed by the charter school. 
California Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(E).  

The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission is solely responsible for the hiring of all charter 
school staff, the setting of qualifications consistent with this charter and state/federal education 
laws, and the establishment and administration of employee compensation scales and 
benefits.  Personnel administration is conducted in accordance with Fresno EOC Personnel 
Policies and Procedures and any School of Unlimited Learning Administrative Policies and 
Procedures adopted by the charter school’s Governing Council and the Fresno EOC Board of 
Commissioners in the furtherance of this charter.  Fresno EOC is non-sectarian in its hiring and 
employment practices.  

No preference is given to teachers employed by FUSD who seek employment with the Fresno 
EOC charter school. All personnel hired to teach required subjects hold a valid Commission on 
Teacher Credentialing certificate, permit, or other document required for the teacher’s certificated 
assignment pursuant to Education Code Section 47605(l)(1). The Charter School may also use 
local assignment options authorized in statute and regulations for the purpose of legally assigning 
certificated teachers, in the same manner as a governing board of a district. Teachers employed 
by charter schools during the 2019-20 school year shall have until July 1, 2025, to obtain the 
certificate required for the teacher’s certificated assignment. 

California teaching credentialCounselors and administrators hold a valid California credential 
appropriate to their designation to the extent required by law.  Instructors with special subject 
matter skills may be hired to teach courses not falling within the core academic subjects if 
credentialed teachers with the skills needed are not available.  Instructors of these courses are 
required to have a college degree with course work in relevant subjects or 3-5 years of professional 
experience in the subject to be taught. All staff are subject to fingerprint and background checks 
as required by law.  

An administrator, hired by Fresno EOC, performs day-to-day management of the school.  Other 
staff may include case managers, counselors, social workers, job trainers and coaches, and other 
support staff. Fresno EOC charter school staff are evaluated in accordance with Fresno EOC 
Personnel Policies and Procedures and other Fresno EOC charter school policies that may be 
adopted to promote student achievement.  Professional development is provided to the staff 
through several avenues:  Fresno EOC Human Resources Department, Fresno EOC Information 
Technology Department, SOUL administrative staff, contracted professionals, district staff, or state 
officials.  

All credentialed staff have their credentials filed with the Fresno County Office of Education, Fresno 
EOC Human Resources Department, and the school administrator, hereafter referred to as 
Principal/Chief Academic Officer (CAO) of the school). The Principal/CAO of the school serves as 
the advisor for each credentialed staff for credential renewal purposes.   



 

79 
 

Key qualifications for SOUL staff positions are outlined in specific job descriptions and overseen 
by Fresno EOC Human Resources Department.    

Every employee of the charter school complies with Fresno EOC hiring procedures and those 
outlined in Section 44237 of the Education Code referencing criminal record summaries.  Students 
with criminal records are handled under current policies of Education Code 49079 requiring 
notification to teachers about violent students.   

Throughout the year, as required by the California Department of Education, SOUL provides 
employee and student information to the state through the California Longitudinal Pupil 
Achievement Data System (CALPADS). CALPADS is a longitudinal data system used to maintain 
individual-level data including student demographics, course data, discipline, assessments, staff 
assignments, and other data for state and federal reporting. Fresno EOC/SOUL complies with all 
mandated state and federal reporting.    

As required by law, the school prepares an annual School Accountability Report Card to be 
approved by the Governing Council and the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners.  

  



 

80 
 

Element F: Health and Safety Procedures 

 

The School of Unlimited Learning Charter High School provides and maintains a safe learning and 
working environment for all pupils and employees.  All SOUL facilities meet or exceed state and 
local building codes.  SOUL conducts an annual review and submits an updated annual Safe 
School Plan to Fresno Unified School District. All staff are subject to fingerprints and background 
checks as required by law.   

SOUL staff are alerted to the health and safety needs of students and their families, staff, and 
volunteers. Policies and procedures are in place to define observation and reporting requirements 
for staff as well as attendance policies related to students and staff illnesses.  Part of the supportive 
environment for students includes identifying early warning signs of distress so that appropriate 
interventions may be implemented.  Staff are trained in First Aid and parents or guardians are 
appropriately notified of student illness or injury. Staff call for emergency medical assistance as 
warranted by the circumstances. Physicals are provided by Fresno EOC’s Health Services as 
needed, and for all students participating in sports.  

Students are required to maintain all health and immunization standards, including TB tests, and 
other records as required by state law. A copy of student immunization records is kept onsite in 
each student file. Employees maintain all health and immunization standards and other records as 
required of all regular Fresno EOC employees.  All employees must be trained in First Aid, CPR, 
and mandated reporting laws.  

Procedures for Background Checks 

Employees and contractors of the Charter School will be required to submit to a criminal 
background check and to furnish a criminal record summary as required by Education Code 
Sections 44237 and 45125.1. Applicants for employment must submit two sets of fingerprints to 
the California Department of Justice for the purpose of obtaining a criminal record summary. The 
Charter School shall not hire any person, in either a certificated or classified position, who has 
been convicted of a violent or serious felony except as otherwise provided by law, pursuant to 
Education Code Sections 44830.1 and 45122.1. The Principal of the Charter School shall monitor 
compliance with this policy and report to the Charter School Board of Directors on a regular basis.  
The Board President Chair shall monitor the fingerprinting and background clearance of the 
Principal.  Volunteers who will volunteer outside of the direct supervision of a credentialed 
employee shall be fingerprinted and receive background clearance prior to volunteering without 
the direct supervision of a credentialed employee. 

The procedures that the charter school will follow to ensure the health and safety of pupils 
and staff. These procedures shall require all of the following: 
(i) (i) That each employee of the charter school furnish the charter school with a criminal 
record summary as described in Section 44237. 
(ii) For all schools, the development of a school safety plan, which shall include the safety 
topics listed in subparagraphs (A) to (K), inclusive, of paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of 
Section 32282. For schools serving pupils in any of grades 7 to 12, inclusive, the 
development of a school safety plan shall also include the safety topic listed in subparagraph 
(L) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 32282. 
(iii) That the school safety plan be reviewed and updated by March 1 of every year by the 

             
             

   
 



 

81 
 

Medication in School 

The charter School will adhere to Education Code Section 49423 regarding administration of 
medicine in school. SOUL will adhere to Education Code Section 49414 regarding epinephrine 
auto-injectors and training for staff members. Per AB 1651, the Charter School shall store 
emergency epinephrine auto-injectors in an accessible location upon need for emergency use and 
include that location in annual notices required by law.  To the extent the Charter School maintains 
a stock of albuterol inhalers to respond to respiratory distress in students, the Charter School shall 
comply with the requirements of Education Code Section 49414.7, including with respect to 
training, notices, and the stocking of albuterol inhalers. 

Tuberculosis Risk Assessment and Examination 
 
Employees, and volunteers who have frequent or prolonged contact with students, will be assessed 
and examined (if necessary) for tuberculosis prior to commencing employment and working with 
students, and for employees at least once each four years thereafter, as required by Education 
Code Section 49406. 
 
 
Immunization 
 
All immunization and health related issues for both employees and students in the charter school 
are addressed in accordance with Fresno EOC policy and applicable law (Education Code 
47605.b.6).  All enrolled students who engage in in-person learning or activities, e.g., at a resource 
center, will be required to provide records documenting immunizations as is required at public 
schools pursuant to Health and Safety Code Sections 120325-120375, and Title 17, California 
Code of Regulations Sections 6000-6075.  All rising 7th grade students must be immunized with a 
pertussis (whooping cough) vaccine booster.   
 
Suicide Prevention Policy  
 
The Charter School shall maintain a policy on student suicide prevention in accordance with 
Education Code Section 215.  The Charter School shall review, at minimum every fifth year, its 
policy on pupil suicide prevention and, if necessary, update its policy. Pursuant to AB 58 (2021-
22), the Charter School will also review and update its suicide prevention policy by January 1, 2025 
to incorporate best practices identified by the California Department of Education’s model policy, 
as revised. 
 
Prevention of Human Trafficking 
 
The Charter School shall identify and implement the most appropriate methods of informing parents 
and guardians of students in grades 6 through 12 of human trafficking prevention resources. 
 
Menstrual Products  
 
The Charter School shall stock its restrooms at all times with an adequate supply of menstrual 
products, available and accessible, free of cost, in all women’s restrooms and all-gender restrooms, 
and in at least one men’s restroom. The Charter School shall post a notice regarding the 
requirements of this section in a prominent and conspicuous location in every restroom required to 
stock menstrual products, available and accessible, free of cost, pursuant to this section. This 
notice shall include the text of this section and contact information, including an email address and 



 

82 
 

telephone number, for a designated individual responsible for maintaining the requisite supply of 
menstrual products. 
 
All Gender Restrooms 
On or before July 1, 2026, the Charter School shall provide and maintain at least one all-gender 
restroom for voluntary student use at any schoolsite it operates that has more than one female 
restroom and more than one male restroom designated exclusively for student use.  The restroom 
shall have signage identifying the bathroom as being open to all genders, it shall remain unlocked, 
unobstructed, and easily accessible by any student, and be available during school hours and 
school functions when students are present.  The Charter School shall designate a staff member 
to serve as a point of contact and to post a notice regarding these requirements. 
 
Nutritionally Adequate Free or Reduced Price Meal 
 
The Charter School shall provide each needy student, as defined in Education Code Section 
49552, with one nutritionally adequate free or reduced-price meal, as defined in Education Code 
Section 49553(a), during each school day.  The Charter School shall provide this meal for any 
eligible student on any school day that the student is scheduled for educational activities, as 
defined in Education Code Section 49010, lasting two or more hours, at a school site, resource 
center, meeting space, or other satellite facility operated by the Charter School. 
 
California Healthy Youth Act 
 
The Charter School shall teach sexual health education and human immunodeficiency virus (“HIV”) 
prevention education to students pursuant to the California Healthy Youth Act (Education Code 
Section 51930, et seq.). 

Fire and Earthquake Preparedness  

SOUL has developed, implemented, and maintains an earthquake preparedness program as part 
of its annual Safe School Plan. The charter school has implemented a fire safety program including 
scheduled fire drills, earthquake drills, and disaster preparedness training for students and staff as 
delineated in the annual Safe School Plan. The annual Safe School Plan is revised on an annual 
basis, approved by SOUL’s Governing Council, submitted to Fresno Unified School District by 
March 1 of each year, and reviewed with school staff at the beginning of each school year.   

Physical and Sexual Abuse Training  

All employees will be mandated child abuse reporters and will follow all applicable reporting laws, 
the same policies and procedures used by the District.  On-going training is provided to all school 
employees on the identification of physical abuse, sexual abuse, neglect, and the appropriate 
responses as required by law. Employees are required to report all incidents of child abuse or 
suspected child abuse. In addition, annual training on bullying is provided to all staff.  SOUL shall 
provide mandated reporter training to all employees annually in accordance with Education Code 
Section 44691. 

School Safety Plan 
 
The Charter School shall adopt a School Safety Plan, to be reviewed and updated by March 1 of 
every year, which shall include identification of appropriate strategies and programs that will 
provide or maintain a high level of school safety and address the Charter School’s procedures for 



 

83 
 

complying with applicable laws related to school safety, including the development of all of the 
following pursuant to Education Code Section 32282(a)(2)(A)-(K):  

• child abuse reporting procedures  
• routine and emergency disaster procedures  
• policies for students who committed an act under Education Code Section 48915 and other 

Charter School-designated serious acts leading to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory 
expulsion recommendations  

• procedures to notify teachers of dangerous students pursuant to Education Code Section 
49079 

• a discrimination and harassment policy consistent with Education Code Section 200 
• provisions of any schoolwide dress code that prohibits students from wearing “gang-related 

apparel,” if applicable 
• procedures for safe ingress and egress of pupils, parents, and employees to and from the 

Charter School 
• a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
• the rules and procedures on school discipline adopted pursuant to Education Code 

Sections 35291, 35291.5, 47605 
• Procedures to assess and respond to reports of any dangerous, violent, or unlawful 

activity that is being conducted or threatened to be conducted at the school, at an activity 
sponsored by the school, or on a schoolbus serving the school 

• procedures for conducting tactical responses to criminal incidents 
• a protocol in the event a pupil is suffering or is reasonably believed to be suffering from an 

opioid overdose 
 
The School Safety Plan shall be drafted specifically to the needs of the facility in conjunction with 
law enforcement and the Fire Marshal.  Staff shall receive training in emergency response, 
including appropriate "first responder" training or its equivalent.  
 
Disaster procedures included in the School Safety Plan shall address and include adaptations for 
students with disabilities. To the extent an employee, parent/guardian, educational rights holder, 
or student brings concerns regarding the procedures to the principal and, if there is merit to the 
concern, the principal shall direct the School Safety Plan to be modified accordingly. 
 
Workplace Violence Prevention Plan 
 
As of July 1, 2024, the Charter School shall establish, implement, and maintain, at all times in all 
work areas, an effective workplace violence prevention plan consistent with the requirements of 
Labor Code Section 6401.9. 
 
Bloodborne Pathogens 
 
The Charter School shall meet state and federal standards for dealing with bloodborne pathogens 
and other potentially infectious materials in the work place.  The Board shall establish a written 
infectious control plan designed to protect employees and students from possible infection due to 
contact with bloodborne viruses, including hepatitis B virus (“HBV”). Whenever exposed to blood 
or other bodily fluids through injury or accident, staff and students shall follow the latest medical 
protocol for disinfecting procedures. 
 
 



 

84 
 

Drug-, Alcohol-, and Smoke-Free Environment 
 
The Charter School shall function as a drug-, alcohol-, and smoke-free environment. 
 
Facility Safety 
 
The Charter School shall comply with Education Code Section 47610 by utilizing facilities that are 
either compliant with the Field Act or facilities that are compliant with the California Building 
Standards Code.  The Charter School agrees to test sprinkler systems, fire extinguishers, and fire 
alarms annually at its facilities to ensure that they are maintained in an operable condition at all 
times.  The Charter School shall conduct fire drills as required under Education Code Section 
32001. 
 
Comprehensive Anti-Discrimination and Harassment Policies and Procedures 
 
The Charter School is committed to providing a school that is free from discrimination and sexual 
harassment, as well as any harassment based upon the actual or perceived characteristics of race, 
religion, creed, color, gender, gender identity, gender expression, nationality, national origin, 
ancestry, ethnic group identification, genetic information, age, medical condition, marital status, 
sexual orientation, sex and pregnancy, physical or mental disability, childbirth or related medical 
conditions, military and veteran status, denial of family and medical care leave, or on the basis of 
a person’s association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived 
characteristics, or any other basis protected by federal, state, local law, ordinance or regulation. 
The Charter School shall develop a comprehensive policy to prevent and immediately remediate 
any concerns about discrimination or harassment at the Charter School (including employee to 
employee, employee to student, and student to employee misconduct). Misconduct of this nature 
is very serious and will be addressed in accordance with the Charter School’s anti-discrimination 
and harassment policies.  
 
A copy of the policy shall be provided as part of any orientation program conducted for new and 
continuing pupils at the beginning of each quarter, semester, or summer session, as applicable, 
and to each faculty member, all members of the administrative staff, and all members of the support 
staff at the beginning of the first quarter or semester of the school year, or at the time that there is 
a new employee hired. The Charter School shall create a poster that notifies students of the 
applicable policy on sexual harassment in accordance with Education Code Section 231.6, and 
shall prominently and conspicuously display the poster in each bathroom and locker room at the 
schoolsite and in public areas at the schoolsite that are accessible to, and commonly frequented 
by, pupils. 
 
Bullying Prevention 
 
The Charter School shall adopt procedures for preventing acts of bullying, including cyberbullying. 
The Charter School shall annually make available the online training module developed by the 
CDE pursuant to Education Code Section 32283.5(a) to certificated schoolsite employees and all 
other schoolsite employees who have regular interaction with children. 
 
Supporting LGBTQ Students 
 
Commencing with the 2025-26 school year and ending with completion of the 2029-30 school year, 
the charter school shall use an online training delivery platform and curriculum to provide at least 



 

85 
 

1 hour of required LGBTQ cultural competency training annually to teachers and other certificated 
employees and maintain records of such training as required by Education Code Section 218. 
 
Homicide Threats 
      
The Charter School shall comply with all requirements under Education Code Sections 49390-
49395 regarding mandatory reporting in response to homicidal threats. All employees and Board 
members who are alerted to or who observe any threat or perceived threat in writing or through an 
action of a student that creates a reasonable suspicion that the student is preparing to commit a 
homicidal act related to school or a school activity shall make a report to law enforcement. 
 
Gun Safety Notice 
 
Beginning in the 2023-24 school year, aAt the beginning of the first semester, the Charter School 
shall distribute a notice to the parents/guardians of each student addressing California’s child gun 
access prevention laws and laws related to firearm safety utilizing the most updated model 
language published by the California Department of Education. 
 
Athletic Programs 
 
To the extent the Charter School operates athletic programs, the Charter School shall comply 
with all applicable laws related to health and safety policies and procedures surrounding athletic 
programs at charter schools, including but not limited to providing information to athletes 
regarding sudden cardiac arrest and annually providing each athlete an Opioid Factsheet for 
Patients. In the event the Charter School participates in any interscholastic athletic programs, it 
shall comply with all applicable requirements, including, but not limited to, adopting a written 
emergency action plan for sudden cardiac arrest or other medical emergencies related to athletic 
programs, and acquiring at least one automated external defibrillator. Further, the Charter 
School’s emergency action plan shall describe the location of emergency medical equipment and 
include a description of the manner and frequency at which the procedures to be followed in the 
event of sudden cardiac arrest and other medical emergencies, including concussion and heat 
illness will be rehearsed.  By July 1, 2024, coach training shall include recognition of the signs 
and symptoms of and responding to concussions, heat illness, and cardiac arrest. 
 
In the event the Charter School participates in the California Interscholastic Federation it shall, on 
or before April 1, 2025, post on its website a standardized incident form as developed by the 
CDE to receive complaints of racial discrimination, harassment, or hazing alleged to occur at high 
school sporting games or sporting event and shall include instructions on how to submit a 
completed incident form consistent with Education Code Section 33353. 
 
Transportation Services. 
 
Effective July 1, 2025, the Charter School shall comply with the requirements of Education Code 
Section 39875(c), if applicable, relating to background checks and testing for individuals 
providing transportation services for students.”   
  



 

86 
 

Element G: Means to Achieve a Racial and EthnicStudent Population Balance 

 “The means by which the charter school will achieve a balance of racial and ethnic balance among 
its pupils, special education pupils, and English learner pupils, including redesignated fluent 
English proficient pupils, as defined by the evaluation rubrics in Section 52064.5, that is reflective 
of the general population residing within the territorial jurisdiction of the school district to which the 
charter petition is submitted. Upon renewal, for a charter school not deemed to be a local 
educational agency for purposes of special education pursuant to Section 47641, the chartering 
authority may consider the effect of school placements made by the chartering authority in 
providing a free and appropriate public education as required by the federal Individuals with 
Disabilities Education Act (Public Law 101-476), on the balance of pupils with disabilities at the 
charter school..” California Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(G).  

The School of Unlimited Learning continues to strive to maintain a balance of racial and ethnic 
balance among its pupils,  special education pupils, and English learner pupils, including 
redesignated fluent English proficient pupils that is reflective of the general population within the 
city of FresnoDistrict through SOUL’s open enrollment policy.  

The School of Unlimited Learning conducts outreach designed to achieve and maintain this 
balance in a variety of ways. SOUL’s programs are listed on the Fresno EOC’s website and are 
designed to target and relate to the students who are the subject of Education Code Section 
47605(c)(5)(G). SOUL receives several referrals from many of the programs operated by Fresno 
EOC, such as Employment and Training, Early Head Start, Fresno EOC Health Clinics, Fresno 
EOC Sanctuary/Youth Shelter, Fresno EOC Street Outreach, and the WIC program. On a regular 
basis, SOUL provides updated information to other high schools regarding enrollment, admissions, 
etc., including SOUL’s capacity to well serve a racially and ethnically diverse student population, 
as well as special education students and English learners. Over the past several years, SOUL 
has created close working relationships with such agencies as Fresno County Probation, the 
Juvenile Justice System, Kaiser Mental Health, and a variety of foster care facilities from which 
SOUL receives numerous referrals, and which serve students of diverse racial and ethnic 
backgrounds, students who qualify for special education services, and English learners. In addition, 
SOUL staff is invited on occasion to describe its educational programs and services on local 
Spanish radio and television, supporting SOUL’s outreach efforts to racial and ethnic students and 
English learners. Flyers describing school program and services are made available in 
Spanish.   Through these broad outreach activities and referral channels across the jurisdiction of 
the District, SOUL is able to recruit racial and ethnic pupils, special education students, and English 
learners representative of the District’s population, and SOUL will continue to develop, implement, 
and revise outreach strategies as necessary to achieve the student population balance identified 
in this element. 

 

 

 



 

87 
 

Element H: Admissions RequirementsPolicies and Procedures 

“Admission requirements, if applicablepolicies and procedures, consistent with [Education Code 
Section 47605] subdivision (e).” California Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(H).    

Charter schools are schools of choice. The charter school admits all pupils who wish to attend the 
school. For all students, the following apply:   

Consistent with California Education Code, Section 47605.(e)d,, the School of Unlimited Learning 
develops and adopts its own procedures for student enrollment. The School of Unlimited Learning 
has an open enrollment and open exit policy.  Enrollment shall be voluntary and no tuition is 
charged.  The School of Unlimited Learning is non-sectarian in its admission policies and its 
programs and shall not discriminate against any student on the basis of race, ethnicity, national 
origin, gender, sexual orientation, religion, or disability, or any of the characteristics listed in 
Education Code Section 220, and follows federal laws concerning discrimination.  

In accordance with Education Code Sections 49011 and 47605(e)(2)(B)(iv), admission preferences 
shall not require mandatory parental volunteer hours as a criterion for admission or continued 
enrollment. 

In accordance with Education Code Section 47605(e)(4)(A), the Charter School shall not 
discourage a pupil from enrolling or seeking to enroll in the charter school for any reason, including, 
but not limited to, academic performance of the pupil or because the pupil exhibits any of the 
characteristics described in Education Code Section 47605(e)(2)(B)(iii), including pupils with 
disabilities, academically low-achieving pupils, English Learners, neglected or delinquent pupils, 
homeless pupils, or pupils who are economically disadvantaged, as determined by eligibility for 
any free or reduced-price meal program, foster youth, or pupils based on nationality, race, ethnicity, 
or sexual orientation. Similarly, in accordance with Section 47605(e)(4)(C), the Charter School shall 
not encourage a pupil currently attending the Charter School to disenroll from the Charter School 
or transfer to another school for any reason, including, but not limited to, the academic performance 
of the pupil or because the pupil exhibits any of the characteristics described in Education Code 
Section 47605(e)(2)(B)(iii), as listed above. 

Pursuant to Education Code Section 47605(e)(4)(D), the Charter School shall post a notice 
developed by CDE on the Charter Schools website, outlining the requirements of Section 
47605(e)(4), and make this notice available to parents (i) when a parent, guardian, or pupil inquires 
about enrollment; (ii) before conducting an enrollment lottery; (iii) before disenrollment of a pupil.  

In the event there are too many eligible applicants for the space available, a waiting list is 
used.  When space becomes available, the school uses this list to fill the vacancies by a public 
random drawingSOUL will conduct a random public drawing consistent with the procedures below. 
Consistent with California Education Code 47605.(e)d(.2).(B), preference is extended to pupils 
currently attending the charter school and pupils who reside in the Fresno Unified School District. 
In order to attain SOUL's vision of a racially, economically, and geographically diverse population, 



 

88 
 

SOUL had developed an admissions process designed to reach out to all families and to enable 
the school to have a balanced and diverse student body.  

Educationally disadvantaged students are targeted. Research on the progress of charter schools 
in meeting the needs of the educationally disadvantaged shows that charter schools can indeed 
serve all students. Surveys of California's charter schools have demonstrated that these schools 
are educating a higher percentage of educationally disadvantaged students and below-grade-level 
students than their counterpart district schools.  

If a student has been expelled from another school district, the School of Unlimited Learning 
reserves the right to review the student expulsion data to determine feasibility of appropriate 
placement.  

The School of Unlimited Learning complies with all state and federal laws relating to the provision 
of special education services for public school pupils. No student otherwise eligible to enroll in the 
charter school will be denied enrollment due to a disability or the charter school’s inability to provide 
necessary services.   

In accordance with Education Code Section 47605(e)(4)(B), the Charter School shall not request 
a pupil’s records or require a parent, guardian, or pupil to submit the pupil’s records to the Charter 
School before enrollment. 

The principal/designee meets regularly with onsite special education personnel. Special education 
personnel onsite at a charter school should always be working as a team with the school staff. The 
Principal holds special education personnel accountable for how IEP goals and objectives are 
communicated to teachers, aides, and parents. Persons hired to provide special education 
services, if not credentialed, receive the specialized training to provide the appropriate services to 
special education students.  

Specific services pertaining to special education students and English Language Learners are 
specifically outlined in this charter document under Element A: Description of the School’s 
Educational Program.   

Public Random Drawing 

Applications will be accepted during publicly advertised open enrollment periods(s) each year for 
enrollment in the following or current school year.  Following the open enrollment period(s) each 
year, applications shall be counted to determine whether any grade level has received more 
applications than availability.  In the event that this happens, the Charter School will hold a public 
random drawing (or “lottery”) to determine admission for the impacted grade level, with the 
exception of existing students, who are guaranteed admission in the following school year. 
Admission preferences in the case of a public random drawing shall be given to the following 
students in the following order:  

1. Siblings of students admitted to or attending the Charter School 



 

89 
 

2. Children of Charter School teachers, staff, and board members 
3. Residents of the District  
4. All other applicants 

The Charter School agrees to adhere to the requirements related to admission preferences as set 
forth in Education Code Section 47605(e)(2)(B)(i)-(iv). 

The Board of Directors will take all necessary efforts to ensure lottery procedures are fairly 
executed. Lottery spaces are pulled in order of grade level by the designated lottery official 
(appointed by the Chief Executive Officer). Separate lotteries shall be conducted for each grade in 
which there are fewer vacancies than pupils interested in attending. All lotteries shall take place on 
the same day in a single location. Lotteries will be conducted in ascending order beginning with 
the lowest applicable grade level. There is no weighted priority assigned to the preference 
categories; rather, within each grade level, students will be drawn from pools beginning with all 
applicants who qualify for the first preference category, and shall continue with that preference 
category until all vacancies within that grade level have been filled. If there are more students in a 
preference category than there are spaces available, a random drawing will be held from within 
that preference category until all available spaces are filled. If all students from the preference 
category have been selected and there are remaining spaces available in that grade level, students 
from the second preference category will be drawn in the lottery, and the drawing shall continue 
until all spaces are filled and preference categories are exhausted in the order provided above.  

At the conclusion of the public random drawing, all students who were not granted admission due 
to capacity shall be given the option to put their name on a wait list according to their draw in the 
lottery. This wait list will allow students the option of enrollment in the case of an opening during 
the current school year. In no circumstance will a wait list carry over to the following school year.  

Public random drawing rules, deadlines, dates and times will be communicated in the application 
form and on the Charter School’s website.  Public notice for the date and time of the public random 
drawing will also be posted once the application deadline has passed. The Charter School will also 
inform all applicants and interested parties of the rules to be followed during the public random 
drawing process via mail or email at least two weeks prior to the lottery date.  

The Charter School will conduct the lottery in the spring for enrollment in fall of that year, and at 
periodic intervals during the then-current school year as necessary.  In the event that an opening 
arises or exists during the school year and the Charter School has exhausted its wait list from the 
preceding lottery, or there was no prior lottery and wait list, the Charter School will conduct a 
random public drawing according to the procedures above at specified open enrollment intervals 
during the school year.    

  



 

90 
 

Element I: Financial (and Programmatic) Audit 

“The manner in which annual, independent, financial audits shall be conducted , which shall 
employ generally accepted accounting principles, and the manner in which audit exceptions and 
deficiencies shall be resolved to the satisfaction of the chartering authority.” Education Code 
Section 47605(bc)(5)(I).   

As a 501.c.3 nonprofit organization, Fresno EOC conforms to existing law that governs non-profit 
organizations and has established a “financially independent charter school”.  This term was 
recommended by the California Department of Education in October 1997 to distinguish such 
programs from those operating under the fiscal accountability framework (AB 1200) of the 
chartering entity.  Fresno EOC maintains financial records relating to the operation of the charter 
school in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards of fiscal management.  Fresno 
EOC conducts, at its own expense, an annual audit of the financial and programmatic operations 
of the Fresno EOC charter school, as required by Education Code Sections 47605(c)(5)(I) and 
47605(m).   

The financial audit is conducted as part of the annual overall agency audit, which is performed by 
an independent auditing firm of certified public accountants who have experience in education 
finance. A copy of the audit report, including an audit report on the distinct fiscal operations of the 
school, is submitted to FUSD within 30-days of its completion, which is on or before December 
15th.  Pending completion of annual audit reports, financial statements are provided to meet other 
FUSD financial reporting needs.  

FUSD’s oversight and monitoring obligations are clearly delineated under Section D, titled “Fiscal 
Relationship, of the Memorandum of Understanding between Fresno EOC’s SOUL Charter School 
and Fresno Unified School District”.  

Failure to provide an annual audit or resolve material audit exceptions may lead to automatic 
reconsideration of the charter agreement subject to the procedures under Education Code Section 
47607(f)-(h).  To continue operation of the charter school under such circumstances requires 
approval of the FUSD Board of Trusteesis subject to the procedures under Education Code Section 
47607(f)-(h).  

Fresno Unified School District, as the chartering agency, is not liable for the debts or obligations 
of the charter school. (Education Code 47604 (d).c).  

  



 

91 
 

Element J: Pupil Suspension and Expulsion Policy and Procedures 

 “The procedures by which pupils can be suspended or expelled from the charter school for 
disciplinary reasons or otherwise involuntarily removed from the charter school for any reason. 
These procedures, at a minimum, shall include an explanation of how the charter school will 
comply with federal and state constitutional procedural and substantive due process 
requirements that are consistent with all of the following: 

(i) For suspensions of fewer than 10 days, provide oral or written notice of the charges against 
the pupil and, if the pupil denies the charges, an explanation of the evidence that supports the 
charges and an opportunity for the pupil to present the pupil’s side of the story. 

(ii) For suspensions of 10 days or more and all other expulsions for disciplinary reasons, both of 
the following: 

(I) Provide timely, written notice of the charges against the pupil and an explanation of the pupil’s 
basic rights. 

(II) Provide a hearing adjudicated by a neutral officer within a reasonable number of days at 
which the pupil has a fair opportunity to present testimony, evidence, and witnesses and confront 
and cross-examine adverse witnesses, and at which the pupil has the right to bring legal counsel 
or an advocate. 

(iii) Contain a clear statement that no pupil shall be involuntarily removed by the charter school 
for any reason unless the parent or guardian of the pupil has been provided written notice of 
intent to remove the pupil no less than five school days before the effective date of the action. 
The written notice shall be in the native language of the pupil or the pupil’s parent or guardian, or, 
if the pupil is a homeless child or youth, or a foster child or youth, in the native language of the 
homeless or foster child’s educational rights holder. In the case of a foster child or youth, the 
written notice shall also be provided to the foster child’s attorney and county social worker. If the 
pupil is an Indian child, as defined in Section 224.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, the 
written notice shall also be provided to the Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, 
county social worker. The written notice shall inform the pupil, the pupil’s parent or guardian,  the 
homeless child’s educational rights holder, the foster child’s educational rights holder, attorney, 
and county social worker, or the Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social 
worker of the right to initiate the procedures specified in clause (ii) before the effective date of the 
action. If the pupil’s parent or guardian, the homeless child’s educational rights holder, the foster 
child’s educational rights holder, attorney, or county social worker, or the Indian child’s tribal 
social worker or, if applicable, county social worker initiates the procedures specified in clause 
(ii), the pupil shall remain enrolled and shall not be removed until the charter school issues a final 
decision. For purposes of this clause, “involuntarily removed” includes disenrolled, dismissed, 
transferred, or terminated, but does not include suspensions specified in clauses (i) and (ii).  

(iv) A foster child’s educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker and an Indian 
child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker shall have the same rights a 



 

92 
 

parent or guardian of a child has to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation 
determination notice, involuntary transfer notice, and other documents and related information.” 
California Education Code Section 47605(bc)(5)(J).  

Student Suspension and Expulsion  

Pursuant to California Education Code, Sections 48900 through 48927, students of the School of 
Unlimited Learning may be expelled from the charter school for persistent non-compliance with the 
terms of this charter and the rules, procedures, and policies outlined in the SOUL parent/student 
handbook. SOUL maintains a comprehensive set of student discipline policies. These policies are 
distributed as part of the school’s parent/student handbook and clearly describe the school’s 
expectations regarding attendance, mutual respect, substance abuse, violence, safety, work 
habits, and acceptable behavior.  

Suspension, the temporary removal of the student from the student body, is a serious disciplinary 
sanction. A student is suspended for repeated major behavioral violations or for serious misconduct 
after having been placed on a student contract.  A suspended student is removed from all extra-
curricular and co-curricular activities for a designated period of time.  

No student shall be involuntarily removed by the Charter School for any reason unless the 
parent/guardian of the student has been provided written notice of intent to remove the student no 
less than five (5) school days before the effective date of the action. The written notice shall be in 
the native language of the student or the student’s parent/guardian and shall inform the student, 
and the student’s parent/guardian  of the basis for which the student is being involuntarily removed, 
and the student’s parent/guardians  right to request a hearing to challenge the involuntary removal.  
If a student’s parent, guardian requests a hearing, the Charter School shall utilize the same hearing 
procedures specified below for expulsions, before the effective date of the action to involuntarily 
remove the student. If the student’s parent/guardian requests a hearing, , the student shall remain 
enrolled and shall not be removed until the Charter School issues a final decision. As used herein, 
“involuntarily removed” includes disenrolled, dismissed, transferred, or terminated, but does not 
include removals for misconduct which may be grounds for suspension or expulsion as enumerated 
below. Students may be involuntarily removed for reasons including, but not limited to, failure to 
comply with the terms of the student’s independent study Master Agreement pursuant to Education 
Code Section 51747(c)(4). 

Homework Assignments During Suspension 

In accordance with Education Code Section 47606.2(a), upon the request of a parent, a legal 
guardian or other person holding the right to make education decisions for the student, or the 
affected student, a teacher shall provide to a student in any of grades 9 to 12, inclusive, who has 
been suspended from school for two (2) or more school days, the homework that the student would 
otherwise have been assigned. In accordance with Education Code Section 47606.2(b), if a 
homework assignment that is requested pursuant to Section 47606.2(a) and turned into the teacher 
by the student either upon the student’s return to school from suspension or within the timeframe 
originally prescribed by the teacher, whichever is later, is not graded before the end of the academic 
term, that assignment shall not be included in the calculation of the student’s overall grade in the 
class. 

 



 

93 
 

Notice to Teachers 

The Charter School shall notify teachers of each student who has engaged in or is reasonably 
suspected to have engaged in any of the acts listed in Education Code Section 49079 and the 
corresponding enumerated offenses set forth below. 

Withdrawal Removal from Program  

In lieu of expulsion and under applicable circumstances, SOUL reserves the right to involuntarily 
remove a student from the program subject to the requirements of Education Code Section 
47605(c)(5)(J). Upon recommendation by the Guidance Dean, the Principal pursues a student’s 
expulsion and/or permanent involuntary removal from the school.  A student may be expelled for 
continual or serious misconduct (violation of Zero Tolerance Policy), or for a serious offense or for 
a series of infractions detrimental to the order of the school.    

SOUL’s procedures for handling student discipline, suspension, and expulsion from the program 
follow the procedures identified in California Education Code, Section 48900. Prior to enrollment, 
each student and his/her parent/guardian are required to verify that they have reviewed and 
understand the school policies. Students that have either violated the school’s discipline policies, 
who have caused a serious disruption to the educational process, and/or who present a safety 
threat may be suspended for up to 5 school days. The school notifies and confers with the student’s 
parent/guardian as soon as possible regarding the suspension.  If the violation of the discipline 
policy constitutes a serious offense, and/or if the student presents an ongoing threat to the safety 
of the school in general, school administration may take action to expel the student from the 
school.  In such cases, the school sends a written notice of the facts, allegations, and 
student/parent rights to the parent/guardian and a committee designated by administration holds a 
hearing regarding the offense. The committee may recommend that the student be expelled or 
offered reinstatement, as appropriate. These processes are amended as required by law to protect 
the rights of students with disabilities or exceptional needs.  

Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion of Students  

Education Code 48900 – Conditions for Suspension/Expulsion  

A pupil shall not be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion unless the 
superintendent or the principal of the school in which the pupil is enrolled determines that the pupil 
has violated section 48900, section 48900.2, section 48900.3, or section 48900.4 of the California 
Education Code: (1) While open school grounds; (2) While going to or coming from school; (3) 
During the lunch period whether on or off campus or (4) During, or while going to or coming from 
a school sponsored activity or under the supervision of school staff. 
 
A student may be suspended or expelled for any of the following acts when it is determined the 
pupil:  

(a) Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person or 
willfully used force or violence upon the person of another except in self-defense.  
(b) Possessed sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, mace/pepper spray or 
other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type the pupil 
had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which 
is concurred by the principal or the designee of the principal.  
(c) Unlawfully possessed, used sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of, 



 

94 
 

any controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11053) of Division 10 
of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind.  
(d) Unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any controlled substance listed in Chapter 
2 (commencing with Section 11053) Of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic 
beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind, and then either sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished 
to any person another liquid, substance, or material and represented the liquid, substance, or 
material as a controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant.  
(e) Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion.  
(f) Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property.  
(g) Stolen or attempted to steal school property or private property.  
(h) Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or nicotine products, 
including, but not limited to, cigarettes cigars, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless 
tobacco, snuff, chew packets and betel. However this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products.  
(i) Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity.  
(j) Unlawfully possessed or unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any drug 
paraphernalia, as defined in Section 11014.5 of the Health and Safety Code.  
(k) Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of 
supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or other school personnel 
engaged in the performance of their duties.  
(l) Engaged in hazing, or malicious defamation of other pupils or school personnel.  
(m) Committed an act in violation of the Dress Code, Closed Campus or any other SOUL 
Governing Council Policy and or school regulation.  
(n) Engaged in a gang-related activity.  
(o) Knowingly received stolen school property or private property.  
(p) Possession of an imitation firearm. As used in this section, “imitation firearm” means a 
replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical properties to an existing firearm 
as to lead a reasonable person to conclude the replica is a firearm.  
(q) Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Section 261. 266c. 286,. 
287, 288,. 288a. or 289 of, or former section 288a of, the Penal Code or committed a sexual 
battery as defined in Section 243.4 of the Penal Code.  
 (r) Harassed threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a 
school disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a 
witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both.  
(s) Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma.  
(t) Engaged in, or attempted to engage in hazing. For the purposes of this subdivision, “hazing” 
means a method of initiation or pre-initiation into a pupil organization or body, whether or not 
the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational institution, which is likely to 
cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace resulting in physical or mental 
harm to a former, current, or prospective pupil. For purposes of this section, “hazing” does not 
include athletic events or school-sanctioned events.  
(u) Made terrorist threats against school officials and/or school property. For purposes of this 
section, “terroristic threat” includes any statement, whether written or oral, by a person who 
willfully threatens to commit a crime which will result in death, great bodily injury to another 
person, or property damage in excess of one thousand dollars ($1,000), with the specific intent 
that the statement is to be taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out, 
which, on its face and under the circumstances in which it is made, is so unequivocal, 
unconditional, immediate, and specific as to convey to the person threatened, a gravity of 
purpose and an immediate prospect of execution of the threat, and thereby causes that person 
reasonably to be in sustained fear for his or her own safety or for his or her immediate family’s 
safety, or for the protection of school property, or the personal property of the person threatened 



 

95 
 

or his or her immediate family.  
(v) Committed sexual harassment, as defined in Education Code Section 212.5. For the 
purposes of this section, the conduct described in Section 212.5 must be considered by a 
reasonable person of the same gender as the victim to be sufficiently severe or pervasive to 
have a negative impact upon the individual’s academic performance or to create an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment. This section applies to pupils in any 
of grades 4 to 12, inclusive.  
(w) Caused, attempted to cause, threaten to cause or participated in an act of hate violence, 
as defined in subdivision (e) of Section 233 of the Education Code. This section applies apply 
to pupils in any of grades 4 to 12, inclusive.  
(x) Intentionally harassed, threatened or intimidated a student or group of students to the extent 
of having the actual and reasonably expected effect of materially disrupting class work, creating 
substantial disorder and invading student rights by creating an intimidating or hostile 
educational environment. This section applies to pupils in any of grades 4 to 12, inclusive.  
(y) Engaged in an act of bullying, including, but not limited to, bullying committed by means of 
an electronic act (defined as the transmission of a communication, including, but not limited to, 
a message, text, sound, or image, or a post on a social network Internet Web site, by means 
of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone or other 
wireless communication device, computer, or pager) directed specifically toward a pupil or 
school personnel. “Bullying” means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, 
including communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, and including acts 
one or more acts committed by a student or group of students which would be deemed hate 
violence or harassment, threats, or intimidation, which are directed toward one or more 
students that has or can be reasonably predicted to have the effect of one or more of the 
following:  

1. Placing a reasonable student (defined as a student, including, but is not limited to, a 
student with exceptional needs, who exercises average care, skill, and judgment in conduct 
for a person of his or her age, or for a person of his or her age with exceptional needs) or 
students in fear of harm to that student’s or those students‟ person or property.  
2. Causing a reasonable student to experience a substantially detrimental effect on his or 
her physical or mental health.  
3. Causing a reasonable student to experience substantial interference with his or her 
academic performance. 
4. Causing a reasonable student to experience substantial interference with his or her ability 
to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by the Charter 
School 

(z) A pupil who aids or abets, as defined in Section 31 of the Penal Code, the infliction or 
attempted infliction of physical injury to another person may be subject to suspension, but not 
expulsion, except that a pupil who has been adjudged by a juvenile court to have committed, as 
an aider and abettor, a crime of physical violence in which the victim suffered great bodily injury 
or serious bodily injury are subject to discipline pursuant to subdivision (a1). (a1) Caused, 
attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person. 
(aa) A pupil who, within the meaning of Education Code Section 48900 (.2), commits  Sexual 
Harassment, as defined in Section 212.5, (grades 4-12.)  
 
(bb) A pupil who, within the meaning of Education Code Section 48900(.3) aAttempted, threatened, 
caused, or participated in an act of hate violence, (grades 4-12). In addition to the reasons specified 
in Sections 48900 and 48900.2, a pupil in any of grades 4 to 12, inclusive, may be suspended from 
school or recommended for expulsion from the program if the principal of the school in which the 
pupil has caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate violence 
as defined in subdivision (e) of Section 33032.5.  Hate Violence Defined EC (e) aAs used in the 



 

96 
 

section, “hate violence” means any act punishable under Section 422.6 or 422.75 of the penal 
code.  
(cc)  A pupil who, within the meaning of Education Code Section 48900(.4) i Intentionally engaged 
in harassment, threats, or intimidation against a pupil or group of   
       pupils, grades 4-12.  
(dd) A pupil who, within the meaning of Education Code Section 48900(.7)  mMade terrorist threats 
against school officials or school property, or both.  

 
Education Code 48915  

1. Mandatory Recommendation for Expulsion: (1) causing serious physical injury to another 
person, except in self-defense; (2) possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous 
object of no reasonable use to the pupil at school; (3) unlawful possession of any controlled 
substance except for the first offense for the possession of not more than one avoirdupois 
ounce of marijuana other than concentrated cannabis; (4) robbery or extortion; and (5) 
assault or battery upon a school employee.  

2. Mandatory Expulsion Requirements: (1) Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a 
firearm verified by an employee of a school district); (2) brandishing a knife at another 
person; (3) unlawfully selling a controlled substance; and (4) committing or attempting to 
commit a sexual assault as defined in subdivision (n) of Section 48900 or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in subsection (n) of Section 48900.  

This policy will apply to students in grades 9-12. Hereafter, all students who possess and/or commit 
the actions listed under the Zero Tolerance Policy are immediately suspended and recommended 
for expulsion, unless the particular circumstances of the case show that expulsion is 
inappropriate.  No exceptions are made in the case of possession of a loaded or unloaded firearm.  

Enforcement of Discipline  

A pupil may not be suspended or expelled from the program, for any of the acts enumerated unless 
that act is related to SOUL School academia, activities and/or attendance under the jurisdiction of 
the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission.  A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts 
which are enumerated in the Education Code and are related to school academics, activities, or 
attendance that occur anytime, including but not limited to, any of the following: while on school 
grounds, while going to or coming from school, during the lunch period (whether on or off the 
campus), during, or while going to or coming from a school sponsored activity.  

The principal or designee takes appropriate action to eliminate possession, use, or sale of alcohol 
and other drugs and related paraphernalia on school grounds, at school events, or in any situation 
in which the school is responsible for the conduct and wellbeing of students.  Student possession, 
sales, and/or use of drugs or alcohol, and the results thereof, are subject to disciplinary procedure 
that results in suspension and/or expulsion.  

Upon recommendation by the Guidance Dean, the Principal will pursue the student’s expulsion 
and/or permanent removal from the school. A student may be expelled for continual or serious 
misconduct (violation of Zero Tolerance Policy outlined in the SOUL parent/student handbook and 
consistent with California Education Code, § 48900).  A student can be expelled for a serious 
offense, or for a series of infractions detrimental to the order of the school.    



 

97 
 

All acts of violence committed and instances of possession of weapons are recorded per pupil, on 
their record. In every case, students who violate applicable Education and Penal Codes referenced 
by this policy are referred to the appropriate law enforcement authorities. Parents/guardians 
acknowledge receipt of the Zero Tolerance Letter of Notification by their signature.  

Suspension Procedure 

Suspensions shall be initiated according to the following procedures:  

1. Conference 

Suspension shall be preceded, if possible, by a conference conducted by the Principal or designee 
with the student and the student’s parent/guardian and, whenever practical, the teacher, supervisor 
or Charter School employee who referred the student to the Principal or designee.  

The conference may be omitted if the Principal or designee determines that an emergency situation 
exists. An “emergency situation” involves a clear and present danger to the lives, safety or health 
of students or Charter School personnel. If a student is suspended without this conference, both 
the parent/guardian and student shall be notified of the student’s right to return to school for the 
purpose of a conference.  

At the conference, the student shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary action and the 
evidence against the student and shall be given the opportunity to present their version and 
evidence in their defense, in accordance with Education Code Section 47605(c)(5)(J)(i). This 
conference shall be held within two (2) school days, unless the student waives this right or is 
physically unable to attend for any reason including, but not limited to, incarceration or 
hospitalization. No penalties may be imposed on a student for failure of the student’s parent or 
guardian to attend a conference with Charter School officials. Reinstatement of the suspended 
student shall not be contingent upon attendance by the student’s parent/guardian at the 
conference.  

2. Notice to Parents/Guardians 

At the time of the suspension, an administrator or designee shall make a reasonable effort to 
contact the parent/guardian by telephone or in person. Whenever a student is suspended, the 
parent/guardian shall be notified in writing of the suspension and the date of return following 
suspension. This notice shall state the specific offense(s) committed by the student as well as the 
date the student may return to school following the suspension. In addition, the notice may also 
state the time when the student may return to school. If Charter School officials wish to ask the 
parent/guardian to confer regarding matters pertinent to the suspension, the notice may request 
that the parent/guardian respond to such requests without delay.  

3. Suspension Time Limits/Recommendation for Expulsion 

Suspensions, when not including a recommendation for expulsion, shall not exceed five (5)  
consecutive school days per suspension. Upon a recommendation of expulsion by the Principal or 
designee, the student and the student’s parent/guardian or representative will be invited to a 
conference to determine if the suspension for the student should be extended pending an expulsion 
hearing. In such instances when the Charter School has determined a suspension period shall be 
extended, such extension shall be made only after a conference is held with the student or the 



 

98 
 

student’s parent/guardian, unless the student and the student’s parent/guardian fail to attend the 
conference. 

This determination will be made by the Principal or designee upon either of the following: 1) the 
student’s presence will be disruptive to the education process; or 2) the student poses a threat or 
danger to others. Upon either determination, the student’s suspension will be extended pending 
the results of an expulsion hearing.  

Authority to Expel  

As required by Education Code Section 47605(c)(5)(J)(ii), students recommended for expulsion 
are entitled to a hearing adjudicated by a neutral officer to determine whether the student should 
be expelled. The procedures herein provide for such a hearing and the notice of said hearing, as 
required by law.  

A student may be expelled either by the neutral and impartial Charter School Board of Directors 
following a hearing before it or by the Charter School Board of Directors upon the recommendation 
of a neutral and impartial Administrative Panel, to be assigned by the Board of Directors as needed. 
The Administrative Panel shall consist of at least three (3) members who are certificated and 
neither a teacher of the student nor a member of the Charter School Board of Directors. Each entity 
shall be presided over by a designated neutral hearing chairperson. The Administrative Panel may 
recommend expulsion of any student found to have committed an expellable offense, and the 
Board of Directors shall make the final determination.  

Expulsion Procedures  

Students recommended for expulsion are entitled to a hearing to determine whether the student 
should be expelled. Unless postponed for good cause, the hearing shall be held within thirty (30) 
school days after the Principal or designee determines that the student has committed an 
expellable offense and recommends the student for expulsion.  

In the event an Administrative Panel hears the case, it will make a recommendation to the Board 
for a final decision whether to expel. The hearing shall be held in closed session (complying with 
all student confidentiality rules under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (“FERPA”)) 
unless the student makes a written request for a public hearing in open session three (3) days prior 
to the date of the scheduled hearing.  

Written notice of the hearing shall be forwarded to the student and the student’s parent/guardian 
at least ten (10) calendar days before the date of the hearing. Upon mailing the notice, it shall be 
deemed served upon the student. The notice shall include:  

1. The date and place of the expulsion hearing; 
2. A statement of the specific facts, charges and offenses upon which the proposed expulsion 

is based; 
3. A copy of the Charter School’s disciplinary rules which relate to the alleged violation; 
4. Notification of the student’s or parent/guardian’s obligation to provide information about the 

student’s status at the Charter School to any other school district or school to which the 
student seeks enrollment; 

5. The opportunity for the student and/or the student’s parent/guardian to appear in person or 
to employ and be represented by counsel or a non-attorney advisor; 



 

99 
 

6. The right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the hearing; 
7. The opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify at the hearing; 
1. The opportunity to question all evidence presented and to present oral and documentary 

evidence on the student’s behalf including witnesses.  

Services During Suspension   

Students suspended for more than ten (10) school days in a school year continue to receive 
services so as to enable the student to:  

• Continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another 
setting.  

• To make progress toward the goals set out in the child's IEP, and receive a 
functional behavioral assessment or functional analysis.  

• Receive behavioral intervention services and modifications that are designed to 
address the behavior violation so that it does not recur. These services may be 
provided on an interim basis in an alternative, educational setting.   

 

Procedural Safeguards/Manifestation Determination   

Within ten (10) school days of a recommendation for expulsion or any decision to change the 
placement of a child with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, SOUL 
staff, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP Team reviews all relevant information in the 
student's file, including the child's IEP, any teacher observations, and any relevant information 
provided by the parents to determine:   

a)  If the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial relationship to the 
child's disability.   

b)   If the conduct in question was the direct result of the local educational agency's failure to 
implement the IEP.   

If the Charter School, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP Team determine that either of 
the above is applicable for the child, the conduct is determined to be a manifestation of the child's 
disability.   

If the Charter School, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP Team make the determination 
that the conduct was a manifestation of the child's disability, the IEP Team does the following:   

a)  Conducts a functional behavioral assessment or a functional analysis assessment, and 
implements a behavioral intervention plan for said child, provided that the Charter School 
had not conducted such an assessment prior to the behavior that resulted in a change of 
placement;   

b) Reviews the child’s behavioral intervention plan if the child already has such a plan (or 
develop one if necessary) and discuss what, if any, modifications would be necessary to 
address the behavior.  

c)  Returns the child to the placement from which the child was removed, unless the parent 
and the Charter School agree to a change of placement as part of the modification of the 
behavioral intervention plan.   



 

100 
 

If the Charter School, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP team determine that the 
behavior was not a manifestation of the student’s disability and that the conduct in question was 
not a result of the failure to implement the IEP, then the Charter School may apply the relevant 
disciplinary procedures to children with disabilities in the same manner and for the same duration 
as the procedures would be applied to students without disabilities.  

Disciplinary Records   

The Charter School maintains records of all student suspensions at the Charter School.    

Expelled Pupils   

Pupils who are expelled for misconduct or violation of the California Education Code are 
responsible for seeking alternative education programs including, but not limited to, programs 
within the County or their school district of residence. SOUL staff work cooperatively with 
parents/guardians as requested by parents/guardians or by the school district of residence to 
assist with locating alternative placement.  

Admission/Readmission Previously Expelled Student   

The decision to readmit a pupil or to admit a previously expelled pupil from another school district 
or charter school is up to the sole discretion of the SOUL administrative staff as to whether the 
pupil poses a threat to others or is disruptive to the school environment.  

SOUL’s discipline policies and procedures are reviewed annually and, when necessary, modified 
to reflect changes in California Education Code, EOC Board Policy and charter law. SOUL 
recognizes the need for increased flexibility in dealing with safety issues, as well as due process 
protections for students identified with special needs.  Special education records are used, in 
addition to discipline records, in making final decisions in regards to disciplinary action.  The rights 
of students with disabilities will be upheld according to the federal and state rules and regulations 
that govern services to students with disabilities.  

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

101 
 

Element K: Staff Retirement System 

 “The manner by which staff members of the charter schools will be covered by the State Teachers’ 
Retirement System, the Public Employees’ Retirement System, or federal social 
security.”  Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(K).  

All certificated and classified SOUL school staff are employees of Fresno EOC and are eligible for 
Fresno EOC benefits on the same basis as other Fresno EOC employees. Specifically, the Human 
Resources Department of Fresno EOC is responsible for the oversight of all coverage and 
payments, including Federal Social Security and an employer-supported pension plan. 

 
 

PURPOSE: To provide eligible employees with pension benefits in addition to basic social 
security benefits. 

 
POLICY: It is the policy of Fresno EOC to provide a defined contribution pension plan funded 
by contributions made by Fresno EOC and voluntary contributions from employees. All 
benefits provided in the pension plan are described in the plan document which is available 
for examination in the Human Resources Office. This document is available for examination 
by any plan participant or beneficiary. 

 
REFERENCE: Pension Plan of Fresno EOC as amended; Internal Revenue Code § 415; 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974; 1991 Omnibus Bill. 

 
PROCEDURES: 

 
I. CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
On December 30, 1980, the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission adopted a defined 
contribution plan. The benefits provided by the Plan are funded by contributions made by 
Fresno EOC plus the income derived from the investment of such contributions. Fresno EOC 
contributes an amount equal to five percent (5%) of each employee's compensation during the 
Plan year. Employees may, but are not required to, make voluntary contributions to the Plan 
in an amount not to exceed ten percent (10%) of their compensation during the Plan year. All 
amounts contributed may not exceed the limitations set forth in Section 415 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. 

 
Accrued benefits derived from contributions made by Fresno EOC are immediately vested and 
non-forfeitable at all times. Employee accounts will be increased by investment earnings and 
decreased by any investment losses. 

 
 
 

FRESNO EOC POLICY 3050 PENSION PLAN 



 

102 
 

II. ELIGIBILITY 
 

Employees become eligible to participate in the Pension Plan after they have completed two 
(2) years of service without an intervening break in service and have attained twenty-one (21) 
years of age. For purposes of determining eligibility for participation in the Plan, a “year of 
service” shall mean a consecutive twelve (12) month period commencing on the date on which 
the employee is employed and during which the employee completes not less than one 
thousand (1,000) hours of service. 

 
III. ENROLLMENT IN THE PLAN 

 
Employees who are eligible will be notified of their eligibility and will automatically be enrolled 
in the Plan. At this time employees may sign up to have voluntary contributions made to the 
Plan. Employees are required to complete a Beneficiary Designation form. 

 
IV. DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS 

 
An employee may request distribution of funds within thirty (30) days (or ninety (90) days after 
the end of the plan year to receive income earned for the previous year) when either of the 
following events occur: (1) retirement, (2) termination of employment, or (3) permanent and 
total disability. 

 
Terminating employees may elect to stay in the plan if their benefits are in excess of $3,500, 
or they may elect to have a rollover made into a qualified plan which will accept a rollover. 

 
V. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

 
 Retired participants age sixty-five (65) or older may elect to receive a monthly, quarterly, or 
annual installment. Distribution of benefits must commence no later than April 1 of the calendar 
year following the calendar year in which a participant attains age seventy and one-half (70½). 

 
VI. AMENDMENTS/TERMINATION OF THE PLAN 

 
Fresno EOC reserves the right to amend the Pension Plan. No Plan amendment can reduce a 
participant's interest in the vested account balance, nor divert any portion of Plan assets to any 
purpose other than the payment of retirement benefits or defraying reasonable trust expenses. 
The Board of Commissioners of Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission has the authority 
to terminate the Plan by appropriate resolution and amendment. In the event of a Plan 
termination, a participant's interest in the Plan remains one hundred percent (100%) vested and 
non-forfeitable, and the participant's interest will be distributed as if the participant had terminated 
employment prior to retirement. 

 
  



 

103 
 

Element L: Attendance Alternatives 

“The public school attendance alternatives for pupils residing within the school district that who 
choose not to attend charter schools.”  Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(L).  

Requiring students to attend a charter school is prohibited by State law; therefore, enrollment in 
the School of Unlimited Learning is voluntary.   

The public school attendance alternatives for pupils not choosing to participate in the charter school 
are:  

• The nearest district public school.  
• Other public schools within the district through intra-district transfer.  
• Other public schools outside the district through inter-district transfer.  

Students have no right to admission in a particular school of a local education agency as a 
consequence of enrollment in the School of Unlimited Learning, except to the extent that such a 
right is extended by the local education agency. 

  



 

104 
 

Element M: Rights of Employees 

“A description of Tthe rights of any employee of the school district upon leaving the employment 
of the school district to work in a charter school, and of any rights of return to the school district 

after employment at a charter school”. California Education Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(M).  

The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission is solely responsible for the hiring of all charter 
school staff, the setting of qualifications consistent with this charter, and the establishment and 
administration of employee compensation scales and benefits.  Any Fresno Unified employee who 
leaves employment to work at the charter school will not have return rights to Fresno Unified School 
District.  

Element N: Dispute Resolution 

“The procedures to be followed by the charter school and the entity granting the charterchartering 
authority to resolve disputes relating to the provisions of the charter.” California Education Code 
Section 47605(bc)(5)(N)   

If a conflict or dispute arises out of or relating to this charter and if the dispute cannot be settled 
through direct discussions, the parties agree to first endeavor to settle the dispute in an amicable 
manner by mediation. In the event that agreement cannot be reached through mediation, the matter 
is settled by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association and judgment on the 
award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The 
mediation filing fee and expenses of the American Arbitration Association and the mediator be 
borne equally or as otherwise agreed by the parties.  

Fresno EOC/SOUL and the District are encouraged to attempt to resolve any disputes amicably 
and reasonably without resorting to formal procedures. All Charter School disputes other than 
disputes between the District and Fresno EOC/SOUL are handled in accordance with the Charter 
School’s own internal policies.   

In the event of a dispute between Fresno EOC/SOUL and the District, Fresno EOC/SOUL staff, 
employees and Board members of the Fresno EOC and the District agree to first frame the issue 
in written format (“dispute statement”) and to refer the issue to the District Superintendent and 
Chief Executive Officer of Fresno EOC or an appointed designee. In the event that the District 
Board of Trustees believes that the dispute relates to an issue that could lead to revocation of the 
charter in accordance with Education Code Section 47607, Fresno EOC/SOUL requests that this 
is noted in the written dispute statement, although it recognizes it cannot legally bind the District to 
do so. However, participation in the dispute resolution procedures outlined in this section are not 
interpreted to impede or act as a pre-requisite to the District’s ability to proceed with revocation in 
accordance with Education Code Section 47607. It is expressly acknowledged that the District’s 
rights pursuant to Education Code Section 47607 supersede this dispute resolution process.   



 

105 
 

Fresno EOC and Fresno Unified School District designees shall informally meet and confer in a 
timely fashion to attempt to resolve the dispute, not later than 5 business days from receipt of the 
dispute statement. In the event that this informal meeting fails to resolve the dispute, both parties 
will identify two Board members from their respective boards who shall jointly meet with the 
Superintendent and the Executive Director of Fresno EOC and attempt to resolve the dispute within 
15 business days from receipt of the dispute statement.   

If this joint meeting fails to resolve the dispute, Fresno EOC and Fresno Unified School District 
designees shall meet to jointly identify a neutral third party mediator to engage the Parties in a 
mediation session designed to facilitate resolution of the dispute. The format of the mediation 
session shall be developed jointly by Fresno EOC and Fresno Unified School District designees. 
Mediation shall be held within sixty business days of receipt of the dispute statement. The costs of 
the mediator shall be split equally between the District and Fresno EOC/SOUL. If mediation does 
not resolve the dispute either party may pursue any other remedy available under the law. All 
timelines and procedures in this section may be revised upon mutual written agreement of the 
District and the Fresno EOC/SOUL.  

  



 

106 
 

Element O: School Closure Procedures 

 “A description of Tthe procedures to be used if the charter school closes. The procedures shall 
ensure a final audit of the charter school to determine the disposition of all assets and liabilities of 
the charter school, including plans for disposing of any net assets and for the maintenance and 
transfer of pupil records. If the charter school leases or rents its facility from a related party or 
subsidiary, as identified in its audited financial statements according to generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States, or owns its facility, the charter school shall include a 
statement describing its plans for the use of the facility in its final audit.” California . Education 
Code Section 47605(cb)(5)(PO)   

The following are closing procedures that abide by California Education Code section 
47605(cb)(5)(PO), should the School of Unlimited Learning close for any reason. The decision to 
close the School of Unlimited Learning either by the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission’s 
(hereafter referred to as Fresno EOC) Board of Commissioners or by the Fresno Unified School 
District Board will be documented in a closure action. The closure action shall be deemed to have 
been automatically made when any of the following occurs: the charter is revoked or not renewed 
by the FUSD Board of Education; Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners votes to close the School 
of Unlimited Learning; or the charter lapses.  In the event of a closure, the following steps are to 
be implemented:  

1. The School of Unlimited Learning and the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners 
shall cooperate and assist the District in all matters pertaining to the closure of the 
School of Unlimited Learning, including, without limitation, working with the District 
in creating and implementing a Charter School Closure Agreement, attending 
meetings with the District, Fresno County Office of Education, and/or the State 
Department of Education, preparing a schedule of closing tasks with dates, 
obtaining and providing additional information and documentation, and interpreting 
and explaining any ambiguous records or information.  

2. Closure of the School of Unlimited Learning will be documented by official action of 
the Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners or the Fresno Unified School District 
Board. The action will identify the reason for closure. The official action will also 
identify an entity and person or persons responsible for closure-related activities.  

3. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning  Board of Commissioners will promptly 
issue written notification by registered mail to parents/guardians and students of the 
Charter School, the District, the Fresno County Office of Education, and the 
California Department of Education of the closure as well as the effective date of 
the closure. This notice will also include the name(s) of and contact information for 
the person(s) to whom reasonable inquiries may be made regarding the closure; the 
pupils’ school districts of residence; and the manner in which parents/guardians may 
obtain copies of pupil records, including specific information on completed courses 
and credits that meet graduation requirements.  



 

107 
 

4. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will ensure that the written notification to 
the parents/guardians and students of the Charter School of the closure provides 
information to assist parents/guardians and students in locating suitable alternative 
programs. The written notification will also include information on assistance in 
transferring each student to another appropriate school, and a process for the 
transfer of all student records.   

5. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will also develop a list of pupils in each 
grade level and the classes they have completed, together with information on the 
pupils’ districts of residence, which they will provide to the entity responsible for 
closure-related activities.   

6. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning shall provide written notification to FUSD 
of the list of returning students and their home schools, to be made promptly upon 
the closure action.  

7. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning shall allow the District access, inspection 
and copying of all school records, including school financial and attendance records, 
upon written request by FUSD.   

8. As applicable, Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will provide 
parents/guardians, students and the District with copies of all appropriate student 
records, including grade reports, discipline records, immunization records, 
completed coursework, and credits that meet graduation requirements, and will 
otherwise assist students in transferring to their next school. The process for 
transferring student records to the receiving schools shall be in accordance with 
FUSD procedures for students moving from one school to another.  Fresno 
EOC/School of Unlimited Learning shall transfer student records to the receiving 
schools, within seven calendar days from the determination of an action to close or 
when parents notify the School of Unlimited Learning of the receiving school. 
Records of students who have not notified the School of Unlimited Learning in 
writing of a receiving school will be sent to the student’s school of residence. All 
transfers of student records will be made in compliance with the Family Educational 
Rights and Privacy Act (“FERPA”) 20 U.S.C. § 1232g. Fresno EOC/School of 
Unlimited Learning will ask the District to store and maintain original records of 
Charter School students. All records of the School of Unlimited Learning shall be 
transferred to the District upon the School of Unlimited Learning’s closure.  If the 
District will not or cannot store the records, Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited 
Learning shall work with the County Office of Education to determine a suitable 
alternate location for storage.   

9. All state assessment results and special education records will be transferred to and 
maintained by the entity responsible for closure-related activities in accordance with 
applicable law.  



 

108 
 

10. As soon as reasonably practical, Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will 
prepare final financial records. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will also 
have an independent audit completed within six months after the School of 
Unlimited Learning’s closure. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will pay for 
the final audit. This final audit can also function as the annual audit.  The audit will 
be prepared by a qualified Certified Public Accountant selected by Fresno EOC. 
The audit will be conducted using Accounting Principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. The audit will be provided to the District promptly upon its 
completion. The final audit will include an accounting of all financial assets, including 
cash and accounts receivable and an inventory of property, equipment, and other 
items of material value, an accounting of the liabilities, including accounts payable 
and any reduction in apportionments as a result of audit findings or other 
investigations, loans, and unpaid staff compensation, and an assessment of the 
disposition of any restricted funds received by or due to Fresno EOC/School of 
Unlimited Learning. To the extent the Charter School leases or rents its facility from 
a related party or subsidiary, as identified in its audited financial statements 
according to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or owns 
its facility, the Charter School shall include a statement describing its plans for the 
use of the facility in its final audit.  

11. Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will complete and file any annual reports 
required pursuant to Education Code section 47604.33.  

12. On closure of the charter school, Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning shall 
dispose of any and all net assets of the School of Unlimited Learning remaining after 
all liabilities of the charter school have been paid or otherwise addressed in 
accordance with the provisions of this section. The disposition of the School of 
Unlimited Learning’s assets shall include, but not be limited to, the following 
dispositions:  

• All assets of the School, including but not limited to leaseholds, personal 
property, intellectual property and all ADA apportionments and other 
revenues generated by students attending the School, remain the sole 
property of the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission and shall be 
distributed in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws upon 
the dissolution of the non-profit public benefit corporation.   

• Any liability or debt incurred by the School of Unlimited Learning will be 
the responsibility of the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission and 
not the District. The School of Unlimited Learning understands and 
acknowledges that the Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning will 
cover the outstanding debts or liabilities of the Charter School. Fresno 
EOC/School of Unlimited Learning understands and acknowledges that 
only unrestricted funds will be used to pay creditors.  



 

109 
 

•  Any assets originally acquired from the District or District property will be 
promptly returned upon the School of Unlimited Learning’s closure to the 
District.   

• The return of any grant funds and restricted categorical funds to their 
source in accordance with the terms of the grant or state and federal law, 
as appropriate, which may include submission of final expenditure reports 
for entitlement grants and the filing of any required Final Expenditure 
Reports and Final Performance Reports.  

• The return of any donated materials and property in accordance with any 
conditions established when the donation of such materials or property 
was accepted.    

13. On closure, Fresno EOC/School of Unlimited Learning shall remain solely responsible 
for all liabilities arising from the operation of the Charter School. The District shall not 
assume, in any way, responsibility or liability for any debts, obligations, or liabilities of 
the School of Unlimited Learning, including, without limitation, liability for any and all 
claims, damages, losses, causes of action and demands, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and costs, liability for claims of any employees for unpaid wages or 
other damages, liability for “start-up” loans received by the School of Unlimited 
Learning, “bridge” loans received by the School of Unlimited Learning, liability for 
personal injury or property damage, or liability to any vendors, lessors, creditors, or 
parents.  

14. As the School is operated by a non-profit public benefit corporation, should the 
corporation dissolve with the closure of the School, the Board will follow the procedures 
in the non-profit public benefit corporations Bylaws and as set forth in the California 
Corporations Code for the dissolution of a non-profit public benefit corporation and file 
all necessary filings with the appropriate state and federal agencies.  

15. For six calendar months from the closure action or until budget allows, whichever 
comes first, sufficient staff as deemed appropriate by Fresno EOC Board of 
Commissioners will retain employment to take care of all necessary tasks and 
procedures required for a smooth closing of the school and student transfers.  

This Element O shall survive the revocation, expiration, termination, or cancellation of this 
charter or any other act or event that would end the School of Unlimited Learning’s right to 
operate as a charter school or cause the Charter School to cease operation. Fresno 
EOC/School of Unlimited Learning and District agree that, due to the nature of the property 
and activities that are the subject of this petition, the District and public shall suffer 
irreparable harm should charter school breach any obligation under this Element O.  The 
District, therefore, shall have the right to seek equitable relief to enforce any right arising 
under this Element O or any provision of this Element O or to prevent or cure any breach 
of any obligation undertaken, without in any way prejudicing any other legal remedy 
available to the District. Such legal relief shall include, without limitation, the seeking of a 



 

110 
 

temporary or permanent injunction, restraining order, or order for specific performance, and 
may be sought in any appropriate court.  

  



 

111 
 

V.  ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 
 

 
Financial Planning, Reporting, and Accountability   
 
Governing Law: The petitioner or petitioners also shall also be required to provide financial 
statements that include a proposed first-year operational budget, including startup costs, and 
cash-flow and financial projections for the first three years of operation.  Education Code 
Section 47605.6(h) 
 
Attached, as Appendix A, please find a detailed five-year budget that includes revenue 
and expense projections, plus monthly cash-flows for one year, and an explanation of the 
assumptions used in preparing the budget. These documents are based upon the best 
data available to the Petitioners at this time. 
 
The Charter School shall provide reports to the authorizer as follows, and may provide 
additional fiscal reports as requested by the authorizer: 
 

• By July 1, an annual update requireda local control and accountability plan pursuant to 
Education Code Section 47606.5. 

• By December 15, an interim financial report for the current fiscal year reflecting 
changes through October 31. Additionally, on December 15, a copy of the 
Charter School's annual, independent financial audit report for the preceding 
fiscal year shall be delivered to the chartering authorityzer, County, State 
Controller, California Department of Education and County Superintendent of 
Schools. 

• By March 15, a second interim financial report for the current fiscal year reflecting 
changes through January 31. 

• By September 15, a final unaudited report for the full prior year. The report submitted 
to the authorizer shall include an annual statement of all the Charter School's 
receipts and expenditures for the preceding fiscal year. 

 
Impact StatementOperation and Civil Liability Effects of Charter School/Facilities  
 
Governing Law: The county board of education shall require that the petitioner or petitioners 
provide information regarding Ppotential civil liability effects, if any, upon the charter school, any 
school district where the charter school may operate and upon the county board of 
educationschool district.  Education Code Section 47605.6(h) 
 
The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) is operated by Fresno Economic Opportunities 
Commission (Fresno EOC) a large non-profit community action program within the meaning 
of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and California Revenue and Taxation Code 
Section 23701(d). 
 



 

112 
 

Pursuant to Education Code Section 47604(dc), an entity that grants a charter to a charter 
school operated by or as a non-profit public benefit corporation shall not be liable for the debts 
or obligations of the charter school or for claims arising from the performance of acts, errors 
or omissions by the charter school if the authority has complied with all oversight 
responsibilities required by law. Fresno EOC/ SOUL shall work diligently to assist the 
authorizer in meeting any and all oversight obligations under the law, including monthly 
meetings, reporting, or other authorizer-requested protocol to ensure the authorizer shall not 
be liable for the operation of the Charter School.  
 
Further, the Charter School and the authorizer may enter into a memorandum of understanding, 
wherein the Charter School shall indemnify the authorizer for the actions of the Charter School 
under this charter.  
 
The bylaws of Fresno EOC/SOUL Charter School shall provide for indemnification of the 
Charter School's Board, officers, agents, and employees, and the Charter School has 
purchased general liability insurance, Board Members and Officers insurance, and fidelity 
bonding to secure against financial risks. As stated above, insurance amounts will be 
determined by the recommendation of the insurance company of the Fresno Economic 
Opportunities Commission.  
 
The Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners has instituted appropriate agencywide risk 
management practices as discussed herein, including screening of employees, 
establishing codes of conduct for students, and dispute resolution. 
 
Facilities 
 
Governing Law: “The facilities to be used by the charter school. The description of the facilities to 
be used by the charter school shall specify where the charter school intends to locate.” Education 
Code Section 47605(h) 
 
The School of Unlimited Learning is located in at 2336 Calaveras St.  This facility is 
leased from the Fresno EOC Sanctuary and includes approximately 15,000 square feet 
of indoor space. There are six classrooms, seven offices, one cafeteria and a 
theater/auditorium. SOUL’s lease is renewed annually. 
 
 
Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) 
 
As outlined in Element A, “Serving Students with Disabilities” SOUL is compliant with all applicable 
state and federal laws in providing services to students with disabilities, including Section 504 of 
the Rehabilitation Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the Individuals with Disabilities in 
Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) and all other civil rights enforced by the U.S. Department of 
Education Office of Civil Rights. Furthermore, SOUL complies with all the provisions of AB 602, 
applicable SELPA guidelines, and additional federal and state laws that apply to it pertaining 
special education students. SOUL functions as a public school of the District for purposes of 



 

113 
 

providing special education and related services pursuant to Education Code Section 47641(b). It 
complies with all state and federal laws related to the provision of special education instruction and 
services and all SELPA policies and procedures, and utilize appropriate SELPA forms. SOUL is 
solely responsible for its compliance with Section 504 and the ADA. The SOUL campus is 
accessible for all students with disabilities. Students with disabilities who enroll in SOUL shall be 
provided services as outlined in the MOU with the Fresno Unified School District. As its own LEA 
and member of Fresno Unified’s SELPA, SOUL works in cooperation with all local and state 
agencies to ensure that a free and appropriate education is provided to all students with exceptional 
needs.    
 
Per federal law, all students with disabilities are fully integrated into the programs of 
SOUL, with the necessary materials, mandated services, and equipment to support 
their learning. SOUL meets all the requirements mandated within a student's Individual 
Education Plan (IEP). SOUL includes all special needs students with non-disabled 
peers to the maximum extent appropriate according to their IEPs. 
 
Administrative Services 
 
Governing Law: The county board of education shall require that the petitioner or petitioners 
provide information regarding tThe manner in which administrative services of the charter 
school are to be provided. Education Code Section 47605.6(h) 
 
SOUL receives all of its administrative services including, but not limited to, financial 
management, human resources, payroll, etc., through Fresno County Economic Opportunities 
Commissions doing business as Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission. 
 
Insurance  
 
As a program of Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission, SOUL has general liability, 
workers compensation, excess liability, and other necessary insurance of the types and in the 
amounts required for a county-wide agency of similar purpose and circumstance. 
 
Coverage amounts are based on recommendations provided by the Agency’s third party insurance 
broker which are then approved by the CEO and Board of Commissioners. 
  
 
  



 

114 
 

 
VI: Required Appendices: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission– Board Resolution    Page 1 of 1 
 

FRESNO ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES COMMISSION 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING SUBMISSION OF MATERIAL REVISION 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners (“Board”) of Fresno Economic Opportunities 
Commission (“Fresno EOC”) is the nonprofit public benefit corporation that operates School of 
Unlimited Learning (the “Charter School”) a charter school authorized by the Fresno Unified 
School District (the “District”); 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has reviewed a request for material revision (“Material Revision”) 

and supporting documentation to clarify the Charter School’s operation of a 100% independent 
study-based program and to remove text from the Charter School’s charter regarding the 
operation of a classroom-based program; 

 
WHEREAS, the Board finds that the Material revision is in furtherance of Fresno EOC’s 

educational and charitable purposes, and best reflects the interests and needs of the 
communities Fresno EOC and the Charter School serves; 

 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board authorizes submission of the request 

for Material Revision and supporting documentation the District; 
 
RESOLVED, FURTHER, that the Board identifies the Lead Petitioner for the Material 

Revision to be Emilia Reyes, Chief Executive Officer of Fresno EOC; and 
 
RESOLVED, FURTHER, that the Board authorizes Ms. Reyes to sign the Material 

Revision request, affirmations and declaration, certificate of completeness, and any other 
documents related to the Material Revision, and to otherwise act on behalf of Fresno EOC and 
the Charter School with respect to the material revision process, including working with the 
District on the details of the submission, and authorizes Ms. Reyes to amend the Material 
Revision based on the best interests of Fresno EOC and the Charter School.  
 
AYES: 
 
NAYS: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 
 
 I certify that I am the duly elected and acting secretary Fresno EOC, a California nonprofit 
public benefit corporation, and that the foregoing resolutions were adopted by the Board of 
Directors on ______ [insert day], [year]. 
 
 Executed on ________ [insert day], [year] at Fresno, California. 
          
 ________________________________________ 
 [insert name], Board Secretary 
    



 

School of Unlimited Learning   
Certification of Complete Charter Petition 

 
CERTIFICATION OF COMPLETE CHARTER PETITION  

 
Education Code Section 47605(b) 
 

A request for material revision of a charter petition is deemed received by the governing 
board of the school district on the day the petitioner submits the proposed revised petition to the 
district office, along with a signed certification that the petitioner deems the petition to be 
complete.  The following certification is submitted in compliance with Education Code Section 
47605(b). 

 
No later than 60 days after receiving a petition, the governing board of the school district 

shall hold a public hearing on the provisions of the charter, at which time the governing board of 
the school district shall consider the level of support for the petition by teachers employed by the 
school district, other employees of the school district, and parents. Following review of the 
petition and the public hearing, the governing board of the school district shall either grant or 
deny the charter within 90 days of receipt of the petition, provided, however, that the date may 
be extended by an additional 30 days if both parties agree to the extension. 
 

• Date of submission:  
• Deadline for public hearing:  
• Deadline for granting or denying the charter petition:  

 
 

Certification 
 

By signing below, I certify as follows:  
 

1. That I am the authorized representative of School of Unlimited Learning, and that I am 
competent and qualified to certify to the facts herein;   

2. That, as the authorized representative, I have personal knowledge of the facts forming the 
basis of this certification;  

 
3. That I make this certification for purposes of Education Code Section 47605(b) only; and   
4. That I deem the charter petition to be complete.  

 
 
 

Name: Emilia Reyes, Chief Executive Officer, Fresno Economic 
Opportunities Commission 
 
Signature:  
 
Date:    
 
School Name: School of Unlimited Learning 

 



 

192 
 

 
 

 
 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

  
Recommended Action  
  
Staff would like to share an update for 23-24 LCAP funds. 
       
Background  
 
SOUL has provided the CA Department of Education a plan to spend LCAP funds 
for the 2023-2024 school year.  Each school in California had the opportunity to 
apply for special funds related to address learning loss amongst students.  This 
opportunity is part of the annual Local Control and Accountability Plan which is 
required of every school in California annually. SOUL was granted a total of 
$3,588,263 for the 2023-2024 school year.   
 

Fiscal Impact  

None 

Conclusion  

SOUL has plans to expend these funds by the deadline of September 30, 2025. 
 
 
 

Date:  February 6, 2024 Program: School of Unlimited Learning  

Agenda Item #:  9 Director:  Susan Lopez    
Subject:  Local Control and Accountability 
Plan (LCAP) funds update 

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini  



193



194



195



196



197



 

198 
 

 
 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

  
Recommended Action  
  
Staff would like to share an update for the CA Arts & Music grant.  
       
Background  
 
Funds are available for encumbrance through the 2025-26 fiscal year. Local 
educational agencies are encouraged to proportionally use resources to support 
arts and music education programs. For purposes of this program, standards-
aligned instructional materials include, but is not limited to books for school and 
classroom libraries. 
 

Fiscal Impact  

None 

Conclusion  

SOUL’s update of the CA Arts & Music grant program gives information on budget 
amounts, funds encumbered, and future plans for funds. 

 
 
 
 

Date:  February 6, 2024 Program: School of Unlimited Learning  

Agenda Item #:  10 Director:  Susan Lopez    
Subject: Arts & Music grant update Officer:    Jack Lazzarini  



Arts Music Grant Update
2/6/24

Revenue Unrestricted Restricted Total

55,644.00$     -$                           -$              55,644.00$     

Expenses
Guitar Center keyboard foot pedals (202.59)$         
Guitar Center microphone wires (141.90)$         
EdJoin recruitment (500.00)$         
Bright Thinker curriculum (600.00)$         
Amazon classroom supplies (79.98)$           
Bobbi Sanchez painting class (300.00)$         
Amazon paint supplies (63.04)$           

53,756.49$     

Projected expenses 2023-2024
music curriculum 250.00$       
music equipment 1,200.00$    
art teacher $10,000.00
art supplies 1,000.00$    
art curriculum 500.00$       

$12,950.00

All expenses are to be spent by 25-26 school year.

199



 

200 
 

 
 

 
 
 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

  
Recommended Action  
  
Staff would like to share SOUL’s Principal Report for the month of November.   
       
Background  
  
SOUL enrollment fluctuates throughout the year.  Data is gathered once a month and 
presented to the Governing Council at each meeting. 
 
Fiscal Impact  

None 

Conclusion  

SOUL’s Principal Report reflects student date for the month of January, 2024. 
 

 

Date:  February 6, 2024 Program: School of Unlimited Learning  

Agenda Item #:   Director:  Susan Lopez    
Subject: SOUL Principal’s report Officer:    Jack Lazzarini  



201 
 

S C H O O L  O F  U N L I M I T E D  L E A R N I N G  
P R I N C I P A L ’ S  R E P O R T  -  J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 4  

C L A S S R O O M  B A S E D  T O T A L :  1 5   
 

 

 

  

2

4

5

4

0 2 4 6

9TH GRADE

10TH GRADE

11TH GRADE

12TH GRADE 

Classroom Based Students 
by Grade

4

11

BLACK OR AFRICAN AMERICAN HISPANIC OR LATINO 

Classroom Based Students by Race 

11

4

0 5 10 15

HISPANIC 

NON-HISPANIC 

Classroom Based
Students by Ethnicity 

14

3

SOCIO-ECONOMICALLY 
DISADVANTAGED

SPECIAL EDUCATION 

0 5 10 15

Classroom Based Reported Program

1

13

1

FOSTER FAMILY 
HOME OR KINSHIP 

PLACEMENT 

PERMANENT 
HOUSING 

TEMPORARILY 
DOUBLED OR TRIPLED 

UP 

Classroom Based Students by Residence 

5

10

0 5 10 15

MALE 

FEMALE 

Classroom Based Students 
by Gender



202 
 

S C H O O L  O F  U N L I M I T E D  L E A R N I N G  
P R I N C I P A L ’ S  R E P O R T  -  J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 4  

I N D E P E N D E N T  S T U D I E S  T O T A L : 2 0 6   
 

96

109

1

0 50 100 150

MALE 

FEMALE 

NON-BINARY

Independent Study by 
Gender

25

42

67

72

9TH GRADE

10TH GRADE

11TH GRADE

12TH GRADE 

Independent Study Students 
by Grade 

188

18

0 50 100 150 200

SOCIO-
ECONOMICALLY 

DISADVANTAGED

SPECIAL EDUCATION 

Independent Study Students 
by Reported Programs

4

19

1

172
1

1

1

7

0 50 100 150 200

AMERICAN INDIAN OR ALASKA NATIVE

BLACK OR AFRICAN AMERICAN 

FILIPINO

HISPANIC OR LATINO 

MIDDLE EASTERN

OTHER ASIAN

OTHER PACIFIC ISLANDER

WHITE 

Independent Study Students by Race 

173

33

HISPANIC NON-HISPANIC 

Independent Study by Ethinicity

4

182

19

2

0 50 100 150 200

FOSTER FAMILY HOME OR 
KINSHIP PLACEMENT 

PERMANENT HOUSING 

HOMELESS, TEMPORARY 
SHELTER OR OTHER

UNSPECIFIED

Independent Study Students by 
Residence 


	1. February Agenda 2024  1
	2. Community Action Promise
	3.  soul gc minutes 12-5-2023
	GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING
	MINUTES


	4.  2024-2025 Safe School Plan Agenda Cover 1
	Recommended Action
	Background
	Conclusion

	5.  2024 - 2025 Safe School Plan Draft
	Fresno Unified School
	Comprehensive Safe School Plan
	(Education Code Section 32280-32288)
	At School of Unlimited Learning
	CDS Code
	10-62166-1030642
	From:  2024 TO 2025
	Board of Education
	Superintendent of Schools
	District Manager II

	CPR/AED
	FIRSTAID
	Expiration
	CPR PRECAUTIONS
	Fresno Unified School District
	Phases of a Pandemic

	PHONE TREE
	Recommendations and Assurances

	6.  SARC Agenda Cover  1
	Recommended Action
	Background
	Conclusion

	7.  22-23 SARC  1
	2022–23 School Accountability Report Card Template (Word Version)
	School Accountability Report Card Reported Using Data from the  2022–23 School Year
	About This School
	Table 1: District Contact Information (School Year 2023–24)
	Table 2: School Contact Information (School Year 2023–24)
	Table 3: School Description and Mission Statement (School Year 2023–24)
	Table 4: Student Enrollment by Grade Level (School Year 2022–23)
	Table 5: Student Enrollment by Student Group (School Year 2022–23)

	A. Conditions of Learning
	State Priority: Basic
	Table 6: Teacher Preparation and Placement (School Year 2020–21)
	Table 7: Teacher Preparation and Placement (School Year 2021–22)
	Table 8: Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments
	Table 9: Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field
	Table 10: Class Assignments
	Table 11: Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials (School Year 2023–24)
	Table 12: School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements
	Table 13: School Facility Good Repair Status
	Overall Facility Rate
	Table 14: Overall Rating

	B. Pupil Outcomes
	State Priority: Pupil Achievement
	Table 15: CAASPP Test Results in ELA and Mathematics for All Students
	Table 16: CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group
	Table 17: CAASPP Test Results in Mathematics by Student Group
	Table 18: CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students
	Table 19: CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group
	Table 20: Career Technical Education (CTE) Programs (School Year 2022–23)
	Table 21: Career Technical Education (CTE) Participation
	Table 22: Course Enrollment/Completion of University of California (UC) and/or California State University (CSU) Admission Requirements
	State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes
	Table 23: California Physical Fitness Test Results (School Year 2022–23)

	C. Engagement
	State Priority: Parental Involvement
	Table 24: Opportunities for Parental Involvement (School Year 2023–24)
	State Priority: Pupil Engagement
	Table 25: Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate)
	Table 26: Graduation Rate by Student Group (Four-Year Cohort Rate)
	Table 27: Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group
	State Priority: School Climate
	Table 28: Suspensions and Expulsions
	Table 29: Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group
	Table 30: School Safety Plan (School Year 2023–24)

	D. Other SARC Information
	Table 31: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary)
	Table 32: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary)
	Table 33: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary)
	Table 34: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary)
	Table 35: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary)
	Table 36: Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary)
	Table 37: Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor (School Year 2022–23)
	Table 38: Student Support Services Staff (School Year 2022–23)
	Table 39: Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries
	Table 40: Types of Services Funded (Fiscal Year 2022–23
	Table 41: Teacher and Administrative Salaries (Fiscal Year 2021–22)
	Table 42: Advanced Placement (AP) Courses (School Year 2022–23)
	Table 43: Professional Development




	8.  Executive Summary
	9.  Pros-Cons
	10.  Material Revision Agenda Cover  1
	Recommended Action
	Conclusion

	11.  TABLE OF CONTENTS for Revision Packet
	12.  SOUL Material Revision Cover Letter DRAFT (002)
	13.  Supportive Document  1
	14. Supportive Document  2
	15.  Parent Survey Results 2022 - 2023
	16.  Student survey results 2022-2023
	17.   SOUL 2023-2024 Simple Budget
	Sheet1

	18.  Affirmations (Material Revision) (4870-1556-7253.v1)
	AFFIRMATIONS AND DECLARATION

	19.  SOUL Material Revision 2024 (4894-0375-3520.v7) final
	CHARTER PETITION RENEWAL
	I. ASSURANCESAFFIRMATIONS AND DECLARATION

	During the past five years, SOUL’s leadership team has provided a well-defined vision and focus for increased student achievement. SOUL’s continuous program improvement plan calls for annual staff training to assist teachers in delivering a relevant, ...
	Achievements
	SOUL has been fully accredited by the Western Association of School and Colleges since 2008, with SOUL receiving the maximum six-year accreditation term in 2017.  For the past 10 years, the WASC process has provided SOUL stakeholders a model for conti...
	SOUL has also undergone a transformation with respect to curriculum development. Since 2014, SOUL has been revising its curriculum to better prepare students to meet state performance standards. Since the inception of Smarter Balanced testing, SOUL ha...
	A comprehensive review of SOUL’s Charter Goals over the past five years reveals progress has been made in some areas with respect to increased student achievement, while some deficiencies exist in other areas.  Notwithstanding increases in interventio...
	Overall, comparing SOUL’s California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress (CAASPP) results to those of traditional, comprehensive high schools and similar schools, SOUL has outperformed similar schools in most areas, while lagging behind tra...
	A detailed analysis of CAASPP data, reading and math proficiency, CAHSEE results, graduation rate, suspension, and attendance information are contained in Element B of this charter.
	A strategic, prescriptive approach is needed to address deficiencies. To reverse the downward trend in ELA and math proficiency, in Spring 2018, SOUL formalized a process to monitor mandatory prescriptions for all students in both instructional progra...
	Assessment data has been extremely useful to SOUL staff over the past five years in charting our course through continuous program improvement in alignment with our WASC Action Plan and Local Control Accountability Plan.   SOUL’s refined charter goals...
	Element A: Description of School’s Education Program
	Effective Communicators

	Critical Thinkers and Problem Solvers
	Information Processors
	Self-Directed Lifelong Learners


	Students that have an established English Learner proficiency level and updated assessments are tested each year using the California English Language Development Test (CELDT).  Tthe English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC)) wil...
	School Connectedness & Special Support Services
	Element B: Measurable Pupil Outcomes
	Table 2: Progress toward academic charter goals: 2013-2018
	Table 3: Progress toward schoolwide charter goals: 2013-2018
	For the past five years, SOUL has met or made progress toward meeting most of its charter goals. For the upcoming charter renewal cycle, the School of Unlimited Learning stakeholder groups have worked with the school’s leadership team to address perfo...

	A comprehensive review of SOUL’s Charter Goals over the past five years reveals progress has been made in some areas with respect to increased student achievement, while some deficiencies exist in other areas.  Notwithstanding increases in interventio...
	Overall, comparing SOUL’s CAASPP results to those of traditional, comprehensive high schools and similar schools, SOUL has outperformed similar schools in most areas, while lagging behind traditional schools. Increased efforts must be made to ensure t...
	A strategic, prescriptive approach is needed to address deficiencies. To reverse the downward trend in ELA and math proficiency, in Spring 2018, SOUL formalized a process to monitor mandatory prescriptions for all students in both instructional progra...
	Element C: Methods to Assess Pupil Progress Toward Outcomes

	PROCEDURES:
	II. ELIGIBILITY
	III. ENROLLMENT IN THE PLAN
	IV. DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS
	V. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
	VI. AMENDMENTS/TERMINATION OF THE PLAN
	V.  ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

	Governing Law: The petitioner or petitioners also shall also be required to provide financial statements that include a proposed first-year operational budget, including startup costs, and cash-flow and financial projections for the first three years ...
	Attached, as Appendix A, please find a detailed five-year budget that includes revenue and expense projections, plus monthly cash-flows for one year, and an explanation of the assumptions used in preparing the budget. These documents are based upon th...

	Governing Law: The county board of education shall require that the petitioner or petitioners provide information regarding Ppotential civil liability effects, if any, upon the charter school, any school district where the charter school may operate a...
	The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) is operated by Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission (Fresno EOC) a large non-profit community action program within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and California Revenue and Ta...

	Governing Law: The county board of education shall require that the petitioner or petitioners provide information regarding tThe manner in which administrative services of the charter school are to be provided. Education Code Section 47605.6(h)

	20.  Board Resolution - Submission of Material Revision (4873-4317-0453.v1)
	21.  CS Certification of Complete Petition per EC 47605(b) (4857-9317-8517.v1)
	22.  LCAP funds update  Agenda Cover (002)
	Recommended Action
	Conclusion

	23.  LCAP budget update
	24 Arts & Music Grant Agenda Cover  1
	Recommended Action
	Conclusion

	25.  Arts  Music grant update
	Sheet1

	26.  Principal Report Agenda Cover  1
	Recommended Action
	Conclusion

	27.  Principal's Report JANUARY 2024  1



